UNIVERSIDADE DO VALE DO RIO DOS SINOS - UNISINOS UNIDADE ACADÊMICA DE PESQUISA E PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO EM BIOLOGIA NÍVEL DOUTORADO

DAIANE VENDRAMIN

ECLOSÃO DE ESTÁGIOS DORMENTES DE INVERTEBRADOS AQUÁTICOS EM ÁREAS ÚMIDAS SUBTROPICAIS E DO SEMIÁRIDO BRASILEIRO E SUAS IMPLICAÇÕES PRÁTICAS NA RESTAURAÇÃO ECOLÓGICA

> São Leopoldo 2022

Daiane Vendramin

ECLOSÃO DE ESTÁGIOS DORMENTES DE INVERTEBRADOS AQUÁTICOS EM ÁREAS ÚMIDAS SUBTROPICAIS E DO SEMIÁRIDO BRASILEIRO E SUAS IMPLICAÇÕES PRÁTICAS NA RESTAURAÇÃO ECOLÓGICA

Tese apresentada como requisito para obtenção do título de Doutora em Biologia, pelo Programa de Pós-Graduação em Biologia da Universidade do Vale do Rio dos Sinos -UNISINOS Área de Concentração: Diversidade e Manejo

Area de Concentração: Diversidade e Manejo de Vida Silvestre

Orientadora: Profa. Dra. Cristina Stenert Maltchik Garcia

São Leopoldo 2022

V453e Vendramin, Daiane. Eclosão de estágios dormentes de invertebrados aquáticos em áreas úmidas subtropicais e do semiárido brasileiro e suas implicações práticas na restauração ecológica / Daiane Vendramin. – 2022. 118 f. : il. ; 30 cm.
Tese (doutorado) – Universidade do Vale do Rio dos Sinos, Programa de Pós-Graduação em Biologia, 2022. "Orientadora: Profa. Dra. Cristina Stenert Maltchik Garcia."
1. Áreas úmidas intermitentes. 2. Banco de estágios dormentes. 3. Quebra de dormência. 4. Restauração ecológica. 5. Zooplâncton. I. Título.

> Dados Internacionais de Catalogação na Publicação (CIP) (Bibliotecária: Silvana Dornelles Studzinski – CRB 10/2524)

Dedico ao Tempo!

AGRADECIMENTOS

O presente trabalho foi realizado com apoio da Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior - Brasil (CAPES).

Agradeço a todos que contribuíram com minhas idas e vindas para a UNISINOS;

A UNISINOS e ao colegiado do PPG Biologia;

Aos membros das bancas avaliadoras da qualificação, seminários II e defesa da tese;

A parceria científica com os demais autores dos artigos científicos que compõem essa tese;

A professora Cristina por seu exemplo de humanidade, inteligência, entusiasmo, além da amizade durante esses anos de pós graduação e pelo aprendizado e contribuição científica; Ao professor Leonardo por sua experiência, entusiasmo, amizade e contribuição científica; Aos colegas e amigos do LECEA;

Ao Mateus, que muito mais do que auxiliar com as análises de dados e a redação dos manuscritos se tornou um amigo especial;

A Allana, Ana, Lidiane, Pedro e Vinícius que durante suas iniciações científicas me auxiliaram nos experimentos e oportunizaram boas conversas científicas e apoio pessoal;

Aos especialistas e colegas que me auxiliaram com a identificação taxonômica, Francisco Diogo Rocha Sousa e Raquel Fontoura Freiry (Cladocera), Jonathan Rosa (Ostracoda), João Alberto Leão Braccini (Platyhelminthes), Pedro Henrique de Oliveira Hoffmann e Thais Xavier de Melo (Rotifera);

Aos familiares e amigos por todo o apoio, em especial minhas irmãs de coração;

A Nita e ao Roque, que além de pais exemplares e amorosos são excelentes pesquisadores honorários;

Ao Gio, meu amor e co-autor da minha vida;

E, claro, aos que duvidaram.

Gratidão eterna a todos vocês e ao caminho que trilhamos juntos!

AMÉM!

RESUMO

Áreas úmidas intermitentes estão entre os ambientes mais diversos e ameaçados do mundo e são caracterizadas por ciclos de inundação e seca que influenciam a dinâmica de sua comunidade. Muitos invertebrados aquáticos adotam a produção de estágios dormentes como uma estratégia para resistir ao período de estresse hídrico. Ao cumprir a função de reserva ecológica, os estágios dormentes auxiliam no restabelecimento da comunidade após a inundação, podendo ser utilizados em iniciativas de restauração de áreas úmidas degradadas. Neste contexto, o objetivo geral da tese foi avaliar a dinâmica de eclosão de estágios dormentes adotadas por invertebrados aquáticos em áreas úmidas subtropicais e do semiárido brasileiro, bem como analisar as implicações práticas de se utilizar essa comunidade em iniciativas de restauração de áreas úmidas. Para tanto, este trabalho utilizou a metodologia ex situ de hidratação de sedimento seco, com fotoperíodo, temperatura e oxigenação mantidos constantes. As amostras de sedimento foram coletadas em áreas úmidas intermitentes da Planície Costeira do sul do Brasil (12 pontos amostrais), em áreas úmidas intermitentes do semiárido tropical brasileiro (seis pontos amostrais) e na planície de inundação do Rio dos Sinos (oito pontos amostrais). Na Planície Costeira, os resultados demonstraram que a dinâmica de eclosão dos estágios dormentes é influenciada pela sequência de eventos de hidratação. No semiárido brasileiro, a variação de curto prazo na estrutura da comunidade de estágios dormentes ao longo de um período de hidratação mostrou que a dinâmica de eclosão do banco de ovos de invertebrados é composta principalmente por estratégias de eclosão tardia. Por fim, um estudo experimental com sedimentos de áreas úmidas da planície de inundação do Rio dos Sinos indicou o potencial de abordagens de transposição de sedimentos contendo banco de estágios dormentes para a restauração ecológica de áreas úmidas impactadas pela mineração. As conclusões da tese permitiram ampliar o conhecimento sobre a dinâmica de eclosão de invertebrados aquáticos em áreas úmidas subtropicais e semiáridas, auxiliando a propor estratégias de restauração e conservação de áreas úmidas brasileiras.

Palavra-chave: Áreas úmidas intermitentes. Zooplâncton. Banco de estágios dormentes. Quebra de dormência. Restauração ecológica.

ABSTRACT

Intermittent wetlands are among the most diverse and threatened environments in the world, being characterized by cycles of flooding and drought that directly influence the dynamics of their aquatic communities. Many wetland invertebrates adopt the production of dormant stages as strategy to resist the period of hydric stress. By performing the function of biotic reservoir, dormant stages contribute to the reestablishment of the community after flooding, and can be used in restoration initiatives over degraded wetlands. In this context, the main objective of this thesis was to assess the hatching dynamics adopted by dormant stages of aquatic invertebrates in subtropical and semiarid Brazilian wetlands, as well as to analyze the practical implications of using this community in wetland restoration efforts. In this sense, this work used the ex situ methodology of dry sediment hydration, with constant photoperiod, temperature and oxygenation. Also, sediment samples were collected in intermittent wetlands of the southern Brazilian Coastal Plain (12 study sites), in intermittent wetlands of the Brazilian tropical semiarid (six study sites), and in the floodplain wetlands of Rio dos Sinos (eight study sites). In the Coastal Plain, our results demonstrate that hatching dynamics of dormant stages are influenced by the sequential combination of hydration events. In the Brazilian semiarid, the short-term variation in hatchling community structure over a hydration period showed that the hatching dynamics of the invertebrate egg-bank is mostly composed by delayed-hatching strategies. Finally, an experimental study with the sediment of the Sinos River floodplain wetlands indicated the potential of transposing sediments with banks of invertebrate dormant stages to ecological restoration of mining-impacted wetlands. Our findings improve the knowledge about the hatching dynamics of aquatic invertebrates in subtropical and semiarid wetlands, contributing to restoration and conservation projects for Brazilian wetlands.

Key words: Intermittent wetlands. Zooplankton. Egg Banks. Dormancy breaking. Ecological Restauration.

SUMÁRIO

1 APRESENTAÇÃO8
2 REFERENCIAL TEÓRICO9
2.1 Áreas Úmidas: uma visão geral9
2.2 História de vida dos invertebrados aquáticos e o que essa comunidade dormente nos conta
sobre as áreas úmidas11
2.3 Implicações práticas dos estudos com estágios dormentes na restauração de áreas úmidas
2. 4 Objetivos e hipóteses
2.5 Localização dos pontos amostrais da tese
2.6 Referências
3 CAPÍTULO 1: Hatching dynamics of invertebrate dormant stages in temporary ponds are
influenced by multiple hydrations41
4 CAPÍTULO 2: Life finds a way: hatching dynamics of invertebrate dormant stages in
intermittent wetlands from the brazilian tropical semiarid62
5 CAPÍTULO 3: Can the use of zooplankton dormant stages from natural wetlands contribute
to restoration of mined wetlands?
6 CONSIDERAÇÕES FINAIS
ANEXO

1 APRESENTAÇÃO

A estrutura da tese está configurada de forma a descrever inicialmente, e por meio de um Referencial Teórico, os principais aspectos científicos e conceituais que norteiam os objetivos deste trabalho. Assim, as áreas úmidas são abordadas enquanto sistemas dinâmicos e repletos de biodiversidade, buscando identificar a relevância das comunidades que habitam esses ecossistemas, sobretudo as comunidades dormentes de invertebrados aquáticos e seu papel na restauração ecológica das áreas úmidas, hoje sob ameaça antrópica. Ao final dessa seção apresentam-se os objetivos e hipóteses, localização geral dos pontos amostrados e as referências bibliográficas. A formatação deste documento segue as normativas da ABNT, exceto quando informado.

A seguir, os capítulos da tese são apresentados já no formato de artigos científicos, e abordam a dinâmica de eclosão adotada pelos invertebrados aquáticos frente às adversidades ambientais em áreas úmidas intermitentes da região subtropical (Sul do Brasil) e semiárida brasileira (Nordeste do Brasil). Os capítulos estão formatados de acordo com as normas dos periódicos científicos escolhidos e, em conjunto, compõem uma visão biológica, ecológica e prática sobre as comunidades dormentes de invertebrados aquáticos de áreas úmidas. O capítulo 1 avalia como eventos sequenciais de hidratação afetam a dinâmica de eclosão não sincronizada de estágios dormentes da comunidade de invertebrados aquáticos em sedimentos de áreas úmidas intermitentes localizadas na Planície Costeira do Sul do Brasil. O artigo resultante desse capítulo foi publicado no periódico *Freshwater Science* em fevereiro de 2022.

Já o capítulo 2 avalia a dinâmica temporal de eclosão de estágios dormentes de invertebrados aquáticos do sedimento de áreas úmidas intermitentes do semiárido tropical brasileiro. Este capítulo foi submetido ao periódico *Journal of Arid Environments* em maio de 2022. O capítulo 3, por sua vez, tem aspecto prático e avalia a viabilidade do emprego da comunidade dormente de invertebrados aquáticos presente no sedimento de áreas úmidas naturais para iniciativas de restauração de áreas impactadas pela atividade de mineração. Esse capítulo foi publicado na forma de artigo científico no periódico *Aquatic Ecology* em 2021. Por fim, a seção 'Considerações finais' apresenta as conclusões e reflexões obtidas a partir dos resultados da tese, seguida de anexo que ilustra algumas das áreas úmidas amostradas em cada capítulo, bem como algumas espécies de invertebrados aquáticos que emergiram durante os experimentos.

2 REFERENCIAL TEÓRICO

2.1 Áreas Úmidas: uma visão geral

Áreas úmidas (AUs) são ecossistemas caracterizados por serem a interface entre ecossistemas terrestres e aquáticos, sejam eles continentais ou costeiros e naturais ou artificiais, tendo período marcante de inundação, que pode ocorrer sazonalmente e que possui comunidades biológicas adaptadas a esse ecossistema dinâmico e particular (CUNHA; PIEDADE; JUNK, 2015). Assim, AUs intermitentes possuem características singulares (PARRA *et al.*, 2021), sendo reconhecidas pela natureza cíclica de períodos de inundação e seca (WILLIAMS, 2006; BRENDONCK *et al.*, 2010; MITSCH; GOSSELINK, 2015), o que as diferencia de AUs permanentes, tanto em relação aos fatores abióticos quanto em relação às comunidades biológicas (WILLIAMS, 1997).

Por sua complexidade, as definições de AUs por órgãos internacionais (INTERNATIONAL UNION FOR THE CONSERVATION OF NATURE (IUCN), 1971; COWARDIN et al., 1979; WESTLAKE; KVET; SZCZEPANSKI, 1988) são complementares entre si, mas amplas para representar as particularidades regionais. Assim, diferentes países adotaram definições distintas para incluir características de suas regiões (MALTCHIK, 2003; TINER, 2017). Mesmo com várias definições (RAMSAR, 2018) e tratados internacionais (MILLENIUM ECOSYSTEM ASSESSMENT (MEA), 2005; DARWALL et al., 2008; FLITCROT et al., 2019), bem como convenções como a de Ramsar (RAMSAR, 2018) e a Convenção sobre Biodiversidade de 2010 (SECRETARIAT OF THE CONVENTION ON BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY (SCBD), 2010), além de decretos leis em que o Brasil é signatário (BRASIL, 1996; GOMES; MAGALHÃES JÚNIOR, 2017), o cenário político e de gestão do meio ambiente relacionado com as AUs ainda é pouco claro (DUDGEON et al., 2006; JUNK et al., 2011; DEBANSHI; PAL, 2020). De fato, todo país signatário da Convenção de Ramsar se responsabiliza (ou deveria) pelo levantamento ou classificação de dados de biodiversidade, localização e medidas de proteção das AUs em seu território (RIBEIRO et al., 2020).

Por ocorrerem globalmente, existem diferenças nas dinâmicas e nas comunidades que habitam as AUs em função de sua localização, peculiaridades de seu solo, tipo de vegetação e as estratégias dos organismos adaptados a esse ambiente (VAN DER VALK, 2012; MITSCH; GOSSELINK, 2015). Assim, áreas temperadas costumam apresentar ecossistemas com menor sazonalidade de precipitação e evaporação em relação a regiões do globo de clima tropical e

subtropical (DE MEESTER *et al.*, 2005; CUNHA; PIEDADE; JUNK, 2015). Em regiões tropicais e subtropicais Junk *et al.* (2014), reporta as peculiaridades de cada região e sua relevância local e o trabalho de Olmo *et al.* (2022) estabelece comparações entre fatores ambientais da região mediterrânea e tropical, bem como seus efeitos sobre as AUs intermitentes.

Contudo, a despeito de sua importância para a sobrevivência humana e o equilíbrio do planeta, ainda não há um levantamento sistemático e definitivo sobre a extensão da área ocupada pelas AUs no Brasil, embora seja estimado que ao menos 20% do território nacional seja efetivamente classificável como AU (JUNK *et al.*, 2011). Por outro lado, já é possível estimar que até 90% da área originalmente ocupada pelas AUs já foi convertida e descaracterizada pela pressão exercida por atividades antrópicas, no Brasil (JUNK *et al.*, 2013; MALTCHIK; STENERT; BATZER, 2017; MALTCHIK *et al.*, 2018). Já em nível global estima-se a perda de mais de 60% das AUs (MEA, 2005; DAVIDSON, 2014; MITSCH; GOSSELINK, 2015; RAMSAR, 2018; FLITCROT *et al.*, 2019), ainda que seja um dos ecossistemas ecologicamente mais relevantes (BATZER; SHARITZ, 2014; HU *et al.*, 2017; REID *et al.*, 2019; XU *et al.*, 2020).

Os serviços ecossistêmicos (CUNHA; PIEDADE; JUNK, 2015; MITSH; GOSSELINK, 2015; CALHOUN et al., 2017; SETUBAL; BOZELLI, 2021) providos pelas AUs são estimados em mais de 40% do total dos serviços ecossistêmicos prestados pelo planeta (CONSTANZA et al., 2014; OERTLI, 2018; RAMSAR, 2018) e resultam das características desse ecossistema. Embora possam ser listados, esses serviços são de valor inestimável e intangível, porém, trabalhos como Costanza et al. (1997) e Davidson et al. (2019) buscaram medidas de valoração (ainda que a título de generalização) e concluíram com estimativas que superam U\$ 47 trilhões anuais. Portanto, a degradação das AUs compromete os serviços de recarga e tamponamento hídrico de aquíferos e lençóis freáticos, purificação e fornecimento de água, regulação do microclima, manutenção da biodiversidade, dessedentação da fauna, irrigação de lavouras e fornecimento de recursos e alimentos agrários e de pecuária além de moradia, atividades de recreação, ecoturismo e educação (MEA, 2005). Em suma, a diminuição de AUs decorre, em grande parte, devido a expansão acelerada dos áreas urbanas, da agricultura e industrialização (CZECH; PARSONS, 2002; SETTELE et al., 2015; MALTCHIK et al., 2018; ALBERT et al., 2020).

No país, por seu clima e extensão territorial, a heterogeneidade entre as AUs é marcante e decorre diretamente das variações de precipitação anual e microclimas ao longo

dos gradientes de latitude e longitude (CUNHA; PIEDADE; JUNK, 2015). Por exemplo, nos biomas da Amazônia e Mata Atlântica a precipitação varia de 2.000 a 3.000 mm/ano e no Cerrado entre 1.000 e 2.000 mm/ano (ALVARES *et al.*, 2013; CUNHA; PIEDADE; JUNK, 2015). De fato, as classificações de AUs consideram categorias baseadas em aspectos diversos como parâmetros biológicos, físico-químicos e hidrológicos em função das demandas de manejo, inventários e da própria informação disponível (TINER, 2017). Assim, a diversidade e a composição de comunidades aquáticas em AUs são consequências das variáveis citadas acima, bem como do tipo de solo e cobertura vegetal, hidrografia, geologia, altitude, tamanho da área, clima e ação antrópica (MALTCHIK *et al.*, 2004; WILLIAMS, 2006; BRENDONCK; PINCEEL; ORTELLS, 2017).

Seguramente, as características hidrológicas identificam e definem AUs e a dinâmica de suas comunidades (BATZER; BOIX, 2016). Embora grande parte das AUs apresente regime hidrológico permanente, muitas AUs brasileiras são temporárias, ou seja, são sistemas com pulsos hidrológicos que inundam e secam periodicamente (JUNK, 2005). Assim, o hidroperíodo induz uma corrida contra o tempo para as espécies aquáticas afim de resistirem às variações do ambiente (SCHWARTZ; JENKINS, 2000). Dessa forma, se o hidroperíodo for muito curto algumas espécies podem não sobreviver ou ter tempo suficiente para se reproduzir (SCHNEIDER; FROST, 1996; BATZER; BOIX, 2016; PINCEEL *et al.*, 2018), já outras apresentarão estratégias de sobrevivência ao estresse hídrico (OLOFSSON; RIPA; JONZÉN, 2009).

2.2 História de vida dos invertebrados aquáticos e o que essa comunidade dormente nos conta sobre as áreas úmidas

As comunidades biológicas que habitam as AUs são compostas por invertebrados aquáticos, bactérias, protistas, vertebrados, macrófitas e fungos, que em comum apresentam tolerância ou adaptações à grande variação existente entre os ciclos de seca e inundação (WILLIAMS, 2006; BATZER; BOIX, 2016). Dentre os invertebrados aquáticos, os rotíferos e microcrustáceos apresentam dispersão limitada (BILTON; FREELAND; OKAMURA, 2001; HAIRSTON; FOX, 2010), adotando estratégias como a produção de estágios dormentes para sobreviver aos períodos de seca (CÁCERES, 1997; BRENDONCK; DE MEESTER, 2003; BRENDONCK; PINCEEL; ORTELLS, 2017). As adaptações incluem modificações

comportamentais e fisiológicas como aumento da taxa de crescimento, ciclo de vida curto e diminuição do tamanho corporal (WILLIAMS, 1985).

A intensidade e os estímulos necessários para a produção de estágios dormentes, variam entre espécies e entre populações da mesma espécie (BRENDONCK; DE MEESTER, 2003; BRENDONCK; PINCEEL; ORTELLS, 2017). A dormência caracteriza-se pela redução das taxas metabólicas e pela interrupção do desenvolvimento de invertebrados aquáticos que habitam áreas úmidas intermitentes (RICCI, 2001). De forma geral, há dois mecanismos de dormência (GYLLSTRÖM; HANSSON, 2004) adotados para resistir aos períodos de seca: a quiescência (que consiste em hibernação, estivação, anidrobiose ou criptobiose – Wiggins, Mackay e Smith (1980) e Cáceres (1997)) e a diapausa (formação de estágios dormentes - Brock et al. (2003) e Hairston e Fox (2010). Enquanto a quiescência é controlada majoritariamente por fatores exógenos (e.g. mudança de temperatura e fotoperíodo, escassez de alimento, predação – Brendonck (1996)), a diapausa é relatada como sendo predominantemente regulada por fatores endógenos (e.g. idade reprodutiva e qualidade do genótipo - Brendonck (1996); Ricci (2001); Alekseev, De Stasio e Gilbert (2007); Radzikowski (2013); Aránguiz-Acuña, Ramos-Jiliberto e Serra (2015)). Neste caso, os estímulos para a produção de estágios dormentes não estão relacionados apenas com a melhoria das condições ambientais (CÁCERES, 1997; RICCI, 2001; RADZIKOWSKI, 2013).

Ainda, há variação na estratégia de dormência entre grupos taxonômicos (para informações detalhadas ver Cáceres (1997) e Strachan, Chester e Robson (2015)), por exemplo, microturbelários produzem ovos envolvidos por cápsulas (YOUNG, 2001), já espécies de Gastrotricha apresentam desenvolvimento rápido com produção de ovos partenogenéticos em apenas uma semana e, no decorrer do período, os demais ovos apresentam uma película protetora adicional (STRAYER; HUMMON, 1991; RICCI; BALSAMO, 2000). Ao considerar o Filo Rotifera, as duas classes de água doce se diferenciam nas estratégias: Bdelloidea é exclusivamente partenogenética, com dormência observada em fêmeas adultas quiescentes por anidrobiose ou criptobiose (RICCI, 2001; BRAIN, 2002), ainda pode ocorrer a formação de um cisto envolto por uma camada de gel com função de proteção (ALEKSEEV; DE STASIO; GILBERT, 2007); já Monogononta apresenta partenogênese cíclica e a maior parte das espécies adota a produção de ovos de resistência (RICCI; BALSAMO, 2000; SHRÖDER, 2005; GILBERT, 2017). Assim como os

adultos quiescentes de Bdelloidea, esses ovos suportam períodos de seca, mas são menos tolerantes a temperaturas extremas (CÁCERES, 1997).

Outro grupo taxonômico, o Filo Nematoda apresenta variação na estratégia de dormência, ou seja, pode adotar anidrobiose (tanto em estágios imaturos, quanto adultos), produção de ovos de resistência (em espécies parasitas) e ainda pode ocorrer a formação de um estágio juvenil terciário (chamado de *dauer larva*) com cutícula modificada capaz de tolerar eventos de dessecação (SOMMERVILLE; DAVEY, 2002; HAND *et al.*, 2016). Para o Filo Tardigrada é observada quiescência (independente do estágio de desenvolvimento) (CROWE, 1975), e a diapausa na forma de encistamento (BERTOLANI *et al.*, 2004; ALTIERO; BERTOLANI; REBECCHI, 2010; GUIDETTI; ALTIERO; REBECCHI, 2011) sendo que esta estratégia também é observada em Annelida (ANLAUF, 1990).

No caso do Filo Arthropoda, é observada tanto a quiescência como a diapausa (ALEKSEEV; FRYER, 1996). Os Branchiopoda apresentam desenvolvimento rápido, seguido pela produção de ovos de resistência (BRENDONCK *et al.*, 2008), destacando-se os cladóceros, que possuem partenogênese cíclica e produção de ovos de diapausa (efípios), sendo que destes emergem sempre fêmeas partenogenéticas (GYLLSTRÖM; HANSSON, 2004). Por outro lado, os copépodes se reproduzem sexuadamente e não realizam partenogênese, podendo adotar tanto a formação de ovos de resistência como fases dormentes de desenvolvimento (copepoditos e adultos) (HAIRSTON; KEARNS, 1995; GYLLSTRÖM; HANSSON, 2004). Por fim, os crustáceos da Classe Ostracoda apresentam ovos de resistência e reprodução partenogenética (HORNE; MARTENS, 1998).

O conjunto das estratégias de dormência adotadas pela comunidade de invertebrados aquáticos resultam na deposição de estágios dormentes no sedimento ao longo de diferentes gerações formando um banco de estruturas de resistência. Hairston e Fox (2010) definiram que esses bancos são o resultado da acumulação de estruturas de resistência no sedimento de AUs em resposta à necessidade de resistir a períodos de estresse hídrico, sendo adotado por várias espécies de invertebrados aquáticos. Assim, esse banco acaba constituindo um arquivo histórico formado por estruturas de resistência que incluem, em resumo, ovos de resistência (e.g. efípios), embriões de invertebrados, cistos, e esporos de bactérias e cianobactérias. Depois da deposição, muitos estágios migram para o fundo do sedimento, sobrevivendo a condições extremas de temperatura, oxigenação, salinidade e seca, visando garantir a sua viabilidade para quando as condições ambientais se tornarem favoráveis (BRENDONCK; DE MEESTER, 2003; RADZIKOWSKI, 2013; ROGALSKI, 2015; BRENDONCK; PINCEEL;

ORTELLS, 2017; GARCÍA-ROGER; ORTELLS, 2018; VARGAS; SANTANGELO; BOZELLI, 2019; PINCEEL *et al.*, 2020).

Ainda, o banco de estágios dormentes pode ser classificado como persistente ou transiente, de acordo com o tempo de permanência no sedimento. Os estágios dormentes que resistem por longos períodos (o que implica na persistência por diversas estações anuais) se acumulam em diferentes estágios e episódios de dormência, compondo gradualmente um banco de estágios persistente (BRENDONCK; DE MEESTER, 2003). Estudos clássicos como o de Hairston (1996) destacam que o banco de estágios dormentes é formado por representantes de vários táxons de invertebrados aquáticos. Somados, alcançam densidades na ordem de alguns milhões de unidades por m², sobretudo nas camadas superficiais (BRENDONCK; PINCEEL; ORTELLS, 2017; PINCEEL *et al.*, 2020) (4-6 cm) do sedimento (HERZIG, 1985; CÁCERES, 1998; BRENDONCK; DE MEESTER, 2003). Por sua composição, o banco de estágios dormentes pode ser considerado um arquivo ecológico do habitat, já que seu perfil de mudanças nas comunidades e nos genótipos das espécies refletem as mudanças do próprio meio ao longo do tempo, permitindo reconstruir processos evolucionários ou mesmo restaurar habitats (BRENDONCK; DE MEESTER, 2003; ROGALSKI, 2015).

Avaliar o comportamento das comunidades de invertebrados aquáticos frente aos ciclos hidrológicos permite conhecer as estratégias e padrões dessa comunidade em resposta ao desafio da sobrevivência (O'NEILL, 2016; BRENDONCK; PINCEEL; ORTELLS, 2017; GOLEC-FIALEK; LANSAC-TÔHA; BONECKER, 2021). A redução da coluna d'água é um indício do início da fase seca, gerando estímulos para o início da fase dormente (BROCK *et al.*, 2003; WILLIAMS, 2006; VARGAS; SANTANGELO; BOZELLI, 2019); em contrapartida a disponibilidade de água provê o estímulo para a quebra de dormência (BRENDONCK, 1996; BRENDONCK; PINCEEL; ORTELLS, 2017), além de fatores como temperatura (GAIKWAD; INGLE; THORAT, 2008; PALAZZO; BONECKER; FERNANDES, 2008; SHIN; KNEITEL, 2019), fotoperíodo (VANDEKERKHOVE *et al.*, 2005) e intensidade luminosa (PINCEEL *et al.*, 2013; ŚLUSARCZYK; FLIS, 2018).

De fato, os padrões de eclosão de estágios dormentes são fundamentais para determinar a capacidade de sucessão ecológica da comunidade aquática quando estabelecido o período com disponibilidade de água (HAIRSTON; HANSEN; SCHAFFNER, 2000), e os trabalhos de Ricci (2001); Brendonck e De Meester (2003); Gilbert e Schröder (2004); Gyllström e Hansson (2004); Gilbert (2017) revisam o papel da diapausa na sucessão sazonal

da comunidade zooplanctônica. Por fim, os padrões de eclosão também são afetados por fatores físicos e químicos do ambiente, como por exemplo a diminuição da luminosidade pela elevação de matéria orgânica (VARGAS; SANTANGELO; BOZELLI, 2022), variação da salinidade (NIELSEN; SMITH; PETRIE, 2012; SANTANGELO *et al.*, 2014) e presença de resíduos de poluentes (COELHO *et al.*, 2021; PORTINHO; OLIVEIRA; BRANCO, 2021).

Como regra geral, a cada nova inundação a eclosão desses estágios funciona como uma aposta em que o sucesso reprodutivo da espécie emergente depende de sua capacidade de resposta (OLOFSSON; RIPA; JONZÉN, 2009; WANG; ROGERS, 2018; ŚLUSARCZYK *et al.*, 2019). Por isso, estratégias como *bet-hedging*, inicialmente reportado por Cohen (1966) e aprofundado pelos trabalhos de Seger e Brockmann (1987) e Philippi e Seger (1989) são adotadas pelas espécies que habitam ecossistemas estocásticos como as AUs intermitentes (ver trabalho de Pinceel *et al.* (2021) que comprova empiricamente a estratégia). Ainda, como a extensão do período de inundação é sazonal e imprevisível, nesses ambientes ocorrem padrões de eclosão dispersa e não sincronizada como resposta adaptativa do banco de estágios dormentes (COHEN, 1966; SIMOVICH; HATHAWAY, 1997; MAFFEI *et al.*, 2005; GARCÍA-ROGER; SERRA; CARMONA, 2014).

Portanto, de forma a preservar (i.e. não depletar) o banco de estágios dormentes, a dinâmica de emergência dos invertebrados aquáticos acaba sendo uma resposta à intermitência do ambiente na medida em que ocorrem desde padrões de elevada sincronia (e.g. eclosão logo no início do período de inundação, além de períodos curtos de emergência) até padrões de eclosão não sincronizados (i.e. elevada dispersão, com ocorrência de eclosão tardia) (VANOVERBEKE; DE MEESTER, 2009; WATERKEYN et al., 2012; GARCÍA-ROGER; CARMONA; SERRA, 2017). Em suma, trata-se de uma relação de trade-off entre evitar eclodir em um falso período de inundação e o risco de não completar o ciclo reprodutivo (i.e. não gerando novos estágios dormentes) em caso de emergência tardia (COHEN, 1966; MAFFEI et al., 2005; GARCÍA-ROGER; CARMONA; SERRA, 2006). Além do mais, a história de vida das espécies, a fenologia dos estágios dormentes acumulados no banco, o habitat e as condições abióticas (BRENDONCK; DE MEESTER, 2003; MAFFEI et al., 2005; ROSSI et al., 2015; WANG; CHOU, 2015; BHUSNALE et al., 2016; WANG; ROGERS, 2018), bem como a taxa de mortalidade, a dispersão e a predação são fatores que afetam a dinâmica temporal de eclosão, influenciando a composição da comunidade de invertebrados aquáticos (DUMONT; NANDINI; SARMA, 2002; BRENDONK; DE MEESTER, 2003; WANG; ROGERS, 2018).

Na literatura acerca das AUs, muitos estudos priorizam a caracterização da fauna, enquanto apenas alguns tratam do distúrbio gerado pela variação do hidroperíodo sobre a biota das AUs (SERRANO; FAHD, 2005; JOCQUÉ; RIDDOCH; BRENDONCK, 2007; WATERKEYN *et al.*, 2008; BOVEN; BRENDONCK, 2009; VANSCHOENWINKEL *et al.*, 2009; VANSCHOENWINKEL; BUSCHKE; BRENDONCK, 2013; BRENDONCK *et al.*, 2015; ANTÓN-PARDO; ARMENGOL; ORTELLS, 2016; FLORENCIO; DÍAZ-PANIAGUA; SERRANO, 2016; BANDEIRA *et al.*, 2020). Ainda, alguns estudos têm estabelecido relações entre a comunidade ativa presente nas AUs e a sazonalidade do hidroperíodo (CHAPARRO; FONTANARROSA; O'FARRELL, 2016; FLORENCIO; DÍAZ-PANIAGUA; SERRANO, 2016; BANDEIRA *et al.*, 2020) ou seja, o hidroperíodo é determinante sobre parâmetros como riqueza, composição e estrutura da comunidade aquática (ANTÓN-PARDO; ARMENGOL; ORTELLS, 2016; CHAPARRO; FONTANARROSA; O'FARRELL, 2016; FLORENCIO; DÍAZ-PANIAGUA; SERRANO, 2016; BRENDONCK; PINCEEL; ORTELLS, 2017; TARAZONA; GARCÍA-ROGER; CARMONA, 2017).

Ademais, estudos sobre a estrutura e dinâmica do banco de estágios dormentes têm recebido aplicações por disciplinas como taxonomia, biogeografia ecológica, paleolimnologia, conservação da natureza, ecologia evolutiva e ecologia de comunidades e populações (BRENDONCK; DE MEESTER, 2003; ANGELER, 2007). Como abordagem metodológica, os estágios dormentes têm sido estudados *in situ* (PEREZ-MARTÍNEZ *et al.*, 2013; BANDEIRA *et al.*, 2020), e *ex situ* (VAN DAMME; DUMONT, 2010; BHUSNALE *et al.*, 2016; BANDEIRA *et al.*, 2020; OLMO *et al.*, 2020). Entretanto, a maioria dos estudos foram realizados em ecossistemas aquáticos temperados da Europa e América do Norte (IGLESIAS *et al.*, 2016), e o trabalho de Doods *et al.* (2019) reforça a escassez de trabalhos em áreas localizadas nos trópicos.

No Brasil, estudos ecológicos com banco de estágios dormentes já foram escritos por autores como Crispim e Watanabe (2001) e Maia-Barbosa *et al.* (2003), que analisaram a presença e emergência de estágios dormentes em sedimentos de reservatórios, bem como Santangelo *et al.* (2014) e Vargas, Santangelo e Bozelli (2019) que avaliaram a influência da salinidade e da dessecação sobre os estágios dormentes, respectivamente. A diversidade de grupos zooplanctônicos também já foi avaliada a partir do banco de estágios dormentes (PALAZZO; BONECKER; FERNANDES, 2008; PANARELLI; CASANOVA; HENRY, 2008) e o efeito da temperatura e da luminosidade sobre a eclosão de *Daphnia* foi descrito por Paes *et al.* (2016). Mais recentemente, foi avaliado o efeito de herbicidas (PORTINHO *et al.*, 2018; PORTINHO; OLIVEIRA; BRANCO, 2021) e da poluição (COELHO *et al.*, 2021) sobre a emergência da comunidade zooplanctônica. E ainda, trabalhos como os de Rosa *et al.* (2021), que avaliaram a variação espacial de Ostracoda a partir da eclosão de seus estágios dormentes.

Estudos com enfoque na dormência de invertebrados aquáticos em AUs naturais têm sido realizados no Sul do Brasil (FREIRY *et al.*, 2016, 2021; VENDRAMIN *et al.*, 2022). A relação entre a comunidade dormente de invertebrados aquáticos e fatores ambientais, tais como, o hidroperíodo (STENERT *et al.*, 2017), fatores locais, regionais e espaciais (FREIRY *et al.*, 2020a, 2020b) e a predação (VENDRAMIN *et al.*, 2020) igualmente já foi analisada em AUs naturais do Sul do Brasil. Além disso, alguns estudos foram realizados com o objetivo de analisar o efeito de atividades humanas sobre essas comunidades dormentes, tais como, a orizicultura (STENERT *et al.*, 2010; ÁVILA *et al.*, 2015) e a invasão de *Pinus* em AUs inseridas em matrizes campestres (STENERT *et al.*, 2016). Estudos mais recentes, com abordagem *ex situ*, analisaram o potencial de uso de estágios dormentes produzidos por espécies zooplanctônicas na restauração de AUs impactadas pela mineração de argilominerais (VENDRAMIN *et al.*, 2021) e o efeito sobre a comunidade zooplanctônica a partir da transposição de sedimentos de AUs para áreas de arrozais, podendo assim auxiliar em sua recuperação (DA SILVA *et al.*, 2022).

2.3 Implicações práticas dos estudos com estágios dormentes na restauração de áreas úmidas

A restauração de AUs é fundamental (CRAFT, 2016; LIN *et al.*, 2017; YANG *et al.*, 2017; COMÍN, 2020) porém, ainda há carência de política públicas assertivas nesse sentido (SUDING, 2011; BLOMBERG *et al.*, 2018). Maleki *et al.* (2018) e Oertli (2018) destacaram que pelo seu número e relevância atuais, mesmo as AUs artificiais devem ser consideradas nos inventários da biodiversidade. De forma geral, as principais atividades humanas que impactam negativamente as AUs incluem o aquecimento global, a poluição das águas, a pesca ilegal, a introdução de espécies exóticas, a expansão agrícola/urbana e a fragmentação de habitat (ESPAÑOL *et al.*, 2015; DUDGEON, 2019; GRZYBOWSKI; GLIŃSKA-LEWCZUK, 2019; INTERGOVERNMENTAL SCIENCE-POLICY PLATFORM ON BIODIVERSITY AND ECOSYSTEM SERVICES (IPBES), 2019; ALBERT *et al.*, 2020; SARKAR *et al.*, 2020). Porém, além de não se limitar às ameaças citadas, há de se considerar

o efeito somatório, potencializando a degradação sobre esses ecossistemas prioritários sob o ponto de vista da conservação (GRZYBOWSKI; GLIŃSKA-LEWCZUK, 2019). Ainda, entender o impacto sobre a biodiversidade requer a avaliação de múltiplos atributos das comunidades biológicas (e.g. abundância, riqueza, composição da comunidade), sem ignorar a distribuição espacial das espécies (PETSCH *et al.*, 2021).

Contudo, além da falta de consciência acerca da relevância ecológica das AUs, a maior dificuldade para qualquer iniciativa de restauração tem sido o desenvolvimento e a melhoria das metodologias de restauração em si (CRAFT, 2016). Hughes *et al.* (2018) e Romanelli *et al.* (2018) chamam atenção para aspectos importantes para a restauração, como a recomposição das áreas com espécies nativas, bem como o combate/mitigação das causas de degradação ambiental (SOCIETY FOR ECOLOGICAL RESTORATION (SER), 2004). Ainda, a maior parte dos estudos tem considerado a biodiversidade como um parâmetro de medição do sucesso de uma iniciativa de restauração (HUGHES *et al.*, 2018), o que tem norteado iniciativas recentes na área.

Nas últimas décadas a restauração ecológica passou a não considerar apenas a diversidade de espécies, mas também as funções e a restauração de serviços ecossistêmicos em si (MONTOYA; ROGERS; MEMMOTT, 2012; MORENO-MATEOS *et al.*, 2012). Assim, estudos que relacionam as respostas da comunidade aquática zooplanctônica aos distúrbios ambientais por meio de medidas de diversidade funcional tem reforçado essa abordagem (JOSUÉ *et al.*, 2021). Ou seja, uma maior diversidade funcional, por sua vez, pode resultar em maior resiliência da comunidade, permitindo garantir a manutenção de áreas sob pressão de atividade humana, como também para recuperar outras que já tenham sido comprometidas (SETUBAL; BOZELLI, 2021). O trabalho de Cui *et al.* (2018) apresenta uma lista de iniciativas de restauração de AUs e relaciona o sucesso com os locais em que foram desenvolvidos.

Os projetos iniciais de restauração partiram de países desenvolvidos como EUA e países da Comunidade Europeia (NEARING *et al.*, 1989; RUHÍ *et al.*, 2016). Os princípios e resultados desses projetos servem hoje como referência (MCDONALD *et al.*, 2016) para o desenvolvimento de tecnologias de restauração, contribuindo significativamente para a taxa de sucesso dos projetos atuais e futuros relacionados com ecossistemas aquáticos (LIN *et al.*, 2017). Como abordagens recorrentes, há vários métodos para restauração oriundos de engenharia ambiental, como dragagem de sedimentos (DAY *et al.*, 2007), suplementação de água (NATUHARA *et al.*, 2005; DAY *et al.*, 2007) e a técnica de desmineralização (DAVIS;

FROEND, 1999). Estratégias adicionais são a utilização de semeadura, inundação, transplante e restauração (KIEHL; WAGNER, 2006; KLIMKOWSKA *et al.*, 2007; SPENCER; BOUSQUIN, 2014) o que tem despertado recente atenção e melhor avaliação da extensão de seu efeito sobre o ecossistema (LAW *et al.*, 2017). Técnicas relacionadas ao sensoriamento remoto têm o potencial de auxiliar as estratégias acima citadas, uma vez que consistem em uma abordagem eficiente de avaliação da ecologia da paisagem (MANYARI; CARVALHO, 2014). Ainda, autores avaliaram o emprego de propágulos dormentes de invertebrados como ferramenta de ação sobre AUs degradadas, dada sua relevância trófica e ecossistêmica, com resultados promissores (BROWN; BATZER, 2001; GLEASON *et al.*, 2003; STANCZAK; KEIPER, 2004; JENKINS; BOULTON, 2007).

Seguindo a mesma ideia, a transposição de sedimentos contendo bancos de sementes e estágios dormentes de invertebrados aquáticos de AUs "doadoras" (*donor wetland soil*) (BURKE, 1997; WETLAND SCIENCE INSTITUTE (WSI), 2003) tem se mostrado muito eficiente na recuperação das comunidades de plantas (MORIMOTO *et al.*, 2017; KETTENRING; TARSA, 2020), invertebrados aquáticos (VENDRAMIN *et al.*, 2021; DA SILVA *et al.*, 2022) e no aumento da biodiversidade desses ecossistemas degradados por atividades antrópicas (BROCK *et al.*, 2003; RICHTER; STROMBERG, 2005; MORENO-MATEOS *et al.*, 2015). Essa técnica pode, ainda, aumentar a capacidade de retenção de água e matéria orgânica da área úmida e introduzir diversidade de microrganismos e fungos fundamentais nos processos de ciclagem de nutrientes nesses ecossistemas (BURKE, 1997).

O trabalho de Nielsen *et al.* (2018) auxilia na construção da relação entre banco de sementes e estágios dormentes de invertebrados aquáticos, apontando o potencial do sedimento contendo essas estruturas para ações de manejo em AUs. Há potencial, de fato, na camada superficial do sedimento (i.e. 5 cm - ver Cáceres (1998) e Brendonck e De Meester (2003)) de AUs naturais visto conter de 10^3 a 10^4 sementes/m² de diferentes espécies de plantas aquáticas (BURKE, 1997) e de 10^3 a 10^6 ovos/m² de espécies zooplanctônicas (HAIRSTON, 1996). Dessa forma, os bancos de sementes e ovos existentes no sedimento das AUs naturais constituem uma reserva ecológica e evolutiva fundamental para a recuperação das comunidades biológicas nesses ecossistemas (BOULTON; LIOYD, 1992; HAIRSTON, 1996; BROCK *et al.*, 2003; JENKINS; BOULTON, 2007).

O restabelecimento de comunidades biológicas também tem sido alcançado com estratégias de restauração passiva e ativa da estrutura taxonômica, mas ainda há lacunas acerca do funcionamento dos ecossistemas (MORENO-MATEOS *et al.*, 2012; ESPAÑOL *et*

al., 2015; POLÁKOVÁ *et al.*, 2022). A restauração não ocorre de forma imediata (WORTLEY; HERO; HOWES, 2013; MELI *et al.*, 2014) uma vez que a escala temporal também deve ser considerada (OLMO; ARMENGOL; ORTELLS, 2012), visto que algumas décadas podem ser necessárias para que a parcela inicial das características originais das AUs seja efetivamente restaurada, etapa essa que pode ser a mais lenta de todo o processo (MORENO-MATEOS *et al.*, 2012).

Enfim, em ambientes aquáticos impactados, as respostas das comunidades zooplanctônicas são de suma importância tanto para compreender as características dessas espécies como para avaliação de degradação ecológica e restauração desses ecossistemas (BOIX et al., 2008; EJSMONT-KARABIN, 2013; MARSZELEWSKI et al., 2017; GOŹDZIEJEWSKA et al., 2018; POLÁKOVÁ et al., 2022). Nesse ambiente, uma das ameaças antrópicas às AUs é a atividade de mineração de argilominerais (BRASIL, 2018), embora estudos com outros minerais (e.g. ferro) já reportem efeito negativo sobre a comunidade zooplanctônica (SANTOS et al., 2021). De fato, a mineração de argilominerais impacta a comunidade zooplanctônica direta e indiretamente (GOŹDZIEJEWSKA et al., 2018), afetando o solo, os recursos hídricos e as áreas periféricas à atividade mineradora (LEPPÄNEN; WECKSTRÖM; KORHOLA, 2017; DONG et al., 2019), além de alterar a produtividade do ecossistema e a estrutura e composição da comunidade zooplanctônica (MAIA-BARBOSA; BOZELLI, 2006; SODRÉ et al., 2015; MOREIRA et al., 2016). No contexto do sul do Brasil, portanto, a restauração ecológica dessas áreas é entendida, atualmente, como iniciativa promissora, a fim de contribuir com o conhecimento que garanta futuramente um desenvolvimento sustentável.

2. 4 Objetivos e hipóteses

O objetivo geral da tese foi avaliar, por meio de abordagens experimentais *ex situ*, a dinâmica de eclosão de estágios dormentes adotadas por invertebrados aquáticos em AUs subtropicais e do semiárido brasileiro, bem como analisar as implicações práticas de se utilizar essa comunidade em iniciativas de restauração de AUs.

Assim, no capítulo 1, o objetivo geral foi entender como eventos sequenciais de hidratação afetam a riqueza e a composição da comunidade de invertebrados aquáticos emergentes de sedimentos de AUs intermitentes localizadas na Planície Costeira do Sul do Brasil. Para tanto, avaliou-se a variação da riqueza e da composição da comunidade de

invertebrados aquáticos em três eventos sequenciais de hidratação, bem como a variação da composição de invertebrados aquáticos emergentes dentro de cada evento de hidratação. Assumindo que o banco de estágios dormentes acumula-se no sedimento de AUs intermitentes ao longo de diferentes gerações de invertebrados aquáticos (HAIRSTON, 1996; JEPPESEN *et al.*, 2002; BRENDONCK; DE MEESTER, 2003) com uma parcela das espécies no sedimento apresentando padrões de eclosão não sincronizada (SIMOVICH; HATHAWAY, 1997; PHILIPPI *et al.*, 2001; WILLIAMS, 2006; OLOFSSON; RIPA; JONZÉN, 2009; WANG; ROGERS, 2018), além de diferentes histórias de vida e sensibilidade aos estímulos produzidos pela inundação (DE STASIO, 2004; GILBERT; SCHRÖDER, 2004; GARCÍA-ROGER; CARMONA; SERRA, 2006) as hipóteses testadas nesse capítulo foram de que: 1) a riqueza de invertebrados aquáticos emergentes é semelhante após cada evento de inundação; 2) a composição de invertebrados aquáticos ao longo de cada evento de hidratação.

Para o capítulo 2, objetivou-se avaliar a dinâmica temporal de curto prazo da eclosão de estágios dormentes de invertebrados aquáticos do sedimento de AUs intermitentes no semiárido tropical brasileiro, por meio da variação temporal da riqueza, abundância e composição de invertebrados aquáticos emergentes ao longo do experimento. Considerando o clima tropical (i.e. baixa amplitude térmica e de fotoperíodo) e os curtos períodos de inundação de AUs no semiárido brasileiro (BARBOSA *et al.*, 2012; ALVARES *et al.*, 2013), assume-se que a hidratação do sedimento é um estímulo forte para a eclosão da comunidade dormente já no início do período, sobretudo para as espécies zooplanctônicas com ciclos de vida curto (BRENDONCK, 1996; VANOVERBEKE; DE MEESTER, 2009; VARGAS; SANTANGELO; BOZELLI, 2019). Assim, espera-se que ocorra uma maior diversidade de invertebrados emergentes na fase inicial da hidratação quando comparada com o período final de experimento.

No capítulo 3, o objetivo geral foi avaliar se a adição de sedimento superficial de AUs naturais (não mineradas) em sedimentos de áreas úmidas mineradas influencia a riqueza taxonômica, a abundância e a composição das comunidades zooplanctônicas locais. Dessa forma, e baseando-se na evidência de que a atividade de mineração afeta a comunidade zooplanctônica (VANDYSH, 2004; MOREIRA *et al.*, 2016; GOŹDZIEJEWSKA *et al.*, 2018), as hipóteses testadas nesse estudo foram de que: 1) a abundância de ovos efípiais de cladóceros seria maior em AUs naturais em comparação às áreas mineradas; 2) a riqueza

taxonômica e a abundância de invertebrados emergentes seria maior em sedimentos de AUs naturais seguida pelos tratamentos com maior adição de sedimentos de áreas naturais e menores em sedimentos de AUs mineradas; e 3) a composição zooplanctônica seria diferente entre AUs naturais e mineradas, mas a adição de sedimentos de áreas naturais sobre áreas mineradas diminuiria essa dissimilaridade.

2.5 Localização dos pontos amostrais da tese

Para o Capítulo 1 e 3 foram coletadas amostras de sedimento de AUs intermitentes situadas em região de clima subtropical, com temperatura média de 20 °C e precipitação de até 1.600 mm/ano (ALVARES *et al.*, 2012; COMITESINOS, 2022). Um total de 12 pontos foram amostrados ao longo da Planície Costeira da região Sul do Brasil (Capítulo 1) que perfaz cerca de 30.000 km², conforme o inventário feito por Maltchik *et al.* (2004). Já na planície de inundação localizada na Bacia Hidrográfica do Rio dos Sinos (Capítulo 3), região densamente populada com cerca de 3.600 km² (FEPAM, 2022), foi coletado sedimento em oito pontos amostrais.

No semiárido tropical foi coletado sedimento seco em seis pontos amostrais de AUs intermitentes (Capítulo 2), região em que são observados volumes de precipitação variando entre 300 e 800 mm/ano (ALVARES *et al.*, 2013) com a taxa de evaporação de água acima de 2.000 mm/ano (KROL *et al.*, 2006). Nessa região, as AUs naturais são rasas e intermitentes, bem como parte de seus rios e riachos, possuindo ainda reservatórios artificiais devido à escassez hídrica (BARBOSA *et al.*, 2012).

2.6 Referências

ALBERT, J. S. *et al.* Scientists' warning to humanity on the freshwater biodiversity crisis. **Ambio**, v. 50, n. 1, p. 85-94, 2020. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s13280-020-01318-8.

ALEKSEEV, V. R.; FRYER, G. **Diapause in the Crustacea**. Belgium: Kluwer Academic Publ.,1996.

ALEKSEEV, V. R.; STASIO, B. T.; GILBERT J. J. **Diapause in Aquatic Invertebrates Theory and Human Use**. Monographiae Biologicae. Holanda: Springer, 2007.

ALTIERO, T.; BERTOLANI, R.; REBECCHI, L. Hatching phenology and resting eggs in tardigrades. **Journal of Zoology**, v. 280, n. 3, p. 290–296, 2010. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7998.2009.00664.x. ALVARES, C. A. *et al.* Modeling monthly mean air temperature for Brazil. **Theoretical and Applied Climatology**, v. 113, n. 3-4, p. 407-427, 2012. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00704-012-0796-6.

ALVARES, C. A. *et al.* Köppen's climate classification map for Brazil. **Meteorologische Zeitschrift**, v. 22, n. 6, p. 711–728. 2013. http://dx.doi.org/10.1127/0941-2948/2013/0507.

ANGELER, D. G. Resurrection ecology and global climate change research in freshwater ecosystems. **Journal of the North American Benthological Society**, v. 26, n. 1, p. 12-22, 2007. http://dx.doi.org/10.1899/0887-3593(2007)26[12:reagcc]2.0.co;2.

ANLAUF, A. Cyst formation of Tubifex tubifex (Muller)-an adaptation to survive food deficiency and drought. **Hydrobiologia**, v. 190, p. 79-82, 1990.

ANTÓN-PARDO, M.; ARMENGOL, X.; ORTELLS, R. Zooplankton biodiversity and community structure vary along spatiotemporal environmental gradients in restored peridunal ponds. **Journal of Limnology**, v. 75, n. 1, p. 193-203, 2016. https://doi.org/10.4081/jlimnol.2015.1305.

ARÁNGUIZ-ACUÑA, A.; RAMOS-JILIBERTO, R.; SERRA, M. Zooplankton competition promotes trade-offs affecting diapause in rotifers. **Oecologia**, v. 177, n. 1, p. 273-279, 2015. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00442-014-3172-7.

ÁVILA, A. C. *et al.* The effects of different rice cultivation systems and ages on resting stages of wetland invertebrates in southern Brazil. **Marine and Freshwater Research**, v. 66, n. 3, p. 276, 2015. http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/mf14048.

BANDEIRA, M. G. S. *et al.* Hydration time influences microcrustacean hatching in intermittent wetlands: in situ and ex situ approaches. **Hydrobiologia**, v. 847, n. 15, p. 3227-3245, 2020. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10750-020-04315-w.

BARBOSA, J. E. L. *et al.* Aquatic systems in semi-arid Brazil: limnology and management. Acta Limnologica Brasiliensia, v. 24, n. 1, p. 103-118, 2012. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/s2179-975x2012005000030.

BATZER, D.; BOIX, D. Invertebrates in Freshwater Wetlands: An International Perspective on their Ecology. Cham: Springer, 2016.

BATZER, D.; SHARITZ, R. R. **Ecology of freshwater and estuarine wetlands**. Berkeley: University of California Press, 2014.

BERTOLANI, R. *et al.* Experiences with dormancy in tardigrades. **Journal of Limnology**, v. 63, n. 1, p. 16, 2004. http://dx.doi.org/10.4081/jlimnol.2004.s1.16.

BHUSNALE, R. *et al.* Observations on the hatching dynamics and phenology of co-occurring large branchiopods from a small temporary pool in western India using ex situ sediment rehydration. **Annales de Limnologie - International Journal of Limnology**, v. 52, p. 327-333, 2016. http://dx.doi.org/10.1051/limn/2016020.

BILTON, D. T.; FREELAND, J. R.; OKAMURA, B. Dispersal in Freshwater Invertebrates. **Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics**, v. 32, n. 1, p. 159-181, 2001. http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.32.081501.114016.

BLOMBERG, B. N. *et al.* Evaluating the U.S. Estuary Restoration Act to inform restoration policy implementation: a case study focusing on oyster reef projects. **Marine Policy**, v. 91, p. 161-166, 2018. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2018.02.014.

BOIX, D. *et al.* Patterns of composition and species richness of crustaceans and aquatic insects along environmental gradients in Mediterranean water bodies. **Hydrobiologia**, v. 597, n. 1, p. 53-69, 2008. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10750-007-9221-z.

BOULTON, A. J.; LLOYD, L. N. Flooding frequency and invertebrate emergence from dry floodplain sediments of the river murray, Australia. **Regulated Rivers: Research and Management**, v. 7, n. 2, p. 137-151, 1992. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/rrr.3450070203.

BOVEN, L.; BRENDONCK, L. Impact of hydroperiod on seasonal dynamics in temporary pool cladoceran communities. **Fundamental and Applied Limnology**, v. 174, n. 2, p. 147-157, 2009. http://dx.doi.org/10.1127/1863-9135/2009/0174-0147.

BRAIN, C. Rotifera. In: Day, J.; Moor, I. **Guides to the Freshwater Invertebrates of Southern Africa**, v. 5: Non-Arthropods. WRC Report No. TT 167/02. Pretoria: Water Research Commission, 2002.

BRASIL. **Decreto Lei nº 1.905**, de 16 de maio de 1996. Promulga a Convenção sobre Zonas Úmidas de Importância Internacional, especialmente como Habitat de Aves Aquáticas, conhecida como Convenção de Ramsar, de 02 de fevereiro de 1971. Brasília, DF: Presidência da República, 1996. Disponível em:

http://www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil_03/decreto/1996/d1905.htm. Acesso em: 13 jul. 2021.

BRASIL. Ministério de Minas e Energia. **Anuário mineral do Brasil**. Brasília, DF: Ministério de Minas e Energia, 2018. Disponível em: https://www.gov.br/anm/pt-br/centrais-de-conteudo/publicacoes/serie-estatisticas-e-economia-mineral/anuario-mineral/anuario-mineral/anuario-mineral-brasileiro/amb_2020_ano_base_2019_revisada2_28_09.pdf Acesso em: 11 jul 2020.

BRENDONCK, L. Diapause, quiescence, hatching requirements: what we can learn from large freshwater branchiopods (Crustacea: Branchiopoda: Anostraca, Notostraca, Conchostraca). **Hydrobiologia**, v. 320, n. 1-3, p. 85-97, 1996. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/bf00016809.

BRENDONCK, L.; DE MEESTER, L. Egg banks in freshwater zooplankton: evolutionary and ecological archives in the sediment. **Hydrobiologia**, v. 491, n. 1-3, p. 65-84, 2003. http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/a:1024454905119.

BRENDONCK, L. *et al.* Global diversity of large branchiopods (Crustacea: Branchiopoda) in freshwater. **Hydrobiologia**, v. 595, n. 1, p.167–176, 2008. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-8259-7_18.

BRENDONCK, L. *et al.* Hydrological stability drives both local and regional diversity patterns in rock pool metacommunities. **Oikos**, v. 124, n. 6, p. 741-749, 2015. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/oik.01710.

BRENDONCK, L. *et al.* Pools 'on the rocks': freshwater rock pools as model system in ecological and evolutionary research. **Limnetica**, v. 29, n. 1, p. 25-40, 2010. http://dx.doi.org/10.23818/limn.29.03.

BRENDONCK, L.; PINCEEL, T.; ORTELLS, R. Dormancy and dispersal as mediators of zooplankton population and community dynamics along a hydrological disturbance gradient in inland temporary pools. **Hydrobiologia**, v. 796, n. 1, p. 201-222, 2017. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10750-016-3006-1.

BROCK, M. *et al.* Drought and aquatic community resilience: the role of eggs and seeds in sediments of temporary wetlands. **Freshwater Biology**, v. 48, n. 7, p. 1207-1218, 2003. http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2427.2003.01083.x.

BROWN, S. C.; BATZER, D. P. Birds, plants, and macroinvertebrates as indicators of restoration success in New York marshes. In: RADER, R. B.; BATZER, D. P.; WISSINGER, S. A. **Bioassessment and Management of North American Freshwater Wetlands**. New York: John Wiley and Sons, 2001.

BURKE, D. J. Donor Wetland Soil Promotes Revegetation in Wetland Trials. **Ecological Restoration**, v. 15, n. 2, p. 168-172, 1997. http://dx.doi.org/10.3368/er.15.2.168.

CÁCERES, C. E. Dormancy in invertebrates. **Invertebrate biology**, v. 116, n. 4, p. 371-383, 1997. http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/3226870.

CÁCERES, C. E. Interspecific variation in the abundance, production, and emergence of Daphnia diapausing eggs. **Ecology**, v. 79, n. 5, p. 1699-1710, 1998. http://dx.doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(1998)079[1699:ivitap]2.0.co;2.

CALHOUN, A. J. K. *et al.* Temporary wetlands: challenges and solutions to conserving a disappearing ecosystem. **Biological Conservation**, v. 211, p. 3-11, 2017. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2016.11.024.

CHAPARRO, G.; FONTANARROSA, M. S.; O'FARRELL, I. Colonization and succession of zooplankton after a drought: influence of hydrology and free-floating plant dynamics in a floodplain lake. **Wetlands**, v. 36, n. 1, p. 85-100, 2016. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s13157-015-0718-3.

COELHO, P. N. *et al.* Effects of pollution on dormant-stage banks of cladocerans and rotifers in a large tropical reservoir. **Environmental Science and Pollution Research**, v. 28, n. 24, p. 30887-30897, 2021. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11356-021-12751-x.

COHEN, D. Optimizing reproduction in a randomly varying environment. **Journal of Theoretical Biology**, v. 12, n. 1, p. 119-129, 1966. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0022-5193(66)90188-3.

COMÍN, F. A. Ecological Restoration and Ecosystem Services. **Encyclopedia of the UN Sustainable Development Goals**, p. 244-252, 2020. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-95981-8_106.

COMITESINOS. Caracterização da Bacia Hidrográfica do Rio dos Sinos. *In*: Caracterização da Bacia, 2022. Disponível em: http://www.comitesinos.com.br/bacia-hidrografica-do-rio-dos-sinos. Acesso em 4 abr. 2022.

COSTANZA, R. *et al.* Changes in the global value of ecosystem services. **Global Environmental Change**, v. 26, p. 152-158, 2014. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2014.04.002.

COSTANZA, R. *et al.* The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. **Nature**, v. 387, n. 6630, p. 253-260, 1997. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/387253a0.

COWARDIN, L. M. *et al.* Classification of wetlands and deepwater habitats of the United States. USA: US Department of the Interior, 1979.

CRAFT, C. Creating and restoring wetland: from theory to practice. USA: Elsevier, 2016.

CRISPIM, M. C.; WATANABE, T. What can dry reservoir sediments in a semi-arid region in Brazil tell us about cladocera? **Hydrobiologia**, v. 442, n. 1, p. 101-105, 2001.

CROWE, J. H. The physiology of cryptobiosis in tardigrades. **Memorie dell'Istituto Italiano di Idrobiologia**, v.32, p. 37-59, 1975.

CUI, L. *et al.* Analyzing coastal wetland degradation and its key restoration technologies in the Coastal Area of Jiangsu, China. **Wetlands**, v. 38, n. 3, p. 525-537, 2018. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s13157-018-0997-6.

CUNHA, C. N.; PIEDADE, M. T. F.; JUNK, W. J. Classificação e delineamento das áreas úmidas brasileiras e de seus macrohabitats. Cuiabá: EdUFMT, 2015.

CZECH, H. A.; PARSONS, K. C. Agricultural wetlands and waterbirds: a review. **Waterbirds**, p. 56-65, 2002. https://www.jstor.org/stable/1522452.

DA SILVA, B. M. *et al.* Using topsoil translocation from natural wetlands to restore rice field systems. **Restoration Ecology**, v. 30, n. 3, p. e13526, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1111/rec.13526.

DARWALL, W. *et al.* Freshwater biodiversity: a hidden resource under threat. In: **Wildlife in** a changing world: an analysis of the 2008 IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Switzerland: IUCN, 2008.

DAVIDSON, N. C. How much wetland has the world lost? Long-term and recent trends in global wetland area. **Marine and Freshwater Research**, v. 65, n. 10, p. 934-941, 2014. http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/mf14173. DAVIDSON, N. C. *et al.* Worth of wetlands: revised global monetary values of coastal and inland wetland ecosystem services. **Marine and Freshwater Research**, v. 70, n. 8, p. 1189-1194, 2019. http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/mf18391.

DAVIS, J. A.; FROEND, R. Loss and degradation of wetlands in southwestern Australia: underlying causes, consequences and solutions. **Wetlands Ecology and Management**, v. 7, n. 1, p. 13-23, 1999. http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/A:1008400404021.

DAY, J. W. *et al.* Restoration of the Mississippi Delta: lessons from Hurricanes Katrina and Rita. **Science**, v. 315, n. 5819, p. 1679-1684, 2007. http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.1137030.

DE MEESTER, L. *et al.* Ponds and pools as model systems in conservation biology, ecology and evolutionary biology. **Aquatic Conservation**: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems, v. 15, n. 6, p. 715-725, 2005. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/aqc.748.

DEBANSHI, S.; PAL, S. Wetland delineation simulation and prediction in deltaic landscape. **Ecological Indicators**, v. 108, p. 105757, 2020. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2019.1057.

DE STASIO, B. T. Diapause in Calanoid Copepods: within-clutch hatching patterns. **Journal of Limnology**, v. 63, n. 1, p. 26, 2004. http://dx.doi.org/10.4081/jlimnol.2004.s1.26.

DODDS, W. *et al.* The freshwater biome gradient framework: predicting macroscale properties based on latitude, altitude, and precipitation. **Ecosphere**, v. 10, n. 7, p. e02786, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2786.

DONG, J. *et al.* Investigating the characteristics, evolution and restoration modes of mining area ecosystems. **Polish Journal of Environmental Studies**, v. 28, n. 5, p. 3539-3549, 2019. http://dx.doi.org/10.15244/pjoes/97390.

DUDGEON, D. Multiple threats imperil freshwater biodiversity in the Anthropocene. **Current Biology**, v. 29, n. 19, p. R960-R967, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2019.08.002.

DUDGEON, D. *et al.* Freshwater biodiversity: importance, threats, status and conservation challenges. **Biological Reviews**, v. 81, n. 02, p. 163-182, 2006. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/s1464793105006950.

DUMONT, H. J.; NANDINI, S.; SARMA, S. S. S. Cyst ornamentation in aquatic invertebrates: a defence against egg-predation. **Hydrobiologia**, v. 486, n. 1, p. 161-167, 2002. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1021346601235.

EJSMONT-KARABIN, J. An analysis based on rotifer indices of the effects of water and sewage management on water quality in the system of interconnected glacial lakes. **Limnological Review**, v. 13, n. 4, p. 191-195, 2013. http://dx.doi.org/10.2478/limre-2013-0021.

ESPAÑOL, C. *et al.* Constructed wetlands increase the taxonomic and functional diversity of a degraded floodplain. **Aquatic Sciences**, v. 77, n. 1, p. 27-44, 2015. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00027-014-0375-2.

FEPAM (State Environmental Protection Foundation Henrique Luiz Roessler). Relatório da qualidade da água superficial no rio dos sinos. *In:* Relatórios da Qualidade da Água, 2022. Disponível em: http://www.fepam.rs.gov.br/biblioteca/relat_aguas_superf.asp. Acesso em 14 abr. 2022

FLITCROFT, R. *et al.* Theory and practice to conserve freshwater biodiversity in the Anthropocene. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems, v. 29, n. 7, p. 1013-1021, 2019. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/aqc.3187.

FLORENCIO, M.; DÍAZ-PANIAGUA, C.; SERRANO, L. Relationships between hydroperiod length, and seasonal and spatial patterns of beta-diversity of the microcrustacean assemblages in Mediterranean ponds. **Hydrobiologia**, v. 774, n. 1, p. 109-121, 2016. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10750-015-2515-7.

FREIRY, R. F. *et al.* Additive partitioning of the diversity of the dormant zooplankton communities in intermittent ponds along a forest–grassland transition. **Hydrobiologia**, v. 847, n. 5, p. 1327-1342, 2020a. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10750-020-04187-0.

FREIRY, R. F. *et al.* Community structure and concordance patterns among zooplankton life stages in subtropical temporary ponds. **Aquatic Ecology**, v. 54, n. 1, p. 257-270, 2020b. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10452-019-09740-1.

FREIRY, R. F. *et al.* Ecological correlates of the alpha and beta diversity of zooplankton hatchling communities in seasonal subtropical ponds. **Ecological Research**, v. 36, n. 3, p. 464-477, 2021. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/1440-1703.12213.

FREIRY, R. F. *et al.* Effects of spatial scale and habitat on the diversity of diapausing wetland invertebrates. **Aquatic Biology**, v. 25, p. 173-181, 2016. http://dx.doi.org/10.3354/ab00666.

GAIKWAD, S. R.; INGLE, K. N.; THORAT, S. R. Study of zooplankton emergence pattern and resting egg diversity of recently dried waterbodies in North Maharashtra Region. Journal of Environmental Biology, v. 29, n. 3, p. 353-356, 2008.

GARCÍA-ROGER, E. M.; CARMONA, M. J.; SERRA, M. Hatching and viability of rotifer diapausing eggs collected from pond sediments. **Freshwater Biology**, v. 51, n. 7, p. 1351-1358, 2006. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2006.01583.x.

GARCÍA-ROGER, E. M.; CARMONA, M. J.; SERRA, M. Modes, mechanisms and evidence of bet hedging in rotifer diapause traits. **Hydrobiologia**, v. 796, n. 1, p. 223-233, 2017. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10750-016-2869-5.

GARCÍA-ROGER, E. M.; ORTELLS, R. Trade-offs in rotifer diapausing egg traits: survival, hatching, and lipid content. **Hydrobiologia**, v. 805, n. 1, p. 339-350, 2018. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10750-017-3317-x. GARCÍA-ROGER, E. M.; SERRA, M.; CARMONA, M. J. Bet-hedging in diapausing egg hatching of temporary rotifer populations - A review of models and new insights. **International Review of Hydrobiology**, v. 99, n. 1-2, p. 96-106, 2014. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/iroh.201301708.

GILBERT, J. J. Resting-egg hatching and early population development in rotifers: a review and a hypothesis for differences between shallow and deep waters. **Hydrobiologia**, v. 796, n. 1, p. 235-243, 2017. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10750-016-2867-7.

GILBERT, J. J.; SCHRÖDER, T. Rotifers from diapausing, fertilized eggs: unique features and emergence. **Limnology and Oceanography**, v. 49, n. 42, p. 1341-1354, 2004. http://dx.doi.org/10.4319/lo.2004.49.4_part_2.1341.

GLEASON, R. A. *et al.* Effects of sediment load on emergence of aquatic invertebrates and plants from wetland soil egg and seed banks. **Wetlands**, v. 23, n. 1, p. 26-34, 2003. http://dx.doi.org/10.1672/0277-5212(2003)023[0026:eosloe]2.0.co;2.

GOLEC-FIALEK, C.; LANSAC-TÔHA, F. M.; BONECKER, C. C. Response of the zooplankton community to extreme hydrological variations in a temporary lake in a neotropical floodplain system. **Limnologica**, v. 86, p. 125834, 2021. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.limno.2020.125834.

GOMES, C. S.; MAGALHÃES JÚNIOR, A. P. Conceptual framework on wetlands in Brazil: challenges and expert opinions. **Boletim Goiano de Geografia**, v. 37, n. 3, p. 484-508, 2017.

GOŹDZIEJEWSKA, A. M. *et al.* Zooplankton diversity of drainage system reservoirs at an opencast mine. **Knowledge and Management of Aquatic Ecosystems**, n. 419, p. 33, 2018. http://dx.doi.org/10.1051/kmae/2018020.

GRZYBOWSKI, M.; GLIŃSKA-LEWCZUK, K. Principal threats to the conservation of freshwater habitats in the continental biogeographical region of Central Europe. **Biodiversity and Conservation**, v. 28, n. 14, p. 4065-4097, 2019. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10531-019-01865-x.

GUIDETTI, R.; ALTIERO, T.; REBECCHI, L. On dormancy strategies in tardigrades. **Journal of Insect Physiology**, v. 57, n. 5, p. 567-576, 2011. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jinsphys.2011.03.003.

GYLLSTRÖM, M.; HANSSON, L. Dormancy in freshwater zooplankton: induction, termination and the importance of benthic-pelagic coupling. **Aquatic Sciences**, v. 66, n. 3, p. 274-295, 2004. http://dx.doi.org/1010.1007/s00027-004-0712-y.

HAIRSTON, N. G. Zooplankton egg banks as biotic reservoirs in changing environments. **Limnology and Oceanography**, v. 41, n. 5, p. 1087-1092, 1996. http://dx.doi.org/10.4319/lo.1996.41.5.1087.

HAIRSTON, N. G.; FOX, J. A. Egg banks. In: LIKENS, G. E. **Plankton of inland waters**. London: Academic Press, 2010.

HAIRSTON, N. G.; HANSEN, A.; SCHAFFNER, W. R. The effect of diapause emergence on the seasonal dynamics of a zooplankton assemblage. **Freshwater Biology**, v. 45, n. 2, p. 133-145, 2000. http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2427.2000.00386.x.

HAIRSTON, N. G.; KEARNS, C. M. The interaction of photoperiod and temperature in diapause timing: a copepod example. **The Biological Bulletin**, v. 189, n. 1, p. 42-48, 1995. http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/1542200.

HAND, S. C. *et al.* Mechanisms of animal diapause: recent developments from nematodes, crustaceans, insects, and fish. **American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology**, v. 310, n. 11, p. R1193-R1211, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00250.2015.

HERZIG, A. Resting eggs — a significant stage in the life cycle of crustaceans Leptodora kindti and Bythotrephes longimanus. **Internationale Vereinigung für theoretische und angewandte Limnologie: Verhandlungen**, v. 22, n. 5, p. 3088-3098, 1985. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/03680770.1983.11897838.

HORNE, D.; MARTENS K. An assessment of the importance of resting eggs for the evolutionary success of Mesozoic non-marine cypridoidean Ostracoda (Crustacea). Archiv für Hydrobiologie, v. 52, p. 549–561, 1998.

HU, S. *et al.* Global wetlands: potential distribution, wetland loss, and status. **Science of the Total Environment**, v. 586, p. 319-327, 2017. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.02.001.

HUGHES, R. A. *et al.* Inclusion of biodiversity in habitat restoration policy to facilitate ecosystem recovery. **Conservation Letters**, v. 11, n. 3, p. e12419, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1111/conl.12419.

IGLESIAS, C. *et al.* Current knowledge of South American cladoceran diapause: a brief review. **International Review of Hydrobiology**, v. 101, n. 3-4, p. 91-104, 2016. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/iroh.201501825.

INTERGOVERNMENTAL SCIENCE-POLICY PLATFORM ON BIODIVERSITY AND ECOSYSTEM SERVICES (IPBES). Summary for policymakers of the global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. Bonn: IPBES secretariat, 2019. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo. 3553579.

INTERNATIONAL UNION FOR THE CONSERVATION OF NATURE (IUCN) (1971). **The Ramsar Conference: Final act of the international conference on the conservation of wetlands and waterfowl**, Annex 1. Special Supplement to IUCN, Bulletin 2, p.4, 1971.

JENKINS, K. M.; BOULTON, A. J. Detecting impacts and setting restoration targets in aridzone rivers: aquatic micro-invertebrate responses to reduced floodplain inundation. **Journal of Applied Ecology**, v. 44, n. 4, p. 823-832, 2007. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2007.01298.x. JEPPESEN, E. *et al.* Reconstructing the historical changes in Daphnia mean size and planktivorous fish abundance in lakes from the size of Daphnia ephippia in the sediment. **Journal of paleolimnology**, v. 27, n. 1, p. 133-143, 2002.

JOCQUÉ, M.; RIDDOCH, B. J.; BRENDONCK, L. Successional phases and species replacements in freshwater rock pools: towards a biological definition of ephemeral systems. **Freshwater Biology**, v. 52, n. 9, p. 1734-1744, 2007. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2007.01802.x.

JOSUÉ, I. *et al.* Zooplankton functional diversity as an indicator of a long-term aquatic restoration in an Amazonian lake. **Restoration Ecology**, v. 29, n. 5, p. e13365, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1111/rec.13365.

JUNK, W. J. Flood pulsing and the linkages between terrestrial, aquatic, and wetland systems. **Internationale Vereinigung für theoretische und angewandte Limnologie: Verhandlungen**, v. 29, n. 1, p. 11-38, 2005. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/03680770.2005.11901972.

JUNK, W. J. *et al.* Brazilian wetlands: their definition, delineation, and classification for research, sustainable management, and protection. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems, v. 24, n. 1, p. 5-22, 2014. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/aqc.2386.

JUNK, W. J. *et al.* A Classification of Major Naturally-Occurring Amazonian Lowland Wetlands. **Wetlands**, v. 31, n. 4, p. 623-640, 2011. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s13157-011-0190-7.

JUNK, W. J. *et al.* Current state of knowledge regarding the world's wetlands and their future under global climate change: a synthesis. **Aquatic Sciences**, v. 75, n. 1, p. 151-167, 2013. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00027-012-0278-z.

KETTENRING, K. M.; TARSA, E. E. Need to seed? Ecological, genetic, and evolutionary keys to seed-based wetland restoration. **Frontiers in Environmental Science**, v.8, 2020. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2020.00109.

KIEHL, K.; WAGNER, C. Effect of hay transfer on long-term establishment of vegetation and grasshoppers on former arable fields. **Restoration Ecology**, v. 14, n. 1, p. 157-166, 2006. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-100x.2006.00116.x.

KLIMKOWSKA, A. *et al.* Wet meadow restoration in Western Europe: a quantitative assessment of the effectiveness of several techniques. **Biological Conservation**, v. 140, n. 3-4, p. 318-328, 2007. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2007.08.024.

KROL, M. *et al.* Integrated modelling of climate, water, soil, agricultural and socio-economic processes: a general introduction of the methodology and some exemplary results from the semi-arid north-east of Brazil. **Journal of Hydrology**, v. 328, n. 3-4, p. 417-431, 2006. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2005.12.021. LAW, A. *et al.* Using ecosystem engineers as tools in habitat restoration and rewilding: beaver and wetlands. **Science of the Total Environment**, v. 605-606, p. 1021-1030, 2017. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.06.173.

LEPPÄNEN, J. J.; WECKSTRÖM, J.; KORHOLA, A. Multiple mining impacts induce widespread changes in ecosystem dynamics in a boreal lake. **Scientific Reports**, v.7, p. 10581, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-11421-8.

LIN, Z. *et al.* Overview of ecological restoration technologies and evaluation systems. **Journal of Resources and Ecology**, v. 8, n. 4, p. 315-324, 2017. http://dx.doi.org/10.5814/j.issn.1674-764x.2017.04.002.

MAFFEI, C. *et al.* The dormancy problem for Crustacea Anostraca: a rigorous model connecting hatching strategies and environmental conditions. **Ecological Modelling**, v. 185, n. 2-4, p. 469-481, 2005. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2004.04.039.

MAIA-BARBOSA, P. M.; BOZELLI, R. L. Community structure and temporal dynamics of cladocerans in an Amazonian lake (Lake Batata, PA, Brazil) impacted by bauxite tailings. **Acta Limnologica Brasiliensia**, v. 18, n. 1, p. 67-75, 2006.

MAIA-BARBOSA, P. M. *et al.* The resting eggs of zooplankton from a tropical, eutrophic reservoir (Pampulha Reservoir, south-east Brazil). **Lakes and Reservoirs: Research and Management**, v. 8, n. 3-4, p. 269-275, 2003. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1770.2003.00229.x.

MALEKI, S. *et al.* Wetland restoration prioritizing, a tool to reduce negative effects of drought: An application of multicriteria-spatial decision support system (MC-SDSS). **Ecological Engineering**, v. 112, p. 132-139, 2018. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2017.12.031.

MALTCHIK, L. Inventory of wetlands of Rio Grande do Sul (Brazil). **Pesquisas Botânica**, v. 53, p. 89-100, 2003.

MALTCHIK, L. *et al.* Legislation for wetland conservation in Brazil: Are existing terms and definitions sufficient? **Environmental Conservation**, v. 45, n. 3, p. 301-305, 2018. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0376892917000522.

MALTCHIK, L. *et al.* Wetlands of Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil: a classification with emphasis on plant communities. Acta Limnologica Brasiliensia, v. 16, n. 2, p. 137-151, 2004.

MALTCHIK, L.; STENERT, C.; BATZER, D. P. Can rice field management practices contribute to the conservation of species from natural wetlands? Lessons from Brazil. **Basic and Applied Ecology**, v. 18, p. 50-56, 2017. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2016.10.002.

MANYARI, W. V.; CARVALHO, O. A. wetlands conservation: an integrative approch. **European Scientific Journal**, v. 10, n. 10, 2014. https://doi.org/10.19044/esj.2014.v10n10p%25p. MARSZELEWSKI, W. *et al.* Understanding abiotic and biotic conditions in post-mining pit lakes for efficient management: a case study (poland). **Mine Water and the Environment**, v. 36, n. 3, p. 418-428, 2017. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10230-017-0434-8.

MCDONALD, T. *et al.* International standards for the practice of ecological restoration– including principles and key concepts. Washington, D. C.: Society for Ecological Restoration, 2016.

MELI, P. *et al.* Restoration enhances wetland biodiversity and ecosystem service supply, but results are context-dependent: a meta-analysis. **PloS One**, v. 9, n. 4, p. e93507, 2014. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0093507.

MILLENIUM ECOSSISTEM ASSESSMENT (MEA). Ecosystems and human wellbeing: wetlands and water. 2005. Disponível em: http://www.unep.org/maweb/documents/document.358.aspx.pdf> Acesso em: 12 abr 2021.

MITSCH, W. J.; GOSSELINK, J. G. Wetlands. New Jersey: John Wiley e Sons Inc., 2015.

MONTOYA, D.; ROGERS, L.; MEMMOTT, J. Emerging perspectives in the restoration of biodiversity-based ecosystem services. **Trends in Ecology and Evolution**, v. 27, n. 12, p. 666-672, 2012. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2012.07.004.

MOREIRA, F. W. A. *et al.* Assessing the impacts of mining activities on zooplankton functional diversity. **Acta Limnologica Brasiliensia**, v. 28, p. 107, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1590/S2179-975X0816.

MORENO-MATEOS, D. *et al.* Ecosystem response to interventions: lessons from restored and created wetland ecosystems. **Journal of Applied Ecology**, v. 52, n. 6, p. 1528-1537, 2015. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12518.

MORENO-MATEOS D. *et al.* Structural and functional loss in restored wetland Ecosystems. **PLoS Biol**, v. 10, n. 1, p. e1001247, 2012. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1001247.

MORIMOTO, J. *et al.* Wetland restoration by natural succession in abandoned pastures with a degraded soil seed bank. **Restoration Ecology**, v. 25, n. 6, p. 1005-1014, 2017. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/rec.12516.

NATUHARA, Y. *et al.* Creation and adaptive management of a wild bird habitat on reclaimed land in Osaka Port. **Landscape and Urban Planning**, v. 70, n. 3-4, p. 283-290, 2005. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2003.10.022.

NEARING, M. A.; *et al.* A Process-Based Soil Erosion Model for USDA-Water Erosion Prediction Project Technology. **Transactions of the Asae**, v. 32, n. 5, p. 1587-1593, 1989. http://dx.doi.org/10.13031/2013.31195.

NIELSEN, D. L. *et al.* Seed bank dynamics in wetland complexes associated with a lowland river. **Aquatic sciences**, v. 80, n. 2, p. 1-11, 2018. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00027-018-0574-3.

NIELSEN, D. L.; SMITH, D.; PETRIE, R. Resting egg banks can facilitate recovery of zooplankton communities after extended exposure to saline conditions. **Freshwater Biology**, v. 57, n. 6, p. 1306-1314, 2012. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2012.02782.x.

OERTLI, B. Freshwater biodiversity conservation. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems, v. 28, n. 2, p. 264-269, 2018. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/aqc.2902.

OLMO, C. *et al.* Influence of restoration age on egg bank richness and composition: an ex situ experiment. **Journal of Plankton Research**, v. 42, n. 5, p. 553-563, 2020. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/plankt/fbaa034.

OLMO, C. *et al.* The environmental framework of temporary ponds: A tropical-mediterranean comparison. **Catena**, v. 210, p. 105845, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.catena.2021.105845.

OLMO, C.; ARMENGOL, X.; ORTELLS, R. Re-establishment of zooplankton communities in temporary ponds after autumn flooding: does restoration age matter? **Limnologica**, v. 42, n. 4, p. 310-319, 2012. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.limno.2012.08.005.

OLOFSSON, H.; RIPA, J.; JONZÉN, N. Bet-hedging as an evolutionary game: the trade-off between egg size and number. **Proceedings of the Royal Society B**: **Biological Sciences**, v. 276, n. 1669, p. 2963-2969, 2009. http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2009.0500.

O'NEILL, B. J. Community disassembly in ephemeral ecosystems. **Ecology**, v. 97, n. 12, p. 3285-3292, 2016. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ecy.1604.

PAES, T. A. *et al.* High temperatures and absence of light affect the hatching of resting eggs of Daphnia in the tropics. **Anais da Academia Brasileira de Ciências**, v. 88, n. 1, p. 179-186, 2016. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/0001-3765201620140595.

PALAZZO, F.; BONECKER, C. C.; FERNANDES, A. P. C. Resting cladoceran eggs and their contribution to zooplankton diversity in a lagoon of the Upper Paraná River floodplain. **Lakes and Reservoirs: Research and Management**, v. 13, n. 3, p. 207-214, 2008. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1770.2008.00370.x.

PANARELLI, E. A.; CASANOVA, S. M. C.; HENRY, R. The role of resting eggs in the recovery of zooplankton community in a marginal lake of the Paranapanema River (São Paulo, Brazil), after a long drought period. **Acta Limnologica Brasiliensia**, v. 20, n. 1, p. 73-88, 2008.

PARRA, G. *et al.* The future of temporary wetlands in drylands under global change. **Inland Waters**, v. 11, n. 4, p. 445-456, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1080/20442041.2021.1936865.

PÉREZ-MARTÍNEZ, C. *et al.* Emergence pattern and hatching cues of Daphnia pulicaria (Crustacea, Cladocera) in an alpine lake. **Hydrobiologia**, v. 707, n. 1, p. 47-57, 2013. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10750-012-1404-6.

PETSCH, D. *et al.* A synthesis of land use impacts on stream biodiversity across metrics and scales. **Ecology**, v.102, n. 11, p. e03498, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.3498.

PHILIPPI, T. E. *et al.* Habitat ephemerality and hatching fractions of a diapausing anostracan (Crustacea: Branchiopoda). **Israel Journal of Zoology**, v. 47, n. 4, p. 387-396, 2001. http://dx.doi.org/10.1560/lu8g-9hvp-yr80-xcl0.

PHILIPPI, T.; SEGER, J. Hedging one's evolutionary bets, revisited. **Trends in Ecology and Evolution**, v. 4, n. 2, p. 41-44, 1989. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0169-5347(89)90138-9.

PINCEEL, T. *et al.* An empirical confirmation of diversified bet hedging as a survival strategy in unpredictably varying environments. **Ecology**, p. e03496, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.3496.

PINCEEL, T. *et al.* An empirical test of the impact of drying events and physical disturbance on wind erosion of zooplankton egg banks in temporary ponds. **Aquatic Ecology**, v. 54, n. 1, p. 137-144, 2020. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10452-019-09731-2.

PINCEEL, T. *et al.* Climate change jeopardizes the persistence of freshwater zooplankton by reducing both habitat suitability and demographic resilience. **BMC Ecology**, v. 18, n. 1, p. 1-9, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12898-018-0158-z.

PINCEEL, T. *et al.* Mechanistic and evolutionary aspects of light-induced dormancy termination in a temporary pond crustacean. **Freshwater Science**, v. 32, n. 2, p. 517-524, 2013. http://dx.doi.org/10.1899/12.157.1.

POLÁKOVÁ, M. *et al.* Unexplored freshwater communities in post-mining ponds: effect of different restoration approaches. **Restoration Ecology**, p. e13679, 2022. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/rec.13679.

PORTINHO, J. L. *et al.* Mixture of commercial herbicides based on 2,4-D and glyphosate mixture can suppress the emergence of zooplankton from sediments. **Chemosphere**, v. 203, p. 151-159, 2018. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.03.156.

PORTINHO, J. L.; OLIVEIRA, H. N.; BRANCO, C. C. Z. Resting egg banks can facilitate recovery of zooplankton communities after short exposure to glyphosate. **Ecotoxicology**, v. 30, n. 3, p. 492-501, 2021. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10646-021-02371-z.

RADZIKOWSKI, J. Resistance of dormant stages of planktonic invertebrates to adverse environmental conditions. **Journal of Plankton Research**, v. 35, n. 4, p. 707-723, 2013. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/plankt/fbt032.

RAMSAR CONVENTION ON WETLANDS. **Global Wetland Outlook**: State of the World's Wetlands and Their Services to People. Switzerland: Ramsar Convention Secretariat, 2018.

REID, A. J. *et al.* Emerging threats and persistent conservation challenges for freshwater biodiversity. **Biological Reviews**, v. 94, n. 3, p. 849-873, 2019. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/brv.12480.

RIBEIRO, S. *et al.* Land use in Brazilian continental wetland Ramsar sites. Land Use Policy, v. 99, p. 104851, 2020. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2020.104851
RICCI, C. Dormancy patterns in rotifers. **Hydrobiologia**, v. 446, n. 1, p. 1-11, 2001. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1017548418201.

RICCI, C.; BALSAMO, M. The biology and ecology of lotic rotifers and gastrotrichs. **Freshwater Biology**, v. 44, n. 1, p. 15–28, 2000. http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2427.2000.00584.x.

RICHTER, R.; STROMBERG, J. C. Soil seed banks of two montane riparian areas: implications for restoration. **Biodiversity and Conservation**, v. 14, n. 4, p. 993-1016, 2005. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10531-004-7844-1.

ROGALSKI, M. A. Tainted resurrection: metal pollution is linked with reduced hatching and high juvenile mortality in Daphnia egg banks. **Ecology**, v. 96, n. 5, p. 1166-1173, 2015. http://dx.doi.org/10.1890/14-1663.1.

ROMANELLI, J. P. *et al.* Assessing ecological restoration as a research topic using bibliometric indicators. **Ecological Engineering**, v. 120, p. 311-320, 2018. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2018.06.015.

ROSA, J. *et al.* Spatial variation of ostracod (Crustacea, Ostracoda) egg banks in temporary lakes of a tropical flood plain. **Marine and Freshwater Research**, v. 72, n. 1, p. 26, 2021. http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/mf19081.

ROSSI, V. *et al.* Early and late maternal effects on hatching phenology of Heterocypris incongruens (crustacea: ostracoda). **Journal of Experimental Zoology Part A**: Ecological Genetics and Physiology, v. 323, n. 6, p. 382-391, 2015. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jez.1931.

RUHÍ, A. *et al.* Invertebrates in created and restored wetlands. In: BATZER, D.; BOIX, D. **Invertebrates in Freshwater Wetlands:** An International Perspective on their Ecology. Cham: Springer, 2016.

SANTANGELO, J. M. *et al.* Disturbances due to increased salinity and the resilience of zooplankton communities: the potential role of the resting egg bank. **Hydrobiologia**, v. 722, n. 1, p. 103-113, 2014.

SANTOS, G. S. *et al.* Impacts of exposure to mine tailings on zooplankton hatching from a resting egg bank. **Aquatic Ecology**, v. 55, n. 2, p. 545-557, 2021. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10452-021-09844-7.

SARKAR, P. *et al.* A conceptual model to understand the drivers of change in tropical wetlands: a comparative assessment in India and Brazil. **Biota Neotropica**, v. 20, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1590/1676-0611-BN-2019-0913.

SCHNEIDER, D. W.; FROST, T. M. Habitat Duration and Community Structure in Temporary Ponds. Journal of the North American Benthological Society, v. 15, n. 1, p. 64-86, 1996. http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/1467433.

SCHRÖDER, T. Diapause in monogonont rotifers. **Hydrobiologia**, v. 546, n. 1, p. 291-306, 2005. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10750-005-4235-x.

SCHWARTZ, S. S.; JENKINS, D. G. Temporary aquatic habitats: constraints and opportunities. **Aquatic Ecology**, v. 34, n. 1, p. 3-8, 2000. http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/A:1009944918152.

SECRETARIAT OF THE CONVENTION ON BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY SCBD Global biodiversity outlook 3. Canada: Secretariat of the Convention on Biodiversity, 2010.

SEGER, J.; BROCKMANN, J. H. What is bet-hedging? **Oxford Surveys in Evolutionary Biology**, v. 4, p. 182-211, 1987.

SERRANO, L.; FAHD, K. Zooplankton communities across a hydroperiod gradient of temporary ponds in the Doñana National Park (SW Spain). **Wetlands**, v. 25, n. 1, p. 101-111, 2005. http://dx.doi.org/10.1672/0277-5212(2005)025[0101:zcaahg]2.0.co;2.

SETTELE, J. *et al.* Agricultural landscapes and ecosystem services in South-East Asia—the LEGATO-Project. **Basic and Applied Ecology**, v. 16, n. 8, p. 661-664, 2015. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2015.10.003.

SETUBAL, R. B.; BOZELLI, R. L. Zooplankton functional complementarity between temporary and permanent environments. **Acta Limnologica Brasiliensia**, v. 33, 2021. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S2179-975X5620.

SHIN, H. R.; KNEITEL, J. M. Warming interacts with inundation timing to influence the species composition of California vernal pool communities. **Hydrobiologia**, v. 843, n. 1, p. 93-105, 2019. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10750-019-04040-z.

SIMOVICH, M. A.; HATHAWAY, S. A. Diversified bet-hedging as a reproductive strategy of some ephemeral pool anostracans (Branchiopoda). **Journal of Crustacean Biology**, v. 17, n. 1, p. 38-44, 1997. https://doi.org/10.2307/1549460.

ŚLUSARCZYK, M. *et al.* The role of the refractory period in diapause length determination in a freshwater crustacean. **Scientific reports**, v. 9, n. 1, p. 1-7, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-48389-6.

ŚLUSARCZYK, M.; FLIS, S. Light quantity, not photoperiod terminates diapause in the crustacean Daphnia. **Limnology and Oceanography**, v. 64, n. 1, p. 124-130, 2018. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/lno.11023.

SOCIETY FOR ECOLOGICAL RESTORATION (SER) Science and Policy Working Group. **The SER International Primer on Ecological Restoration**. Tucson: Society for Ecological Restoration, 2004.

SODRÉ, E. O. *et al.* The effects of mining tailings and flood pulse on zooplankton in an Amazonian floodplain environment (Batata Lake, Pará, Brazil). **Boletim do Museu Paraense Emílio Goeldi-Ciências Naturais**, v. 10, n. 2, p. 247-259, 2015.

SOMMERVILLE, R. I.; DAVEY, K. G. Diapause in parasitic nematodes: a review. **Canadian Journal of Zoology**, v. 80, n. 11, p. 1817-1840, 2002. http://dx.doi.org/10.1139/z02-163. SPENCER, L. J.; BOUSQUIN, S. G. Interim Responses of Floodplain Wetland Vegetation to Phase I of the Kissimmee River Restoration Project: comparisons of vegetation maps from five periods in the river's history. **Restoration Ecology**, v. 22, n. 3, p. 397-408, 2014. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/rec.12074.

STANCZAK, M.; KEIPER, J. B. Benthic invertebrates in adjacent created and natural wetlands in northeastern Ohio, USA. **Wetlands**, v. 24, n. 1, p. 212-218, 2004. http://dx.doi.org/10.1672/0277-5212(2004)024[0212:biiaca]2.0.co;2.

STENERT, C. *et al.* Composition of cladoceran dormant stages in intermittent ponds with different hydroperiod lengths. **Ecological Research**, v. 32, n. 6, p. 921-930, 2017. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11284-017-1498-4.

STENERT, C. *et al.* Do hydrologic regimes used in rice fields compromise the viability of resting stages of aquatic invertebrates? **Wetlands**, v. 30, n. 5, p. 989-996, 2010. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s13157-010-0083-1.

STENERT, C. *et al.* Dormant propagule banks of aquatic invertebrates in ponds invaded by exotic pine species in southern Brazil. **Marine and Freshwater Research**, v. 68, n. 5, p. 954-963, 2016. http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/mf16067.

STRACHAN, S. R.; CHESTER, E. T.; ROBSON, B. J. Freshwater invertebrate life history strategies for surviving desiccation. **Springer Science Reviews**, v. 3, n. 1, p. 57-75, 2015. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s40362-015-0031-9.

STRAYER, D. L.; HUMMON, W. D. Gastrotricha. In: THORP, J. H.; COVICH, A. P. **Ecology and Classification of North American Freshwater Invertebrates**. San Diego: Academic Press, 1991.

SUDING, K. N. Toward an era of restoration in ecology: successes, failures, and opportunities ahead. **Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics**, v. 42, n. 1, p. 465-487, 2011. http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-102710-145115.

TARAZONA, E.; GARCÍA-ROGER, E. M.; CARMONA, M. J. Experimental evolution of bet hedging in rotifer diapause traits as a response to environmental unpredictability. **Oikos**, v. 126, n. 8, p. 1162-1172, 2017. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/oik.04186.

TINER, R. W. **Wetland Indicators**: A guide to wetland formation, identification, delineation, classification, and mapping. USA: CRC press, 2017.

VAN DAMME, K.; DUMONT, H. Cladocera of the Lençóis Maranhenses (NE - Brazil): faunal composition and a reappraisal of sars' method. **Brazilian Journal of Biology**, v. 70, n. 3, p. 755-779, 2010. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/s1519-69842010000400008.

VAN DER VALK, A. **The biology of freshwater wetlands**. New York: Oxford University Press, 2012.

VANDEKERKHOVE, J. *et al.* Hatching of cladoceran resting eggs: temperature and photoperiod. **Freshwater Biology**, v. 50, n. 1, p. 96-104, 2005. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2004.01312.x.

VANDYSH, O. I. Zooplankton as an Indicator of the State of Lake Ecosystems Polluted with Mining Wastewater in the Kola Peninsula. **Russian Journal of Ecology**, v. 35, n. 2, p. 110-116, 2004. http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/b:ruse.0000018936.56649.20.

VANOVERBEKE, J.; DE MEESTER, L. Within season short-term hatching delays suggest risk-spreading behaviour in populations of the freshwater cladoceran Daphnia. **Écoscience**, v. 16, n. 4, p. 441-451, 2009. http://dx.doi.org/10.2980/16-4-3254.

VANSCHOENWINKEL, B. *et al.* Community structure in temporary freshwater pools: disentangling the effects of habitat size and hydroregime. **Freshwater Biology**, v. 54, n. 7, p. 1487-1500, 2009. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2009.02198.x.

VANSCHOENWINKEL, B.; BUSCHKE, F.; BRENDONCK, L. Disturbance regime alters the impact of dispersal on alpha and beta diversity in a natural metacommunity. **Ecology**, v. 94, n. 11, p. 2547-2557, 2013. http://dx.doi.org/10.1890/12-1576.1.

VARGAS, A. L.; SANTANGELO, J. M.; BOZELLI, R. L. Hatching under brownification: doc-mediated changes in physical, but not chemical properties of water affect hatching patterns of cladocera resting eggs. **Environmental Science and Pollution Research**, 2022. http://dx.doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-899325/v1.

VARGAS, A. L.; SANTANGELO, J. M.; BOZELLI, R. L. Recovery from drought: viability and hatching patterns of hydrated and desiccated zooplankton resting eggs. **International Review of Hydrobiology**, v. 104, n. 1-2, p. 26-33, 2019. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/iroh.201801977.

VENDRAMIN, D. *et al.* Can the use of zooplankton dormant stages from natural wetlands contribute to restoration of mined wetlands? **Aquatic Ecology**, v. 55, n. 2, p. 681-693, 2021. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10452-021-09854-5.

VENDRAMIN, D. *et al.* Effects of the presence of annual killifish on the assemblage structure of resting stages of aquatic invertebrates in temporary ponds. **Limnetica**, v. 39, n. 1, p. 1-16, 2020. http://dx.doi.org/10.23818/limn.39.01.

VENDRAMIN, D. *et al.* Hatching dynamics of invertebrate dormant stages in temporary ponds are influenced by multiple hydrations. **Freshwater Science**, v. 41, n. 1, p. 143-152, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1086/719129.

WANG, C.; CHOU, L. Terminating dormancy: hatching phenology of sympatric large branchiopods in siangtian pond, a temporary wetland in Taiwan. **Journal of Crustacean Biology**, v. 35, n. 3, p. 301-308, 2015. http://dx.doi.org/10.1163/1937240x-00002322.

WANG, C.; ROGERS, D. C. Bet hedging in stochastic habitats: an approach through large branchiopods in a temporary wetland. **Oecologia**, v. 188, n. 4, p. 1081-1093, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-018-4272-6. WATERKEYN, A. *et al.* Constitutive but no Triops-induced differences in bet-hedging strategies for hatching in Daphnia. **Hydrobiologia**, v. 715, n. 1, p. 29-35, 2012. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10750-012-1299-2.

WATERKEYN, A. *et al.* Invertebrate community patterns in Mediterranean temporary wetlands along hydroperiod and salinity gradients. **Freshwater Biology**, v. 53, n. 9, p. 1808-1822, 2008. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2008.02005.x.

WESTLAKE, D.F.; KVET, J.; SZCZEPANSKI, A. **Ecology of wetlands**. IBP Wetlands Synthesis Volume. London: Cambidge University Press, 1988.

WETLAND SCIENCE INSTITUTE (WSI). Wetland Restoration, Enhancement, and Management. Washington D. C.: US Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service and Wetland Science Institute, 2003.

WIGGINS, G. B.; MACKAY, R. J.; SMITH, I. M. Evolutionary and ecological strategies of animals in annual temporary pools. Germany: Schweizerbart, 1980.

WILLIAMS, D. D. **The Biology of Temporary Waters**. New York: Oxford University Press, 2006.

WILLIAMS, D. D. Temporary ponds and their invertebrate communities. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems, v. 7, n. 2, p. 105-117, 1997. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/(sici)1099-0755(199706)7:23.0.co;2-k.

WILLIAMS, W. D. Biotic adaptations in temporary lentic waters, with special reference to those in semi-arid and arid regions. **Perspectives In Southern Hemisphere Limnology**, p. 85-110, 1985. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-94-009-5522-6_7.

WORTLEY, L.; HERO, J.; HOWES, M. Evaluating Ecological Restoration Success: a review of the literature. **Restoration Ecology**, v. 21, n. 5, p. 537-543, 2013. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/rec.12028.

XU, X. *et al.* Wetland ecosystem services research: A critical review. **Global Ecology and Conservation**, v. 22, p. e01027, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2020.e01027.

YANG, T. *et al.* Function, restoration, and ecosystem services of riverine wetlands in the temperate zone. **Ecological Engineering**, v. 96, p. 1-7, 2017. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2016.10.001.

YOUNG, J. Keys to the freshwater microturbellarians of Britain and Ireland: with notes on their ecology. United Kingdon: Freshwater Biological Association, 2001.

3 CAPÍTULO 1: HATCHING DYNAMICS OF INVERTEBRATE DORMANT STAGES IN TEMPORARY PONDS ARE INFLUENCED BY MULTIPLE HYDRATIONS

Artigo publicado no periódico *Freshwater Science* em 2022 (ISSN 2161-9565) Freshwater Science 41, 1, 143-152 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1086/719129.

Hatching dynamics of invertebrate dormant stages in temporary ponds are influenced by multiple hydrations

Daiane Vendramin^{1,6}, Mateus M. Pires^{1,7}, Raquel F. Freiry^{1,8}, Ana E. B. Schneider^{1,9}, Lidiane Martins^{1,10}, Elvio S. F. Medeiros^{2,11}, Odete Rocha^{3,4,12}, Cristina Stenert^{1,13}, and Leonardo Maltchik^{4,5,14}

¹Laboratório de Ecologia e Conservação de Ecossistemas Aquáticos, Universidade do Vale do Rio dos Sinos, Av Unisinos, 950, CEP 93.022-750, São Leopoldo, RS, Brazil

²Grupo Ecologia de Rios do Semiárido, Universidade Estadual da Paraíba, Rua Horácio Trajano de Oliveira, CEP 58.070-450, João Pessoa, PB, Brazil

³Departamento de Ecologia e Biologia Evolutiva, Universidade Federal de São Carlos, Via Washington Luiz, Km 235, CEP 13.565-905, São Carlos, SP, Brazil

⁴Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ecologia e Recursos Naturais, Universidade Federal de São Carlos, Via Washington Luiz, Km 235, CEP 13.565-905, São Carlos, SP, Brazil

⁵Programa de Pós-Graduação em Biologia de Ambientes Aquáticos Continentais, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande, Av Itália, Km 8, CEP 96.203-900, Rio Grande, RS, Brazil

Abstract: Dormancy termination in aquatic invertebrates depends on multiple environmental cues, notably hydration, and on the invertebrates' ability to respond to each new flooding event. Hatching of dormant stages is important to ecological processes in intermittent wetlands, such as recolonization of biota after dry periods and maintenance of foodweb dynamics. However, hatching responses of invertebrates to hydration cues can show considerable spatial and taxonomic variation, and consequences of this variation to the hatchling assemblage structure are still unclear. In this study, we tested how multiple hydrations in series affect hatching dynamics and assemblage structure of invertebrate fauna that hatch from sediments of temporary ponds. We hypothesized that variable responses to flooding among taxa would influence the hatchling assemblage structure. We predicted that hatchling richness would show little or no variation across hydration events but that hatchling composition would vary among hydration events. We performed an ex-situ hatching experiment to expose the sediments of 12 temporary ponds in the southern Brazilian Coastal Plain to a sequence of 3 hydration events and to induce hatching of invertebrates from dormant stages in the sediments. Hatchling composition, but not richness, differed among the 3 hydration events. Additionally, hatchling composition showed marked short-term variation within each hydration event. We showed that dormancy dynamics of aquatic invertebrates in subtropical temporary ponds are influenced by multiple hydration cues. Our results have important implications for biodiversity assessment and management of temporary ponds and for understanding the effects of changing hydrologic regimes on the ecological processes of intermittently flooded ecosystems.

Key words: environmental cues, invertebrate hatchlings, diapause breaking, dormant stages, microcrustaceans, Rotifera, wetlands

The natural wet–dry hydrological cycle of temporary wetlands strongly influences the adaptive strategies of aquatic organisms (Williams 2006). Invertebrates (e.g., microcrustaceans and rotifers) that inhabit temporary wetlands show a range of adaptations to cope with dry periods. One such adaptation is the production of specific dormant stages (as a result of diapausing strategies), which encompass a variety of protective structures that encase various resting forms (including resistance eggs) tolerant to unfavorable conditions (Gyllström and Hansson 2004, Alekseev et al. 2007, Santangelo 2009). These dormant stages accumulate over time in the sediment and form a resting egg bank that

E-mail addresses: ⁶daia_vendramin@hotmail.com; ⁷marquespiresm@gmail.com; ⁸quelfreiry@gmail.com; ⁹anabschneider@hotmail.com; ¹⁰lidianemartins616@ gmail.com; ¹¹elviomedeiros@hotmail.com; ¹²doro@ufscar.br; ¹³cstenert@unisinos.br; ¹⁴To whom correspondence should be addressed, maltchikleo@gmail .com

Received 25 May 2021; Accepted 6 December 2021; Published online 11 February 2022. Associate Editor, Leopold Füreder.

Freshwater Science, volume 41, number 1, March 2022. © 2022 The Society for Freshwater Science. All rights reserved. Published by The University of Chicago Press for the Society for Freshwater Science. https://doi.org/10.1086/719129 143

144 | Hatching dynamics over multiple hydrations D. Vendramin et al.

can remain viable for many years (Hairston 1996, Brendonck and De Meester 2003). In temporary wetlands, some of the dormant stages hatch after each new inundation (Brendonck and De Meester 2003, Gyllström and Hansson 2004). Diapause breaking and hatching dynamics in aquatic invertebrates are associated with sensitivity to cues, notably hydration, and to their ability to respond to each new flooding event (Nielsen 2000, Batzer and Boix 2016, Vargas et al. 2019), as well as to other endogenous and exogenous processes (Gyllström and Hansson 2004, Santangelo 2009, Iglesias et al. 2016). For example, hatching responses depend on a wide range of environmental cues related to local conditions, such as photoperiod and temperature, hydration time, and length of the dry period (Jones and Gilbert 2016, Eskinazi-Sant'anna and Pace 2018, Vargas et al. 2019, da Silva Bandeira et al. 2020).

In addition, many invertebrates in temporary wetlands show unsynchronized hatching strategies to avoid full depletion of their dormant structures (Simovich and Hathaway 1997, Williams 2006, Olofsson et al. 2009, Batzer and Boix 2016, Wang and Rogers 2018). This strategy is called bet hedging and may be observed in different taxa, such as Rotifera (García-Roger et al. 2014, Tarazona et al. 2017), microcrustaceans (Simovich and Hathaway 1997, Philippi et al. 2001, Vanoverbeke and De Meester 2009, Rossi et al. 2012, Pinceel et al. 2017), Tardigrada (Guidetti et al. 2011), and the genus Aedes (Khatchikian et al. 2010). The Branchiopoda class, for example, hatches a limited fraction of their dormant stage bank at each flood cycle, preventing all eggs from hatching after a single flood (Simovich and Hathaway 1997, Rogers 2014, Wang and Chou 2015, Beladjal and Mertens 2017, Sabnis et al. 2017). Therefore, the hatching responses of invertebrates to flooding events, as well as to flooding exposure, show considerable spatial and taxonomic variation (Arnott and Yan 2002, García-Roger et al. 2006), and our understanding of bet-hedging strategies is unclear.

The hatching of dormant stages is fundamental for the recolonization of biota after dry periods (Santangelo et al. 2011, Eskinazi-Sant'anna and Pace 2018) and affects the richness and composition of the active assemblage (Hairston et al. 2000, Santangelo et al. 2014, Vargas et al. 2019, Portinho et al. 2021). Therefore, alterations in the patterns of zooplankton hatching dynamics can have ripple effects on foodweb dynamics of aquatic ecosystems (Winder and Schindler 2004, Woodward et al. 2010), which makes understanding hatching responses to hydration important to wetland ecology.

In this study, we assessed the hatching dynamics of invertebrate fauna hatching from the sediment of subtropical temporary ponds across multiple hydration events. We sought to understand differences in aquatic invertebrate assemblage richness and composition during sequential hydration events in temporary ponds located in the southern Brazilian Coastal Plain. To do so we 1) compared patterns in richness and composition of invertebrate taxa across 3 hydration events and 2) evaluated short-term temporal variation in hatchling composition within each hydration event. The dormant stages present in sediments likely represent accumulation of several generations of invertebrates (Hairston 1996, Jeppesen et al. 2002, Brendonck and De Meester 2003), and a portion of the species in the sediment likely show non-synchronic hatching patterns related to bet-hedging strategies (Simovich and Hathaway 1997, Philippi et al. 2001, Williams 2006, Olofsson et al. 2009, Wang and Rogers 2018). The tendency of these invertebrate taxa to avoid full depletion of their resting banks could lead to a similar number of species hatching after single flood events (instead of marked decreases or increases in richness with hydrations); however, given that sensitivity to hydration cues likely varies among invertebrate species, not all species are expected to synchronically hatch across hydrations. Therefore, we expected hatchling richness would show little or no variation among hydration events, but hatchling composition would differ among hydration events. Also, differences in life-history strategies and sensitivity to hydration cues among invertebrate species suggest that hatching rates vary with hydration exposure (De Stasio 2004, Gilbert and Schröder 2004, García-Roger et al. 2006); therefore, we also expected that the composition of hatchling assemblages would show short-term temporal variation within each hydration event.

METHODS

To answer our research questions, we performed an exsitu hatching experiment with the sediments of environmentally heterogeneous, subtropical temporary ponds in southern Brazil. We exposed the sediment samples of 12 ponds to a sequence of 3 hydration events (40-d duration each) and collected and identified invertebrate hatchlings that emerged over each hydration. We used mixed modelling approaches and multivariate ordination techniques to assess differences in richness and composition, respectively, among hydration events.

Study area and sampling sites

We collected sediments from 12 temporary ponds distributed over ~520 km across the southern Brazilian Coastal Plain (states of Santa Catarina and Rio Grande do Sul; Fig. 1). The landscape of the Coastal Plain is characterized by low altitudes (<20 m) and sedimentary geomorphology (Villwock and Tomazelli 2007). The climate is humid subtropical without a dry season (Köppen classification: Cfa), with mean annual precipitation ranging from 1000 to 1600 mm and cold (mean temperature 10–14°C) and warm (22–26°C) seasons (Alvares et al. 2013). Several different natural wetland types are present in the Coastal Plain, such as marshes, coastal and inland lagoons, ponds, and floodplains (Maltchik



Figure 1. Locations of the 12 sampled temporary ponds (numbered squares) in the southern Brazilian Coastal Plain. Latitude and longitude are indicated along the bottom and left sides of the map. Shaded area in the inset map indicates the study region within Brazil.

et al. 2003). We selected seasonal ponds with little variation in their hydroperiods (all eventually dry out in the summer) and with presence of aquatic vegetation. These ponds were part of previous studies on the diversity and distribution of aquatic invertebrates in the region, including zooplankton taxa (Freiry et al. 2020a, b, 2021, Bacca et al. 2021, Pires et al. 2021). The ponds were affected by low levels of anthropogenic disturbance (mainly non-intensive livestock grazing), had mean surface flooding areas of 0.25 ha (range: 0.05–0.8 ha) and mean depths of 0.5 m (range: 0.1–0.7 m) (Freiry et al. 2020a, b, 2021).

Sediment sampling and experimental procedures

We sampled sediments from all 12 ponds and prepared it for use in hydration experiments. All sample collection was done in October 2016, a period corresponding to the late wet phase of the studied ponds, that is, southern hemisphere late spring and early summer (Knauth et al. 2019). In each pond, we collected 10 randomly distributed sediment subsamples with a core (7.5-cm diameter) inserted 5 cm deep into the sediment. We pooled subsamples to compose a single sediment sample from each pond. We packed the sampled material in 5-L plastic bags and transported them to the laboratory (Freiry et al. 2020b). In the lab, we sieved samples (1-mm-diameter mesh) to remove roots and leaves and homogenized them by carefully stirring with a spoon. We dehydrated the samples in a dark oven at 40°C for 96 h and subsequently stored the dry sediment samples in dark plastic bags at ambient temperature (~23°C) until beginning the experiment.

We performed 3 incubation/hydration experiments. At the start of the experiment, we allocated the sediment samples from each pond (volume ~800 g of dry sediment/pond) into 12 trays with dimensions of 30 cm length, 22.1 cm width, and 7.5 cm height. The 1st hydration event (H1) began in August 2017, the 2nd hydration event (H2) in March 2019, and the 3rd hydration event (H3) in September 2019. Each incubation/hydration experiment followed the same methodology from previous works by our study group (Freiry et al. 2020a, b, 2021, Vendramin et al. 2020). Briefly, each incubation/hydration experiment had a duration of 40 d and consisted of keeping the sediments submerged under deionized water (2-cm water column) in each tray with constant levels of dissolved oxygen (6 mg/L), temperature $(23 \pm 2^{\circ}C)$, and photoperiod (12-h light/12-h dark) (Stenert et al. 2010, Ávila et al. 2015). Immediately after the conclusion of H1 and H2, we dehydrated the sediments. See Freiry et al. (2020a, b, 2021) and Vendramin et al. (2020) for more detailed posthydration sediment-preservation methods.

During each hydration experiment, we collected and identified hatchlings of aquatic invertebrate taxa. Hatchlings were collected $3 \times / wk$ (at 2–3-d intervals; 17 collections/hydration event) by stirring up the sediment and then sweeping the disturbed water (3 sweeps/tray) with a hand net (mesh size = 53 μ m) of the same width as the travs (22.1 cm). Immediately after retrieval, we collected and identified hatchlings. All materials captured by the mesh were transferred to Bogorov plates (Limnotec, São Carlos, Brazil) and observed under a stereomicroscope (Stemi 2000; Zeiss, Göttingen, Germany). Dormant structures that were accidentally collected were returned to the trays. We transferred the collected individuals to slides specifically prepared for the identification of individuals, which had 1 drop of glycerin to assist in the identification of characteristic structures, (e.g., antennas, antennules, post-abdomen). We identified hatchlings to the finest resolution possible (species or genus level, sometimes morphotypes) with the aid of a microscope (model MIC-100, S $20-40 \times$ magnification; Marte Científica®, Santa Rita do Sapucaí, Brazil). Identification was carried out with the help of specialized literature (Koste 1978, Elmoor-Loureiro 1997, Gazulha 2012) and the aid of taxonomists. For preservation, we transferred collected individuals to 1.5-mL microtubes (polypropylene) containing aqueous solution with 4% formaldehyde for Rotifera, 80% ethanol with the addition of a drop of glycerin for Ostracoda, or 80% ethanol for the other groups (Freiry et al. 2016, Stenert et al. 2017). Individuals are archived in the collection at the Laboratory of Ecology and Conservation of Aquatic Ecosystems of Universidade do Vale do Rio dos Sinos.

Analysis of aquatic invertebrate richness

We assessed the variation in invertebrate richness across hydration events with generalized linear mixed-effect models (GLMMs). We considered hydration event as a fixed factor and pond identity as a random factor to account for any effect of site on richness. The response variable was the total richness/pond, defined as the final number of identified species or taxonomic groups at the end of each hydration (sum of the 17 invertebrate samples for each hydration event). Because of the discrete response variable, the GLMM models were fitted with Poisson distribution (log link function). We compared models with and without fixed effects and used Wald's Chi-square tests (with a threshold of 5%; $p \le 0.05$) to assess the potential role of the hydration factor in explaining variation in the response variable (richness). We used the car (version 3.0-10; Fox and Weisberg 2019) and afex (version 0.28-0; Singmann et al. 2021) packages in the statistical environment R (version 3.6.3; R Project for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) to run the GLMMs.

Analysis of invertebrate composition across hydrations

We used partial distance-based redundancy analysis (dbRDA; Legendre and Anderson 1999) with the vegan package (version 2.5-6; Oksanen et al. 2019) in R to test the effects of the hydration events on the composition of invertebrates that emerged from the sediment. We used a Sørensen dissimilarity matrix as the response dataset in dbRDA, which is effective for assessing differences between groups in multivariate space for non-Euclidean data, such as species assemblage composition (Legendre and Anderson 1999, Legendre and Legendre 2012). We calculated the dissimilarity matrix from presence-absence data of hatchling composition, rather than species abundances, to avoid any potential influence of parthenogenesis over the experiment. Pond identity was used as a conditioning variable in the main model to partial out the potential influence of pond identity in the variation in assemblage composition. We tested the significance of the dbRDA using a randomization approach (999 permutations). Finally, we used a multivariate analysis of percentage similarity (SIM-PER, 999 permutations; Clarke 1993) to identify the taxa that contributed most to the differences between each pair of hydration events.

Analysis of invertebrate composition within hydrations

We used non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) ordinations for each hydration event to visually evaluate the temporal variation in the composition of invertebrates that emerged from sediments. Ordinations were based on 2 axes, after 20 random initial configurations and assessment of stress values (via investigation of scree plots) to ensure adequate representation of the original dissimilarities (threshold = 0.2; Legendre and Legendre 2012). We used dissimilarity matrices derived from the binomial coefficient, which is appropriate for computation of nonmetric ordinations based on binary data (e.g., presence–absence composition datasets) (Anderson and Millar 2004). We generated the NMDS ordination biplots with the *vegan* package in R.

RESULTS

Diversity of invertebrate hatchlings

We collected 29,863 individuals from 62 taxa across all hydration events (Figs S1–S3). The most frequent taxa were: *Brachionus quadridentatus* (Hermann, 1783) (54.8%), *Ovalona glabra* (Sars, 1901) (12.4%), Bdelloidea (11.6%), and *Lecane bulla* (Gosse, 1851) (9.9%).

Forty-eight taxa hatched in H1, 34 taxa in H2, and 33 taxa in H3 (Figs 2, S1–S3). Cladocera and Rotifera were the dominant groups across all hydration events (H1: 26 taxa of Cladocera and 11 taxa of Rotifera; H2: 19 taxa of Cladocera and 7 taxa of Rotifera; H3: 15 taxa of Cladocera and 10 taxa of Rotifera). Other taxa included Copepoda, Ostracoda, Anostraca, Oribatida, Diptera, Tardigrada, Nematoda, Platyhelminthes, and Oligochaeta.

Overall, 31 taxa (50%) hatched in multiple hydration events (i.e., 2 or 3 events): 22 taxa (34.5%) hatched in all 3 hydration events, and 9 taxa (14.5%) hatched in 2 hydration events. Nauplii of Calanoida, Ephemeroporus spp., Platyhelminthes sp1. and Dipleuchlanis propatula hatched only in H1 and H2. B. quadridentatus (Rotifera) hatched in H1 and H3. Metalimnadia spp., Ephemeroporus hibridus, and Keratella spp. hatched in H2 and H3. Another 31 taxa hatched in a single hydration event. Specifically, Platyhelminthes sp2, Platyhelminthes sp3, Simocephalus spp., S. serrulatus, Ceriodaphnia spp., C. quadrangula, Grimaldina spp., Moina spp., Bosmina spp., Diaphanosoma spp., Dicranophorus spp., and Monommata spp. were only observed in H1. Three Cladoceran taxa (Karualona muelleri, Chydorus pubencens, Chydorus spp.) and larval Psychodidae (Diptera) hatched only in H2, whereas Kurzia polyspina (Cladocera), Branchinecta spp. (Anostraca), Aedes sp. (Diptera), and the Monogonont rotifers Notomata spp., Lepadella spp., and Ptygura spp. hatched only in H3 (Figs 2, S1–S3).

Invertebrate assemblages across hydration events

Our predictions on the richness and composition of invertebrate assemblages across hydration events were both supported by the results. Observed richness of aquatic invertebrates emerging from the sediment did not differ among hydration events (Wald's Chi-square test = 0.74, p = 0.435; Fig. 3). The composition of invertebrate taxa differed among hydration events ($F_{2,35} = 2.788$, $R^2 = 0.127$, p < 0.001; Fig. 4).

Additionally, some taxa were more associated with pairwise dissimilarities between hydration events (SIMPER; Table S1). For instance, the dissimilarity between H1 and H2 was accounted for by *Lecane* spp. and *Dipleuchlanis propatula*, the cladocerans *Ceriodaphnia quadrangula*, *Moina* spp., and *Chydorus eurynotus*, and individuals of Oligochaeta. The dissimilarity between H1 and H3 was accounted for by *Euchlanis* spp. The dissimilarity between H2 and H3 was accounted for by *Lecane* spp., *Keratella* spp., Ostracoda, and Tardigrada.

Platyholminthes on 1-		4			
Platylie initial sp. 1	I	1			
Platyneimintnes sp.2	0				
Platynelmintnes sp.3	°				
Oligochaeta -	0				
Aelostomatidae ⁻			0		
Nematoda ⁻	0	0	0		
Tardigrada -	0		o		
Aedes spp					
Chironomidae	o				
Boychodidae					
Psychodidae					
Oribatidae	Ĭ	Ĭ	Ĭ		
Ostracoda	Ĭ				
Bosmina spp.	0				
Alona ossiani -	0				
Anthalona spp	0	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	0		
Chydorus eurynotus -	0				
Chydorus pubescens -		0			
Chydorus spp					
Ephemeroporus barroisi -	• · · · ·	•	•		
Ephemeroporus hybridus					
Enhomoronorus son		0			
Karualona muellori					
Kurzia polyspina -					
Leberis davidi	0	5			
Leydigia striata -	0		0		
Leydigiopsis ornata -	0				
Magnospina dentifera -	0	•	0		
Ovalona glabra -	0	o	o		
Oxyurella longicaudis -	0	·	o		
Parvalona parva -	ф	•	•		
Ceriodaphnia quadrangula -	0				
Ceriodaphnia spp					
Simoconhalus serrulatus -					
Simocenhalus son -	Ī				
Dunhavadia adaptanlay	Ĭ				
	Ĭ		Ĭ		
nyocryptus spinifer -	l				
Grimaldina freyi	0				
Grimaidina spp	0				
Macrothrix elegans -	9	•	0		
Macrothrix squamosa ⁻	¢	•			
Streblocerus pygmaeus -	0	0	.		
Moina spp	0				
Diaphanosoma spp	•				
Calanoida nauplii	o				
Metalimnadia spp					
Branchinecta spp					
Dendrocephalus spp					
Brachionus quadridentatus					
Keratella spp.					
Platvias quadricornis					
Dierenenherve onn					
Dicranophorus spp	0				
Dipieucinanis propatula -	о 	0			
Euchianis spp	0	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	0		
Ptygura spp			0		
Lecane bulla -		þ	0		
Lecane ludwigii -					
Lecane spp		•			
Lepadella spp			o		
Cephalodella spp.		þ			
Monommata spp	•				
Notomata snn -					
Ddolloidaa					
Duenoidea					
H1 H2 H3 Hvdration event					

Invertebrate taxa

Figure 2. Bubble chart with the occurrence of the invertebrate taxa that hatched from the sediments of 12 temporary ponds in the southern Brazilian Coastal Plain across the 3 hydration events.



Figure 3. Barplot of the mean taxonomic richness (log-mean values) of invertebrate hatchlings that emerged from the sediments of 12 temporary ponds in the southern Brazilian Coastal Plain across the 3 hydration events. Error bars indicate 1 SD.

Temporal variation in hatchling composition within hydration events

The composition of the invertebrate assemblage emerging from the sediment varied across each hydration event (as shown by NMDS). The NMDS ordinations fitted the composition data of each hydration event fairly well for H1 (stress = 0.13) and very well for H2 (stress = 0.04) and H3 (stress = 0.09). In general, the composition of invertebrate hatchlings tended to differ from the early days after hydration to the end of each experiment (Figs. S4-S6). Specifically, in H1, the Calanoida nauplii Euchlanis spp. and D. propatula were associated with the beginning of the experiment (5-12 d after hydration). Several species associated with the later period of H1 were O. glabra (19-40 d), C. eurynotus (33-38 d), and L. bulla (35 and 40 d) (Fig. S4). In H2, several taxa were associated with the first 26 d after hydration (e.g., Cephalodella spp., Euchlanis spp., and D. propatula), whereas other taxa were associated with the period beginning 28 d after hydration, such as L. bulla (28-40 d), Streblocerus pygmaeus (31-40 d), and O. glabra (38-40 d) (Fig. S5). In H2, Bdelloidea was observed only during the early days of hydration (5 -21 d). Finally, in H3, many taxa were associated with the period beginning 19 d after hydration, such as O. glabra, Leydigia striata, and B. quadridentatus (Fig. S6).

DISCUSSION

In this study, we assessed the hatching dynamics of the dormant stages of invertebrates emerging from the sediment of temporary ponds across 3 hydration events. We found that hatching dynamics of invertebrates in subtropical temporary ponds varied across multiple sequential hydration events. Our results showed that, as expected, hatchling composition differed among the 3 hydrations, but hatchling richness did not. Additionally, hatchling composition showed marked short-term variation within each hydration. These unsynchronized hatching strategies, even under similar hatching cues, suggests that invertebrates in the study area may use bet-hedging strategies to avoid depleting their bank of dormant propagules after a single hydration event. Our findings offer insights into the potential effects of changing hydrologic regimes, due to climate change, on aquatic invertebrate dormancy-breaking cue responses and strategies, which may have implications for trophic dynamics in temporary ponds.

Effects of repeated hydrations on invertebrate assemblages

As predicted, hatchling richness did not vary across hydrations. We made this prediction because previous research indicates that hatching responses of zooplankton taxa can vary among taxa according to a range of different environmental cues (such as the degree of intermittency of each site, abiotic and intrinsic factors associated with the



Figure 4. Distance-based RDA (dbRDA) ordination diagram of the taxonomic composition of invertebrate hatchlings that emerged from the sediments of all 12 temporary ponds in the southern Brazilian Coastal Plain for each the 3 hydration events. Icons indicate individual ponds, and hulls enclose clusters of ponds from each hydration event.

biology of each invertebrate species; Nielsen 2000, Santangelo 2009, Iglesias et al. 2016). As for the role of the intermittent flood events, they may represent negative stimuli for the hatching of the entire bank of resting stages for most species occurring in the sediment of intermittently flooded habitats (Nielsen 2000). Repeated hatching in more than 1 hydration event could be related to a strategy of these invertebrate taxa to avoid full depletion of their resting banks after single flood events. This strategy of variable hatching across hydration events suggests a tradeoff that favors the long-term maintenance of a population over depleting the resting egg bank after a single flooding event (Olofsson et al. 2009, Vanschoenwinkel et al. 2010). In fact, our results showed that $<\frac{1}{3}$ (27%) of the invertebrate taxa recorded in our experiments hatched in a single hydration event.

In addition to variation in flooding period, other abiotic factors (e.g., wet area, temperature, pH, luminosity) can affect the response of each taxon (i.e., to hatch or not; Brendonck and De Meester 2003, Vanoverbeke and De Meester 2009, Jones and Gilbert 2016, Paes et al. 2016, Eskinazi-Sant'anna and Pace 2018). Pond hydroperiod, habitat, climatic predictors, spatial scale, and predation pressure have all been found to influence assemblage structure of invertebrates that emerge from dormant stages in ponds and rice fields in the study region (Ávila et al. 2015, Stenert et al. 2017, Freiry et al. 2020b, 2021, Vendramin et al. 2020). Additionally, some species in the sediments may produce dormant stages that have shorter viability timeframes (García-Roger et al. 2006, Araújo et al. 2013). These multiple factors could synergistically limit the number of species hatching after individual hydration events at the assemblage level. We expected, therefore, that not all species present in the sediment would simultaneously hatch in each hydration event, thus hindering the detection of clear trends of increased or decreased hatchling richness across hydration events.

In addition to unsynchronized hatching patterns, temporal variation in composition may also be explained by differences in the life cycles of invertebrates and their individual responses to environmental conditions along the cycle of temporary flooding events (Florencio et al. 2016). For instance, Simovich and Hathaway (1997) showed that Branchinecta sandiegonensis cysts did not hatch after a single hydration in the laboratory. Delayed hatching responses have been reported for populations of Daphnia magna in semipermanent environments (Vanoverbeke and De Meester 2009), and rotifers are known to adopt non-synchronized hatching in intermittent environments (García-Roger et al. 2014, 2017). The variation we found in assemblage composition among hydration events could, therefore, reflect the range of individual strategies of the species present in the resting egg bank.

The hatching patterns we observed across hydrations suggest that dormancy-breaking strategies used by the spe-

cies present are consistent with the bet-hedging theory (Slatkin 1974, Gillespie 1977, Olofsson et al. 2009), which describes the partial hatching strategies used by some species in unpredictable environments (Slatkin 1974, Olofsson et al. 2009). In our experiment, 12% of the invertebrate taxa hatched in \geq 2 hydration events, suggesting that these taxa avoided depleting their reserve bank after a single hydration event. This result is broadly similar to a recent study's findings that resting egg clutches of invertebrate taxa only partially hatched after a sequence of identical hatching cues (Pinceel et al. 2021).

Temporal variation in composition within each hydration event

In addition to variation in hatching dynamics over the series of hydration events, the composition of the hatchling invertebrate taxa showed temporal variation throughout each hydration. For example, Anostraca and Copepoda hatched at the beginning of hydration events, whereas Cladocera hatched in the latter ½ of each event. This pattern was similar to findings by da Silva Bandeira et al. (2020), who found that the hatching of specific invertebrate taxa occurred at different times during the hydration period, with various Cladoceran taxa hatching from the middle to the late phase of hydration. Second, there was a general trend of greater hatching toward the end of the hydration for all 3 events, with a slight trend of earlier hatching in H3. These results support findings of other recent studies using ex-situ approaches, which also showed invertebrate taxa hatching in the late period of a flood cycle, likely as a response of the assemblage to the intermittent nature of the aquatic environment (Wang and Chou 2015, Eskinazi-Sant'anna and Pace 2018, da Silva Bandeira et al. 2020).

The delayed hatching observed in our study could be a response to the unpredictability of environmental conditions typical of intermittently flooded habitats (Vanoverbeke and De Meester 2009). Our findings suggest that species used strategies analogous to diversified bet hedging (i.e., more than a single hatching strategy; Pinceel et al. 2017, 2021, Wang and Rogers 2018). Even though some species hatched in >1 hydration event, the fact that partial hatching was not consistent across ponds and varied temporally within each hydration event suggests that some taxa used different hatching strategies across the study area and over time.

LIMITATIONS AND DIRECTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

It is important to note that the outcomes of our study depended on the experimental procedures used to assess hatching dynamics and the composition of dormant stages in the sediments of temporary ponds. For instance, we used a series of 3 hydration events, but we did not assess the effects of differing numbers of sequential hydration events

150 | Hatching dynamics over multiple hydrations D. Vendramin et al.

on hatching dynamics. Our finding that some species used delayed hatching strategies suggests that the inclusion of additional hydration events may provide a more accurate assessment of the biodiversity of the resting egg bank and of hatching patterns across different numbers of hydration events. We also did not assess the effect of differing lengths of dry periods between hydration events, which could affect hatching dynamics of species that use bet-hedging strategies or those that have differing dormant stage viability periods. Therefore, we suggest experimentally varying the length of dry periods between flooding events as an interesting avenue for future research on the dynamics and biodiversity of the dormant stages of wetland invertebrates.

Broader implications

Our results help inform our understanding of dormancybreaking strategies of aquatic invertebrates that produce dormant stages. Our study also offers insight toward better understanding the potential effects of changing hydrologic regimes on aquatic invertebrate dormancy-breaking cue responses and strategies and the resulting dynamics of ecological processes in temporary ponds. Specifically, the likely variation in precipitation regimes of temporary ponds as a result of climate change can be expected to alter the hatching patterns of invertebrates, which, in turn, may affect the foodweb structure and invertebrate composition in temporary wetlands.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Author contributions: DV, RFF, AEBS, and LiM conducted the experimental procedures and carried out specimen identification. DV and MMP conducted the data analysis and participated in the drafting of the manuscript. CS and LeM conceived the research ideas, coordinated the project and revised the manuscript. ESFM and OR revised the manuscript.

This study was funded by Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq; 305475/2018-5). The Coordination for the Improvement of Higher Education Personnel granted a PhD scholarship to DV. MMP was granted a postdoctoral fellowship by CNPq (grant numbers #159829/2019-4, #165529/ 2020-2). LeM and CS have been continuously supported by CNPq via Research Productivity grants. We declare that the data collection complied with current Brazilian environmental laws (SISBIO - n. 36365-2).

LITERATURE CITED

- Alekseev, V. R., B. T. de Stastio, and J. J. Gilbert (editors). 2007. Diapause in aquatic invertebrates theory and human use. 1st edition. Springer, Dordrecht, The Netherlands.
- Alvares, C. A., J. L. Stape, P. C. Sentelhas, J. L. de Moraes Gonçalves, and G. Sparovek. 2013. Köppen's climate classification map for Brazil. Meteorologische Zeitschrift 22:711–728.
- Anderson, M. J., and R. B. Millar. 2004. Spatial variation and effects of habitat on temperate reef fish assemblages in north-

eastern New Zealand. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 305:191–221.

- Araújo, L. R., P. M. Lopes, J. M. Santangelo, A. C. Petry, and R. L. Bozelli. 2013. Zooplankton resting egg banks in permanent and temporary tropical aquatic systems. Acta Limnologica Brasiliensia 25:235–245.
- Arnott, S. E., and N. D. Yan. 2002. The influence of drought and reacidification on zooplankton emergence from resting stages. Ecological Applications 12:138–153.
- Ávila, A. C., T. Boelter, R. M. Santos, C. Stenert, N. L. Würdig, O. Rocha, and L. Maltchik. 2015. The effects of different rice cultivation systems and ages on resting stages of wetland invertebrates in southern Brazil. Marine and Freshwater Research 66:276–285.
- Bacca, R. C., M. M. Pires, L. F. B. Moreira, C. Stenert, and L. Maltchik. 2021. The role of environmental and spatial factors in the assembly of aquatic insect communities in southern Brazilian temporary ponds. Austral Ecology 46:228–238.
- Batzer, D., and D. Boix. 2016. An introduction to freshwater wetlands and their invertebrates. Pages 1–23 in D. Batzer and D. Boix (editors). Invertebrates in freshwater wetlands. Springer International Publishing, Cham, Switzerland.
- Beladjal, L., and J. Mertens. 2017. Risk reduction strategies in *Branchipus schaefferi* (Crustacea: Anostraca: Branchiopoda) as adaptation to a variable environment. Hydrobiologia 801:153–163.
- Brendonck, L., and L. De Meester. 2003. Egg banks in freshwater zooplankton: Evolutionary and ecological archives in the sediment. Hydrobiologia 491:65–84.
- Clarke, K. R. 1993. Non-parametric multivariate analyses of changes in community structure. Austral Ecology 18:117–143.
- da Silva Bandeira, M. G., K. P. Martins, C. Palma-Silva, L. U. Hepp, and E. F. Albertoni. 2020. Hydration time influences microcrustacean hatching in intermittent wetlands: In situ and ex situ approaches. Hydrobiologia 847:3227–3245.
- De Stasio, B. T. 2004. Diapause in calanoid copepods: Withinclutch hatching patterns. Journal of Limnology 63:26–31.
- Elmoor-Loureiro, L. M. A. 1997. Manual de identificação dos Cladóceros Límnicos do Brasil. Editora Universa, Universidade Católica de Brasília, Brasília, Brazil.
- Eskinazi-Sant'anna, E. M., and M. L. Pace. 2018. The potential of the zooplankton resting-stage bank to restore communities in permanent and temporary waterbodies. Journal of Plankton Research 40:458–470.
- Florencio, M., C. Díaz-Paniagua, and L. Serrano. 2016. Relationships between hydroperiod length, and seasonal and spatial patterns of beta-diversity of the microcrustacean assemblages in Mediterranean ponds. Hydrobiologia 774:109–121.
- Fox, J., and S. Weisberg. 2019. An R companion to applied regression. 3rd edition. Sage, Thousand Oaks, California.
- Freiry, R. F., F. M. Esquinatti, C. Stenert, A. Arenzon, D. L. Nielsen, and L. Maltchik. 2016. Effects of spatial scale and habitat on the diversity of diapausing wetland invertebrates. Aquatic Biology 25:173–181.
- Freiry, R. F., A. Gouvea, J. Becker, F. A. Lansac-Tôha, F. M. Lansac-Tôha, M. M. Pires, C. Stenert, and L. Maltchik. 2020a. Community structure and concordance patterns among zooplankton life stages in subtropical temporary ponds. Aquatic Ecology 54:257–270.

- Freiry, R. F., M. M. Pires, A. Gouvea, P. H. O. Hoffman, C. Stenert, and L. Maltchik. 2021. Ecological correlates of the alpha and beta diversity of zooplankton hatchling communities in seasonal subtropical ponds. Ecological Research 36:464– 477.
- Freiry, R. F., V. Weber, C. C. Bonecker, F. A. Lansac-Tôha, M. M. Pires, C. Stenert, and L. Maltchik. 2020b. Additive partitioning of the diversity of the dormant zooplankton communities in intermittent ponds along a forest–grassland transition. Hydrobiologia 847:1327–1342.
- García-Roger, E. M., M. J. Carmona, and M. Serra. 2006. Hatching and viability of rotifer diapausing eggs collected from pond sediments. Freshwater Biology 51:1351–1358.
- García-Roger, E. M., M. J. Carmona, and M. Serra. 2017. Modes, mechanisms and evidence of bet hedging in rotifer diapause traits. Hydrobiologia 796:223–233.
- García-Roger, E. M., M. Serra, and M. J. Carmona. 2014. Bethedging in diapausing egg hatching of temporary rotifer populations—A review of models and new insights. International Review of Hydrobiology 99:96–106.
- Gazulha, V. 2012. Zooplâncton límnico manual ilustrado. Technical Books, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.
- Gilbert, J. J., and T. Schröder. 2004. Rotifers from diapausing, fertilized eggs: Unique features and emergence. Limnology and Oceanography 49:1341–1354.
- Gillespie, J. H. 1977. Natural selection for variances in offspring numbers: A new evolutionary principle. The American Naturalist 111:1010–1014.
- Guidetti, R., T. Altiero, and L. Rebecchi. 2011. On dormancy strategies in tardigrades. Journal of Insect Physiology 57:567–576.
- Gyllström, M., and L. A. Hansson. 2004. Dormancy in freshwater zooplankton: Induction, termination and the importance of benthic-pelagic coupling. Aquatic Sciences 66:274–295.
- Hairston, N. G. 1996. Zooplankton egg banks as biotic reservoirs in changing environments. Limnology and Oceanography 41: 1087–1092.
- Hairston, N. G., A. M. Hansen, and W. R. Schaffner. 2000. The effect of diapause emergence on the seasonal dynamics of a zooplankton assemblage. Freshwater Biology 45:133–145.
- Iglesias, C., C. Bonecker, L. Brandão, M. C. Crispim, E. M. Eskinazi-Sant'Anna, M. Gerhard, J. Laço Portinho, P. Maia-Barbosa, E. Panarelli, and J. M. Santangelo. 2016. Current knowledge of South American cladoceran diapause: A brief review. International Review of Hydrobiology 101:91–104.
- Jeppesen, E., J. P. Jensen, S. Amsinck, F. Landkildehus, T. Lauridsen, and S. F. Mitchell. 2002. Reconstructing the historical changes in *Daphnia* mean size and planktivorous fish abundance in lakes from the size of *Daphnia* ephippia in the sediment. Journal of Paleolimnology 27:133–143.
- Jones, N. T., and B. Gilbert. 2016. Changing climate cues differentially alter zooplankton dormancy dynamics across latitudes. Journal of Animal Ecology 85:559–569.
- Khatchikian, C. E., J. J. Dennehy, C. J. Vitek, and T. P. Livdahl. 2010. Environmental effects on bet hedging in Aedes mosquito egg hatch. Evolutionary Ecology 24:1159–1169.
- Knauth, D. S., M. M. Pires, C. Stenert, and L. Maltchik. 2019. Disentangling the role of niche-based and spatial processes on anuran beta diversity in temporary ponds along a forest– grassland transition. Aquatic Sciences 81:63.

- Koste, W. 1978. Rotatoria: Die Rädertiere Mitteleuropas. Überordnung Monogononta. 2nd edition. Borntraeger Brothers, Stuttgart, Germany.
- Legendre, P., and M. J. Anderson. 1999. Distance-based redundancy analysis: Testing multispecies responses in multifactorial ecological experiments. Ecological Monographs 69:1–24.
- Legendre, P., and L. F. Legendre. 2012. Numerical ecology. 3rd edition. Elsevier, Amsterdam, The Netherlands.
- Maltchik, L., E. Schneider, G. Becker, and A. Escobar. 2003. Inventory of wetlands of Rio Grande do Sul (Brazil). Pesquisas: Botânica 53:89–100.
- Nielsen, D. L. 2000. Impact of water regime and fish predation on zooplankton resting egg production and emergence. Journal of Plankton Research 22:433–446.
- Oksanen, J., F. G. Blanchet, M. Friendly, R. Kindt, P. Legendre, D. McGlinn, P. R. Minchin, R. B. O'Hara, G. L. Simpson, P. Solymos, M. H. H. Stevens, E. Szoecs, and H. Wagner. 2019. *vegan*: Community ecology package. (Available from: https:// cran.r-project.org/web/packages/vegan/index.html)
- Olofsson, H., J. Ripa, and N. Jonzén. 2009. Bet-hedging as an evolutionary game: The trade-off between egg size and number. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 276: 2963–2969.
- Paes, T. A. S. V., A. C. Rietzler, D. G. F. Pujoni, and P. M. Maia-Barbosa. 2016. High temperatures and absence of light affect the hatching of resting eggs of *Daphnia* in the tropics. Anais da Academia Brasileira de Ciencias 88:179–186.
- Philippi, T. E., M. A. Simovich, E. T. Bauder, and J. A. Moorad. 2001. Habitat ephemerality and hatching fractions of a diapausing anostracan (Crustacea: Branchiopoda). Israel Journal of Zoology 47:387–395.
- Pinceel, T., F. Buschke, A. Geerts, J. Vanoverbeke, L. Brendonck, and B. Vanschoenwinkel. 2021. An empirical confirmation of diversified bet hedging as a survival strategy in unpredictably varying environments. Ecology 102:e03496.
- Pinceel, T., B. Vanschoenwinkel, W. Hawinkel, K. Tuytens, and L. Brendonck. 2017. Aridity promotes bet hedging via delayed hatching: A case study with two temporary pond crustaceans along a latitudinal gradient. Oecologia 184:161–170.
- Pires, M. M., M. G. Grech, C. Stenert, L. Maltchik, L. B. Epele, K. I. McLean, J. M. Kneitel, D. A. Bell, H. S. Greig, C. R. Gagne, and D. P. Batzer. 2021. Does taxonomic and numerical resolution affect the assessment of invertebrate community structure in New World freshwater wetlands? Ecological Indicators 125: 107437.
- Portinho, J. L., H. N. Oliveira, and C. C. Z. Branco. 2021. Resting egg banks can facilitate recovery of zooplankton communities after short exposure to glyphosate. Ecotoxicology 30:492–501.
- Rogers, D. C. 2014. Hatching response to temperature along a latitudinal gradient by the fairy shrimp *Branchinecta lindahli* (Crustacea; Branchiopoda; Anostraca) in culture conditions. Journal of Limnology 74:85–94.
- Rossi, V., D. Albini, G. Benassi, and P. Menozzi. 2012. To rest in hydration: Hatching phenology of resting eggs of *Heterocypris incongruens* (Crustacea: Ostracoda). Fundamental and Applied Limnology 181:49–58.
- Sabnis, N. J., M. R. Kulkarni, S. M. Padhye, and K. Pai. 2017. Hatching phenology, life history and population dynamics of the Oriental clam shrimp *Eulimnadia indocylindrova* Durga

152 | Hatching dynamics over multiple hydrations D. Vendramin et al.

Prasad and Simhachalam with notes on phenology patterns in the Spinicaudata. Journal of Natural History 51:1835–1849.

- Santangelo, J. M. 2009. Produção, eclosão e implicações ecológicas e evolutivas dos estágios dormentes do zooplâncton. LIMNOtemas 7:1–36.
- Santangelo, J. M., F. A. de Esteves, M. Manca, and R. L. Bozelli. 2011. Abundance, composition and spatial variation in the egg bank of a tropical zooplankton community. Studies on Neotropical Fauna and Environment 46:225–232.
- Santangelo, J. M., F. de A. Esteves, M. Manca, and R. L. Bozelli. 2014. Disturbances due to increased salinity and the resilience of zooplankton communities: The potential role of the resting egg bank. Hydrobiologia 722:103–113.
- Simovich, M. A., and S. A. Hathaway. 1997. Diversified bethedging as a reproductive strategy of some ephemeral pool anostracans (Branchiopoda). Journal of Crustacean Biology 17:38–44.
- Singmann, H., B. Bolker, J. Westfall, F. Aust, and M. S. Ben-Shachar. 2021. afex: Analysis of Factorial Experiments. BaselR Meeting, University of Frieberg, Germany.
- Slatkin, M. 1974. Hedging one's evolutionary bets. Nature 250: 704–705.
- Stenert, C., R. C. Bacca, A. C. Ávila, L. Maltchik, and O. Rocha. 2010. Do hydrologic regimes used in rice fields compromise the viability of resting stages of aquatic invertebrates? Wetlands 30:989–996.
- Stenert, C., R. Wüsth, M. M. Pires, R. F. Freiry, D. Nielsen, and L. Maltchik. 2017. Composition of cladoceran dormant stages in intermittent ponds with different hydroperiod lengths. Ecological Research 32:921–930.
- Tarazona, E., E. M. García-Roger, and M. J. Carmona. 2017. Experimental evolution of bet hedging in rotifer diapause traits as a response to environmental unpredictability. Oikos 126: 1162–1172.
- Vanoverbeke, J., and L. De Meester. 2009. Within season shortterm hatching delays suggest risk-spreading behaviour in pop-

ulations of the freshwater cladoceran *Daphnia*. Écoscience 16:441–451.

- Vanschoenwinkel, B., M. Seaman, and L. Brendonck. 2010. Hatching phenology, life history and egg bank size of fairy shrimp *Branchipodopsis* spp. (Branchiopoda, Crustacea) in relation to the ephemerality of their rock pool habitat. Aquatic Ecology 44:771–780.
- Vargas, A. L., J. M. Santangelo, and R. L. Bozelli. 2019. Recovery from drought: Viability and hatching patterns of hydrated and desiccated zooplankton resting eggs. International Review of Hydrobiology 104:26–33.
- Vendramin, D., C. S. Klagenberg, M. R. Provensi, C. Stenert, M. M. Pires, E. Sergio, F. Medeiros, and M. Reichard. 2020. Effects of the presence of annual killifish on the assemblage structure of resting stages of aquatic invertebrates in temporary ponds. Limnetica 39:1–16.
- Villwock, J. A., and L. J. Tomazelli. 2007. Planície Costeira do Rio Grande do Sul: Gênese e paisagem atual. Pages 20–33 in F. G. Becker and R. A. Ramos (editors). Biodiversidade: Regiões da lagoa do Casamento e os butiazais de Tapes, Planície Costeira do Rio Grande do Sul, Brasilia, Brazil.
- Wang, C.-C., and L.-S. Chou. 2015. Terminating dormancy: Hatching phenology of sympatric large branchiopods in Siangtian Pond, a temporary wetland in Taiwan. Journal of Crustacean Biology 35:301–308.
- Wang, C.-C., and D. C. Rogers. 2018. Bet hedging in stochastic habitats: An approach through large branchiopods in a temporary wetland. Oecologia 188:1081–1093.
- Williams, D. D. 2006. The biology of temporary waters. Oxford University Press, New York, New York.
- Winder, M., and D. E. Schindler. 2004. Climate change uncouples trophic interactions in an aquatic ecosystem. Ecology 85:2100–2106.
- Woodward, G., D. M. Perkins, and L. E. Brown. 2010. Climate change and freshwater ecosystems: Impacts across multiple levels of organization. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 365:2093–2106.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL



Fig S1. Bubble chart with the relative abundances of invertebrate taxa that emerged from the sediment over the 1st hydration event.



Fig S2. Bubble chart with the relative abundances of invertebrate taxa that emerged from the sediment over the 2nd hydration event.



Fig S3. Bubble chart with the relative abundances of invertebrate taxa that emerged from the sediment over the 3rd hydration event.



Fig S4. Non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) ordination diagrams of the composition of invertebrate hatchlings over the 1^{st} hydration event. Scores of the samples (A). D03 to D40 represents the days after rehydration. Scores of the most common taxa (B). BDE = Bdelloidea, BIA = *Biapertura ossiani*, BOS = *Bosmina* spp., CAL = Calanoida nauplii, CEP = *Cephalodella* spp., CEU = *Chydorus eurynotus*, CHI =

Chironomidae, CLI = Oligochaeta, CQU = *Ceriodaphnia quadrangular*, DEN = *Dendrocephalus* spp., DIC = *Dinacrophorus* spp., DIP = *Dipleuchlanis propatula*, GRI = *Grimaldina* spp., LEB = *Leberis davidi*, LEY = *Leydigia striata*, LOR = *Leydigiopsis ornata*, MEL = *Macrothrix elegans*, MOI = *Moina* spp., MSQ = *Macrothrix squamosa*, NEM = Nematoda, ORI = Oribatida, OXY = *Oxyurella longicaudis*, PAR = *Parvalona parva*, PLA = Platyhelminthes sp.1, PLA 1 = Platyhelminthes sp.2, PLA2 = Platyhelminthes sp.3, SSE = *Simocephalus serrulatus*, STR = *Streblocerus pygmaeus*, TAR = Tardigrada. Scree plot of the stress values (for 6 dimensions) (C). Shepard plot showing the fit of the NMDS ordination to the dissimilarity data (D).



Fig S5. Non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) ordination diagrams of the composition of invertebrate hatchlings over the second hydration event. Scores of the samples (A). D03 to D40 represents the days after rehydration. Scores of the most common taxa (B). BDE = Bdelloidea, CAL = Calanoida nauplii, CEP = *Cephalodella* spp., CPU = *Chydorus pubescens*, DIP = *Dipleuchlanis propatula*, EHY = *Ephemeroporus hybridus*,

EUC = *Euchlanis* spp., ILY = *Ilyocryptus spinifer*, KAR = *Karualona muelleri*, KER = *Keratella* spp., LEC = *Lecane* spp., MET = *Metalimnadia* spp., NEM = Nematoda, ORI = Oribatida, OST = Ostracoda, PAR = *Parvalona parva*, PLA2 = Platyhelminthes sp.1. Scree plot of the stress values (for 6 dimensions) (C). Shepard plot showing the fit of the NMDS ordination to the dissimilarity data (D).



Fig S6. Non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) ordination diagrams of the composition of invertebrate hatchlings over the 3^{rd} hydration event. Scores of the samples (A). D03 to D40 represents the days after rehydration. Scores of the most common taxa (B). AED = *Aedes* spp., ANT = *Anthalona* spp., BDE = Bdelloidea, BRN = *Branchinecta* spp., GFR = *Grimaldina freyi*, ILY = *Ilyocryptus spinifer*, KER = *Keratella* spp., KUR = *Kurzia polyspina*, LBU = *Lecane bulla*, LEC = *Lecane* spp., LEP = *Lepadella* spp., MET = *Metalimnadia* spp., NEM = Nematoda, NOM =

Notomata spp., ORI = Oribatida, OXY = *Oxyurella longicaudis*, PAR = *Parvalona parva*, TAR = Tardigrada. Scree plot of the stress values (for 6 dimensions) (C). Shepard plot showing the fit of the NMDS ordination to the dissimilarity data (D).

Contrast	Species	Mean dissimilarity (%)	Mean abundance Hydration event		Cumulative contribution (%)	<i>p</i> -value
		_				
H1–H2			H1	H2		
	<i>Lecane</i> spp	0.1	0.16	0.2	0.3	< 0.01
	Dipleuchlanis propatula	0.01	22.7	0.8	0.91	0.03
	Oligochaeta	0.01	9.3		0.92	< 0.01
	Ceriodaphnia quadrangula		0.1		0.99	0.03
	Moina spp.		0.2		0.99	0.03
	Chydorus eurynotus		0.2		0.99	0.03
H1–H3			H1	H3		
	Euchlanis spp.	0.01	43.3	0.5	0.9	0.04
H2-H3			H2	H3		
	Lecane spp.	0.1	23.8	0.3	0.2	< 0.01
	Tardigrada	0.08	0.1	0.3	0.5	< 0.01
	Ostracoda	0.01	1.5	1.2	0.94	0.02
	Keratella spp.	0	0.08	0.9	0.99	0.05

Table S1. Results of the similarity percentage (simper) analysis for Sørensen dissimilarity of invertebrate hatchlings across pairs of hydration

events (H1–H3). Only species whose cumulative contribution obtained *p*-values ≤ 0.05 are shown.

4 CAPÍTULO 2: LIFE FINDS A WAY: HATCHING DYNAMICS OF INVERTEBRATE DORMANT STAGES IN INTERMITTENT WETLANDS FROM THE BRAZILIAN TROPICAL SEMIARID

Artigo submetido ao periódico Journal of Arid Environments em 2022 (ISSN 0140-1963)

1 Life finds a way: hatching dynamics of invertebrate dormant stages in intermittent

- 2 wetlands from the Brazilian tropical semiarid
- 3
- 4 Daiane Vendramin¹, Mateus M. Pires², Elvio S. F. Medeiros³, Cristina Stenert¹, Leonardo
- 5 Maltchik²*
- 6

```
7 Authors' addresses:
```

- 8 ¹ Laboratório de Ecologia e Conservação de Ecossistemas Aquáticos, Universidade do
- 9 Vale do Rio dos Sinos (UNISINOS), São Leopoldo, RS, Brazil.
 10 <u>daia_vendramin@hotmail.com; cstenert@unisinos.br</u>
- 11 ² PPG Biologia de Ambientes Aquáticos Continentais, Universidade Federal do Rio
- 12 Grande (FURG), Rio Grande, RS, Brazil. <u>marquespiresm@gmail.com</u>
- 13 ³ Grupo Ecologia de Rios do Semiárido, Universidade Estadual da Paraíba (UEPB), João
- 14 Pessoa, PB, Brazil. <u>elviomedeiros@uepb.edu.br</u>
- 15

16 **Corresponding author:*

- 17 E-mail: <u>maltchikleo@gmail.com</u>
- 18 Programa de Pós-graduação em Biologia de Ambientes Aquáticos Continentais, Instituto
- 19 de Ciências Biológicas, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande FURG, Av. Itália, Km 8 -
- 20 Campus Carreiros, 96203-900, Rio Grande, RS, Brazil, phone: +0055-53-3233-6848
- 21
- 22

23 Abstract

24 Hatching patterns of dormant stages are key to maintain invertebrate populations and to 25 wetland functioning in drylands. However, the hatching dynamics of invertebrate 26 dormant stages may vary across climate zones, and the knowledge of temporal hatching 27 patterns of wetland invertebrates is incipient for tropical drylands in South America. We 28 conducted an incubation experiment with sediment samples of intermittent wetlands from 29 the Brazilian semiarid to assess the short-term temporal patterns in hatchling community 30 structure. Hatchlings were collected every two days in the laboratory over a 28-day 31 hydration period. Hatchling richness peaked on the middle and late phases, and 32 composition varied from the early to the late phases of the experiment. While short-lived 33 microcrustraceans (Anostraca nauplii, Moina sp. (Cladocera) and Spinicaudata) 34 predominated until the second week, most species of Ostracoda, Rotifera and Cladocera 35 predominated in the third and fourth weeks after hydration. We indicate that the temporal 36 hatching patterns of invertebrate dormant stages in intermittent wetlands from the 37 Brazilian semiarid is mostly composed by short-term, delayed-hatching strategies. These findings are important to understand the egg-bank dynamics and the responses of 38 39 invertebrate dormant stages to hatching cues in tropical-wetland drylands, which are 40 expected to be subject to strong hydric stress in the future.

41

42 *Keywords*

43 aquatic invertebrates, hatching phenology, egg-bank, resting stages, temporary wetlands,
44 tropical semi-arid

45

46

47 **1. Introduction**

48 Drylands cover over 40% of the earth's surface and harbor over 2bi people 49 (UNEP, 2011). Due to the harsh climatic contingency, many inland waters in drylands 50 are intermittent, i.e., they alternate dry-wet periods (Tooth and McCarthy, 2007). 51 Intermittent wetlands are important features of drylands, as they support elevated 52 biodiversity and provide many ecosystem services, e.g., water and food storage and 53 climate regulation (Parra et al., 2021; UNEP, 2011). In drylands, drought is a key 54 challenge for the persistence of important wetland organisms such as invertebrates 55 (Rocha et al., 2012). Invertebrates show many adaptations to tolerate the harsh conditions 56 of drylands; unsurprisingly, dormancy in dry periods is a common and key life-history 57 trait of many zooplankton (e.g., microcrustaceans, Rotifera) and other invertebrates to 58 endure hydric stress (García-Roger et al., 2017; Strachan et al., 2015). The accumulation 59 of dormant stages results in the production of an egg bank in the sediment (Brendonck 60 and De Meester, 2003). With the onset of the wet phase, hatching of dormant stages 61 represents the main source of invertebrate population maintenance in temporary wetlands 62 (Strachan et al., 2015). Invertebrates hatching from the egg bank usually dominate the 63 wetland community in the filling phase of their hydrological cycles (Batzer and Boix, 64 2016). Temporal changes in the hatching patterns of invertebrate dormant stages, i.e., the egg-bank dynamics, can elicit different hatchling communities (Vendramin et al., 2022). 65 66 In this context, there has been considerable interest in the assessment of the temporal 67 hatching patterns and in the hatching dynamics of invertebrate dormant stages; this is 68 because variation in the hatching patterns among the species present in the egg bank can 69 affect the development of the aquatic community and eventually influence the trophic 70 status of the ecosystem (Parra et al., 2021).

71 The study of temporal hatching patterns involves the assessment of several short-72 term, fine-tuned phenological aspects such as timing, peak and length of the hatching 73 period (Cáceres and Tessier, 2003; Gyllström and Hansson, 2004). When analyzed 74 together, they can provide important information on the hatching strategies employed by 75 invertebrates (Bozelli et al., 2008; Cáceres and Tessier, 2003; Jones and Gilbert, 2016; 76 Sabnis et al., 2017; Vanschoenwinkel et al., 2010; Wang and Chou, 2015). In general, 77 hatching strategies range from high synchrony in dormancy termination (i.e., early, 78 concentrated hatching periods), while lower temporal synchrony in hatching, i.e., the 79 dispersal of emergence over time, is suggestive of bet-hedging strategies (García-Roger

et al., 2017; Vanoverbeke and De Meester, 2009; Waterkeyn et al., 2013).
Unsynchronized emergence patterns are usually associated with a strategy to avoid
abortive hatching in temporary habitats (García-Roger et al., 2017; Vanoverbeke and De
Meester, 2009; Vanschoenwinkel et al., 2010; Wang and Chou, 2015).

Dormancy termination and invertebrate hatching dynamics are, however, 84 85 dependent on various contingencies, as many authors demonstrated variable temporal hatching patterns of dormant stages (Bozelli et al., 2008; Cáceres, 1998; García-Roger et 86 87 al., 2017; Vendramin et al., 2022; Wang and Chou, 2015; Waterkeyn et al., 2013). 88 Differences in life-history traits and sensitivity to hydric cues among taxa are important 89 factors driving variation in the temporal hatching patterns of the egg bank are (Cáceres 90 and Tessier, 2003; García-Roger et al., 2017; Pinceel et al., 2017; Vanoverbeke and De 91 Meester, 2009; Vargas et al., 2019; Vendramin et al., 2022; Waterkeyn et al., 2013). For 92 instance, short-lived Branchiopoda such as Anostraca, Spinicaudata (and few species 93 Cladocera) were found to promptly respond to wetting (Sabnis et al., 2017; Vanoverbeke 94 and De Meester, 2009; Vanschoenwinkel et al., 2010; Wang and Chou, 2015). In turn, 95 many taxa of Rotifera and Cladocera show delayed hatching in temporary habitats after 96 the onset of the wet phase (García-Roger et al., 2017; Pinceel et al., 2021, 2017).

97 Environmental factors are also potential drivers of the hatching dynamics of 98 invertebrate egg-bank, as variable hatching patterns are related to various biotic and 99 abiotic cues. As for the former, food-related cues, predator and conspecifics presence 100 seem to be important for hatching timing and rates in Cladocera and Rotifera (Barbosa et 101 al., 2012; Bozelli et al., 2008; Pinceel et al., 2013; Schröder and Gilbert, 2004). As for 102 the latter, climate (e.g., temperature, photoperiod) and hydric cues (e.g., rainfall events, 103 length of the wet phase) are regarded as of utmost importance for the hatching patterns of 104 most taxa (Gyllström and Hansson, 2004; Hairston et al., 2000; Jones and Gilbert, 2016; 105 Pinceel et al., 2018, 2017). For instance, favourable warm temperatures and long 106 photoperiods may lead to hatching peaks of dormant stages in many species (Brazil et al., 107 2022; Jones and Gilbert, 2016; Vargas et al., 2019). In habitats characterized by 108 unpredictable wet-dry cycles, some taxa may show short hatching periods and hatching 109 peaks towards early wet phase (Jones and Gilbert, 2016; Sabnis et al., 2017; Vanoverbeke 110 and De Meester, 2009; Vanschoenwinkel et al., 2010; Wang and Chou, 2015), while 111 several other species show less synchronous patterns, characterized by longer hatching periods and variable timings (García-Roger et al., 2017; Pinceel et al., 2017; Vendramin 112

et al., 2022). In addition, there is evidence for more synchronous hatching of dormant
stages in laboratory conditions, considered suitable for hatching (Bozelli et al., 2008;
Waterkeyn et al., 2013). Considering the different responses of invertebrate dormant
stages to hydric and other climate-related hatching cues, invertebrate hatching dynamics
is assumed to vary across climate zones; however, the knowledge the hatching dynamics
of invertebrate dormant stages remains poorly understood in several biogeographical
regions (Jones and Gilbert, 2016).

120 In this context, most studies on invertebrate hatching dynamics in drylands focus 121 specific ecosystems in subtropical and temperate regions (e.g., ephemeral rock pools and 122 temperate floodplains in inland Australia and Mediterranean-climate zones); in these 123 regions, invertebrate hatching is mostly triggered by temperature, photoperiod and length 124 of the wet phase, and there is substantial evidence for asynchronous hatching patterns in their invertebrate egg-bank communities (Boix et al., 2016; Jenkins and Boulton, 2007, 125 126 2003; Jocqué et al., 2007; Pinceel et al., 2017). Nevertheless, some authors assumed that 127 the hatching phenology of invertebrate dormant stages in dry-climate zones would be 128 especially characterized by early hatching peaks (Brendonck, 1996; Brendonck and De 129 Meester, 2003; Hairston et al., 2000). Early-hatching strategies associated with hatching 130 peaks shortly after wetting could be efficient strategies to reach maturity prior to the next 131 dry period (Vanoverbeke and De Meester, 2009; Vanschoenwinkel et al., 2010; Wang 132 and Chou, 2015). In contrast with most drylands across the globe, the Brazilian semiarid 133 (the major dryland in South America, originally spanning over 800.000 km²) constitutes 134 an important exception due to its tropical condition and low altitude (i.e., low thermal and 135 photoperiod amplitude); in the region, rainfall is low (< 800 mm/year) (Alvares et al., 136 2013; Barbosa et al., 2012; IBGE, 2019). Such conditions make resistance and resilience 137 strategies like dormancy crucial to survival of freshwater invertebrates in this region 138 (Maltchik et al., 1999b; Rocha et al., 2012). Different from floodplains, intermittent 139 wetlands in the Brazilian semiarid are small-sized, isolated; and contrary to ephemeral 140 rock pools, semi-arid wetlands may hold water for longer periods, because rainfall is 141 concentrated in a 3-month time window (Alvares et al., 2013; Barbosa et al., 2012; IBGE, 142 2019). However, this dryland has warm temperatures all year round and especially hot 143 summers; in drier years, the dry season may last ~11 months, leading to shallow exposed 144 soils that drain quickly to intermittent waters (Barbosa et al., 2012; Maltchik et al., 145 1999a). The knowledge of the hatching dynamics of the invertebrate egg bank in

146 intermittent wetlands from the Brazilian semiarid is scarce. The few studies available on 147 invertebrate dormant stages focused inventories of the species present in the egg bank or 148 single-site population dynamics of taxon-specific groups in large reservoirs, and 149 suggested variation in the hatching of some species (Crispim et al., 2003; Crispim and 150 Watanabe, 2001, 2000). In particular, while warm temperatures may increase hatching in 151 some cases (Brazil et al., 2022; Vargas et al., 2019), aridity and increasingly hotter 152 temperatures have been shown to negatively affect hatching dynamics in other scenarios 153 (Paes et al., 2016; Pinceel et al., 2018, 2017). Understanding the temporal hatching 154 patterns of dormant stages in dryland wetlands assumes especial importance in light of 155 climate change, because their water budgets closely rely on rainfall (Parra et al., 2021; 156 Tooth and McCarthy, 2007), and climate predictions indicate that the distribution of 157 rainfall is expected to be heavily restricted in tropical Brazil (de Oliveira et al., 2012).

158 Here, we assessed the hatching patterns of invertebrate dormant stages from the 159 sediment of intermittent wetlands in the Brazilian tropical semiarid. In particular, we 160 assessed the short-term temporal dynamics in the richness, abundance and composition 161 of invertebrate hatchlings through a sediment rehydration experiment. Given the tropical 162 climate of the study area (i.e., low thermal and photoperiod amplitudes) and the short 163 hydroperiods of semi-arid Brazilian wetlands (Alvares et al., 2013; Barbosa et al., 2012), 164 we assume that sediment wetting would represent a strong cue for early hatching ad short 165 hatching periods of most species present in the egg bank (especially zooplankton taxa 166 with short life cycles) (Brendonck, 1996; Vanoverbeke and De Meester, 2009; Vargas et 167 al., 2019). We thus hypothesized that the invertebrate hatching dynamics in the 168 experiment would be characterized by a peak of hatchling diversity in the early days after 169 hydration. In particular, we expected to detect higher richness and abundance of dormant 170 stages in the early compared to the final phase of the hydration experiment. In summary, 171 our study represents an exploratory approach to infer the hatching strategies and the 172 invertebrate egg-bank dynamics in the intermittent wetlands from the Brazilian semiarid.

- 173
- 174 **2. Material and Methods**

175 2.1 Study area and study sites

The study area is located in the central region of the State of Paraíba, in the tropical drylands of Northeast Brazil (Fig. 1). The natural landscape in the area consists of the semiarid bushland vegetation ("Caatinga" biome) (IBGE, 2019). The climate in the study area is BSh (according to Köppen system) (Alvares et al., 2013), characterized by average annual precipitation below 800 mm and annual temperature of ~25 °C and low thermic amplitude. The hottest temperatures and higher precipitation rates are concentrated in the summer (December to June; austral seasons). Local land use in the study area includes rural properties and small to medium scale extensive livestock grazing with high water demand for irrigation and urban consumption (Barbosa et al., 2012).

We sampled sediments from six intermittent temporary wetlands in the study area (Fig. 1). Sites had maximum depth of 0.5 m, total area ranging from 5000 to 10000 m² and were distant from each other by a minimum distance of 2 km. Sediment collection occurred in October 2019, a period matching the late dry phase of their hydrological cycle (i.e., all sites were dry for ~5-6 months prior to collection).



190

191 **Fig. 1.** Location of the study area and study sites. (Single-column fitting image).

192

193 2.2 Sediment sampling and experimental procedures

194 In each site, we collected seven randomly distributed sediment subsamples, all 195 from the top soil layers. We pooled the subsamples into a single sample per site and 196 packed into 5-L plastic bags. In the laboratory, we sieved sediment samples to remove 197 leaves and roots and homogenized the samples by gently stirring them with a spoon. An 198 incubation experiment was carried out using 800 g of dry sediment distributed into two 199 plastic trays (17.6 cm in length, 13 cm wide and 5.5 cm deep) for each site (400 g per 200 tray, totaling 12 trays). Hydration began in March 2021, and used the same methodology 201 from previous works. In brief, the experiment had duration of 28 days and consisted in 202 keeping the sediments submerged under deionized water (2-cm water column) in each 203 tray and constant levels of dissolved oxygen (6 mg/L), temperature (25±3 °C), and 204 photoperiod (12-h light-dark cycle). Refer to Stenert et al., (2017) for more details.

205 Hatchling collection and identification were carried out every two days (14 206 sampling events) by stirring up the sediment and then sweeping the disturbed water (3 207 sweeps/tray) with a hand net (mesh size = 53 μ m) with the same width as the trays. 208 Dormant stages accidentally collected were returned to the trays until the end of the 209 experiment to verify its possible hatching. Collected hatchlings were transferred to 210 Bogorov plates (Limnotec, São Carlos, Brazil) and observed under a stereomicroscope 211 (Stemi 2000; Zeiss, Göttingen, Germany). Afterwards, hatchlings were transferred to 212 slides specifically prepared with one drop of glycerin for specimen identification based 213 on diagnostic structures (e.g., antennas, antennules, post-abdomen). Specimens were 214 identified to the finest resolution possible (either species or genus level) under a 215 microscope (model MIC-100, S 20-40 magnification; Marotec Científica®, Santa Rita 216 do Sapucaí, Brazil) based on specialized literature (Elmoor-Loureiro, 1997; Koste, 1978) 217 and with help of taxonomists. For preservation, the collected specimens were transferred 218 to 1.5-mL polypropylene microtubes with 4% formaldehyde solution (Rotifera), 80% 219 ethanol with the addition of a drop of glycerin (Ostracoda), or 80% ethanol for the other 220 groups (Stenert et al., 2017). The collected specimens are archived in the Laboratory of 221 Ecology and Conservation of Aquatic Ecosystems of UNISINOS University.

222

223 2.3 Data analysis

We built a rarefaction-extrapolation curve to estimate the number of undetected taxa in our procedures. The extrapolated richness was calculated with the first-order 226 estimator Jackknife (incidence-based). For illustration, we built an interpolation-227 extrapolation curve for the total number of sampling events (N = 84 = 14 sampling events 228 x 06 sediment samples). We assessed the variation of hatchling richness and abundance 229 over the experiment with a repeated-measures ANOVA, followed by *post-hoc* Tukey tests 230 adjusted using the Bonferroni multiple testing correction method for multiple 231 comparisons. Days after hydration were treated as fixed-effect factor, while sediment 232 sample, as random factor. Prior to testing, we removed outliers and checked for normality 233 and sphericity assumptions. In the analysis of richness, Cladocera neonates and Ostracoda 234 juveniles were not included. We used non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) 235 ordination diagram to assess the variation in hatchling composition over the experiment. 236 The NMDS was based on two axes, after 20 random initial configurations. We used a 237 dissimilarity matrix of hatchling abundance based on the Bray-Curtis index. All steps 238 were conducted in the R software v. 4.0 (R Core Team, 2020).

239

240 **3. Results**

241 3.1 Hatchling diversity

242 We collected 828 hatchlings from 30 taxa in our procedures (Table A.1). Over the 243 experiment, hatchling richness ranged from two to 17 taxa, while abundance ranged from 244 17 to 92 specimens. Microcrustaceans (18 taxa) and Rotifera (eight taxa) accounted for 245 most of the hatchling diversity (Table A.1). Nematoda was the dominant taxon (N = 244; 246 29.5%), followed by Rotifera (N = 230; 27.8%). In specific, the three dominant taxa of 247 Rotifera were: Bdelloidea (8.7%), Euchlanis sp. (7.7%) and Notommatidae (7.5%). Eight 248 taxa and 165 specimens (19.9%) of Ostracoda hatched over the experiment. Cladocera 249 accounted for 11.5% of the total number of hatchlings (N = 95), distributed among eight 250 taxa, from which Macrothrix squamosa (6.6%) and Parvalona parva (1.2%) were the 251 most abundant. Anostraca nauplii accounted for 8.7% of the total number of hatchlings. 252 Other taxa included: Dalylellidae (Platyhelminthes) (1.3%), Tardigrada (1%), Oribatida 253 (0.2%) and Spinicaudata (0.1%) (Table A.1). Rarefaction curve neared stabilization but 254 did not reach the asymptote (Fig. A.1). The observed richness corresponded to 81% of 255 the estimated richness by the first-order Jackknife estimator (36.91 ± 2.61) . 256
257 *3.2 Hatchling communities over the experiment*

Abundance did not vary (p = 0.62; Fig. 2A), while richness varied over the 258 259 experiment (p < 0.001). Post-hoc tests showed that richness was higher in days 14 and 26 260 compared to days 2 and 4 (Fig. 2B). Hatchling composition varied over the experiment 261 and differed from the early to the late phases of the hydration period (Fig. 3; 4A). 262 Anostraca nauplii, Bdelloidea (Rotifera), Tardigrada and Nematoda hatched throughout 263 most of the hydration period. Anostraca nauplii predominated in the first week, while 264 Moina sp. (Cladocera) and Oribatida hatched only in the second week. Ostracoda 265 (Chlamydotheca spp., Cypricercus sp. and Stenocypris sp.) and other species of Cladocera (M. squamosa, P. parva, Ovanola glabra and Ephemeroporus hybridus) 266 267 hatched only 10-12 days after hydration and were more common in the fourth week. Besides Bdelloidea and Euchlanis sp., Monogonont taxa hatched only 14 days after 268 269 hydration and were common in the third and fourth weeks. Dalyellidae hatched only in 270 the third and fourth weeks of the experiment (Fig. 3; 4B).



Fig. 2. Abundance (A) and richness (B) of hatchlings over the experiment. * = p-values

 $273 \qquad <\!\!0.05; \ **=p\text{-values}<0.01. \ (1\text{-column width fitting image}).$



Fig. 3. Bubble chart with the occurrence of invertebrate taxa that emerged from the
sediment over the hydration experiment. Each background color corresponds to one-week
time windows.





(B) Invertebrate taxa

Fig. 5. Variation of hatchling composition over the experiment (stress = 0.16). (A) Community dissimilarity over the hydration period (dark gray:
early days of the hydration period; light gray: final days of the hydration period). (B) Taxa occurrence across the sampling days. (2-column width
fitting image).

285 **4. Discussion**

286 We conducted an ex-situ incubation experiment to assess the temporal hatching 287 patterns of invertebrate dormant stages in intermittent wetlands from the Brazilian 288 tropical semiarid. We detected marked short-term variation in hatchling community 289 structure. While hatchling abundance did not vary, richness showed two peaks and 290 composition varied from the early to the late phases of the hydration period. Although 291 variable hatching patterns of invertebrate dormant stages (i.e., different hatching timing, 292 peak and period) were reported in the region (Crispim and Watanabe, 2001, 2000) and in 293 other in drylands (Boix et al., 2016; Jenkins and Boulton, 2007, 2003; Pinceel et al., 294 2017), the observed patterns in hatchling community structure were not entirely in 295 accordance with our expectations. This is because few taxa showed either early hatching 296 or short hatching periods concentrated in the early phase of the experiment. In fact, most 297 taxa hatched in the middle phase and showed continuous hatching towards the late phase 298 of the hydration period. Our results indicated that the hatching dynamics of invertebrate 299 dormant stages in the intermittent semi-arid wetlands studied was mostly composed of 300 asynchronous hatching patterns, predominantly delayed-hatching strategies.

301 In intermittent wetlands, dormancy is a common life-history trait in invertebrates, 302 enabling them to endure the dry period (Batzer and Boix, 2016; Strachan et al., 2015). 303 Although the onset of the wet phase triggers hatching (Brendonck and De Meester, 2003; 304 Hairston et al., 2000), there is large variation in the temporal hatching patterns among 305 dormant stages over the wet phase in temporary waters (Cáceres, 1998; García-Roger et 306 al., 2017; Vanschoenwinkel et al., 2010). Hatching patterns reflect the strategies used by 307 invertebrates to complete their life cycles, which are associated with avoidance of 308 abortive hatching (Vanoverbeke and De Meester, 2009; Vanschoenwinkel et al., 2010; 309 Wang and Chou, 2015). In general, temporal hatching patterns range from lower to higher 310 synchrony, as a result of different hatching period, timing and peak among dormant stages 311 over the wet phase (Hairston et al., 2000; Jenkins and Boulton, 2007; Vendramin et al., 312 2022; Wang and Chou, 2015). In regard to the main hatching strategies, some species 313 show earlier hatching and short hatching periods, while others show 'delayed-hatching' 314 strategies and disperse hatching over the wet phase, consistent with bet-hedging strategies 315 (Pinceel et al., 2021; Sabnis et al., 2017; Vanoverbeke and De Meester, 2009).

316 Abiotic cues associated with climate are among the main drivers of dormancy 317 termination (Cáceres and Tessier, 2003; Pinceel et al., 2021, 2017; Vendramin et al., 318 2022; Waterkeyn et al., 2013). However, temporal hatching patterns of invertebrate 319 dormant stages differently respond to multiple hatching cues, as aspects of hatching 320 phenology (e.g., timing, peak and duration of the hatching period) distinctly respond to 321 hatching cues such as temperature and sediment wetting (a potential surrogate of rainfall 322 of onset of the wet phase) (García-Roger et al., 2017; Gyllström and Hansson, 2004; 323 Hairston et al., 2000; Jones and Gilbert, 2016), and hatching dynamics of the egg-bank is 324 thus assumed to show variable patterns across climate zones (Jones and Gilbert, 2016).

325 In this context, previous reviews stressed that early hatching peaks would be a 326 remarkable aspect of the hatching phenology of invertebrate dormant stages in dry-327 climate zones (Brendonck, 1996). In addition, there is experimental evidence that optimal 328 warm temperatures (Jones and Gilbert, 2016) and long desiccation periods may increase 329 hatching of dormant stages in tropical habitats (Brazil et al., 2022; Vargas et al., 2019). 330 Considering the short life span of most dormant-producing wetland invertebrates, e.g., 331 Branchiopoda, Rotifera (Brendonck, 1996; Brendonck and De Meester, 2003; García-332 Roger et al., 2017; Hairston et al., 2000) and the time stress associated with the short wet 333 period of dryland wetlands (Parra et al., 2021; Tooth and McCarthy, 2007), the hatching 334 strategies adopted are key to the completion of the life cycle in such unpredictable 335 ecosystems (Cáceres and Tessier, 2003; Wang and Chou, 2015). Therefore, the long dry 336 periods leading to short hydroperiods of temporary wetlands in the Brazilian semiarid 337 (which complete desiccate for at least six months and may show wet periods no longer 338 than three months) (Barbosa et al. 2012) and warm temperatures all year round associated 339 with the unique tropical climate of the Brazilian semiarid (Alvares et al., 2013) could 340 plausibly be expected to promote early hatching and high hatching success (i.e., higher 341 abundance) of the dormant stages and lead to hatching peaks towards the early phase, i.e., 342 few days after hydration in this study. Contrary to expected, hatchling abundance was 343 similar over the experiment. In fact, specificities of the dry period in the Brazilian 344 semiarid (Alvares et al., 2013; Barbosa et al., 2012) could have avoided high hatching 345 rates in the egg bank of the studied wetlands and stabilized hatching success. In specific, 346 increasingly arid conditions and extreme high temperatures can negatively affect both 347 survival and hatching rates of dormant stages in the sediment (Paes et al., 2016; Pinceel et al., 2018, 2017). Such hot temperatures ns (e.g., above 30 °C for long periods) are 348 349 especially concentrated in the State of Paraíba) (Alvares et al., 2013) and could have led to sediment exposure to extreme unfavourable conditions for egg hatching, which likelylimited hatching success and the avoided hatchling peaks over the experiment.

352 Although the number of hatchlings was similar throughout the experiment, 353 richness and composition markedly differed during the hydration period. In specific, 354 richness peaked on the middle and late phases of the experiment (14 and 26 days after 355 hydration, respectively). While authors provided evidence for asynchronous hatching in 356 dormant stages among species of Cladocera and Rotifera in reservoirs from the Brazilian 357 semiarid (Crispim et al., 2003; Crispim and Watanabe, 2001, 2000), there is little focus 358 on the hatching strategies employed by the invertebrate egg-bank in those previous 359 studies. Given the assumed proneness of dormant stages in dry-climate zones to show 360 quick hatching responses and peaks following hydric cues (Brendonck, 1996), combined 361 with the unique environmental (i.e., climatic) conditions of the Brazilian semiarid (Vargas 362 et al., 2019), we expected to detect earlier and concentrated hatching peaks as well as 363 short hatching periods of dormant stages. However, few taxa showed either early hatching 364 or short hatching periods. Most species hatched only in the mid phase and frequently 365 hatching towards the late phase of the hydration period. These results strongly suggest 366 the existence of 'delayed-hatching' strategies in the invertebrate egg-bank studied.

367 In this context, our results resemble findings describing delayed-hatching 368 strategies in dormant stages from temporary waters (Pinceel et al., 2017) and floodplains 369 (Jenkins and Boulton, 2003) from arid zones. In these studies, invertebrate dormant stages 370 hatched only weeks after sediment wetting and dispersed their hatching continuously 371 towards increasing length of the wet period. The wet period in the Brazilian semiarid 372 climate may last from to 3-6 months (and up to 1-month in dry years), although rainfall 373 is normally irregularly distributed in this period (Alvares et al., 2013; Barbosa et al., 2012; 374 IBGE, 2019). Under such conditions, the length of the wet period of intermittent semi-375 arid wetlands is potentially variable, which renders high unpredictability in their 376 hydroperiods (Maltchik et al., 1999a). Given this harsh contingency, dormant stages may 377 employ delayed-hatching suggestive of bet-hedging in the study area, i.e., to avoid early 378 hatching of the full egg-bank and disperse hatching fractions over longer periods during 379 the wet phase, as a strategy to buffer for unsuccessful hatching of their egg-banks, 380 especially in drylands (Parra et al., 2021; Pinceel et al., 2017). In summary, the delayed-381 hatching and wider hatching periods of most species in the egg-bank of the studied 382 wetlands likely account for the two peaks in richness observed over the experiment.

383 Not all species seemed to employ delayed-hatching though, and different hatching 384 patterns among species likely explain the variation in hatchling composition observed 385 over the hydration period. In specific, the asynchrony in the temporal hatching patterns 386 may be associated with differences in life-history among certain invertebrate taxa. In our 387 study, some taxa hatched early in the hydration period, i.e., in the first week of the 388 hydration period (e.g., Bdelloidea, Anostraca nauplii, Tardigrada and Nematoda), while 389 most Cladocera, Ostracoda and Rotifera were more common in the late phase of the 390 experiment. As for the early hatchers, some of our findings are similar to the literature. 391 Among Rotifera, Bdelloidea was shown to quickly respond to hydration cues (Ricci, 392 2005); Anostraca nauplii are commonly reported as having a rapid response to sediment 393 hydration both due to the generalist feeding characteristic and fast life cycle (Sabnis et 394 al., 2017). Correlatively, Anostracans are common food items of predatory 395 Platyhelmintes (Roeck et al., 2005), a potential explanation for the early and continuous 396 occurrence of Dalyellidae.

397 In relation to the species with short hatching periods (*Moina* sp., which was 398 observed in a single week) and those that hatched later in this study (Ostracoda and most 399 species of Cladocera and Rotifera), there are similar reports by other studies. The delayed 400 hatching pattern of species of Cladocera was reported by Vendramin et al. (2022), who 401 detected several cladocerans species with increasing lengths of wet period in hydration 402 experiments (i.e., after two weeks). More interestingly, the sequential occurrence of the 403 taxa of microcrustaceans (Cladocera, Ostracoda) and Rotifera later in the hydration 404 period, as well as the short hatching period of *Moina*, is similar to the successional phase 405 of active phase of zooplankton species observed in a tropical semi-arid reservoir (Barbosa 406 et al., 2012). Beyond bet-hedging and differences in life history among the major 407 invertebrate taxa, other differences in the hatching patterns among species employing 408 delayed-hatching strategy suggest that role of hatching cues was not similar for all species 409 in the egg bank, and other factors may be involved in dormancy termination for these taxa 410 in the Brazilian semiarid. In this context, semi-arid wetlands in Brazil may present 411 especial environmental conditions for the unique emergence patterns of the hatchling 412 community. For instance, most of the zooplanktonic taxa observed in the later phase are 413 herbivorous; in the study area, phytoplankton species grow rapidly in lentic waters, 414 although they may reach large population only after weeks (Barbosa et al., 2012; Crispim 415 et al., 2003; Crispim and Watanabe, 2001, 2000). In addition, successional studies in the

416 region showed that most species of Cladocera and Rotifera are found after Moina sp. 417 disappears from the water column, in higher levels of water transparency (Barbosa et al., 418 2012; Crispim et al., 2003; Crispim and Watanabe, 2001, 2000). In this context, some 419 authors suggested that delays may be associated with food- and light-related hatching 420 cues (Pinceel et al., 2013; Wang and Chou, 2015). Accordingly, the variable delayed 421 hatching responses and the consequent changes in composition observed in this study 422 seem to also involve chemical cues taking place in the active phase of the invertebrate 423 species occurring in the egg-bank.

424

425 **5. Conclusion**

426 We observed variable temporal hatching patterns of invertebrate dormant stages 427 of intermittent semi-arid wetlands in our procedures. Specifically, we detected marked 428 short-term variation in hatchling community structure over the hydration period. 429 Although hatching success was evenly dispersed, hatchling richness showed a bimodal 430 pattern over the experiment and hatchling composition pronouncedly shifted between the 431 early and late phases of the hydration period. This suggests that the hatching dynamics of 432 invertebrate dormant stages in intermittent wetlands from the Brazilian tropical semiarid 433 is characterized by asynchronous hatching patterns, with a predominance of short-term 434 'delayed-hatching' strategies. This is because most taxa hatched only in the middle phase 435 of the experiment and showed continuous hatching towards the late phase of the hydration 436 period, while few taxa showed either early or concentrated hatching periods during the 437 experiment. Our findings indicate that the onset of the wet phase may not be the main 438 hatching cue driving dormancy termination of the invertebrate egg-bank in tropical semi-439 arid wetlands from Brazil.

440

441 5.1 Limitations and implications

In summary, our study represents an exploratory assessment of the hatching strategies used by invertebrate egg-bank in intermittent dryland wetlands from the Brazilian semiarid. However, we should take into account that our conclusions may be limited by the laboratory-setting conditions used, which are not entirely similar to field conditions and could have limited the hatching. More specifically, our setting conditions (28-day long; continuous hydration period) only potentially mimicked the onset of the growing season of the study sites, i.e., the early-filling phase of their hydrological cycle.

449 Nevertheless, considering that intermittent wetlands in the Brazilian semiarid may hold 450 water for shorter periods, because rainfall is concentrated in a 3-month time window but 451 usually irregularly distributed (Alvares et al., 2013; Barbosa et al., 2012; IBGE, 2019). In 452 this context, our findings may be useful to understand the invertebrate egg-bank dynamics 453 following hydration cues and how the invertebrate egg-bank recovers from dry periods. 454 This is because the responses of organisms to stochastic or extreme conditions and their 455 behavior can contribute to understanding of the effects of climate change, as dry lands 456 are highly susceptible to droughts and the effects of global warming being magnified in 457 such regions (Parra et al., 2021). Given that variation in hatching patterns of invertebrate 458 dormant stages directly affects hatchling composition (Vendramin et al., 2022) and that 459 the hatching dynamics of the egg-bank potentially underlies the trophic status of wetlands 460 (Jenkins and Boulton, 2003; Parra et al., 2021), improving the knowledge of the temporal 461 hatching patterns of the invertebrate egg-bank is thus useful to predict the ecological 462 functioning of intermittent wetlands in future climates scenarios in the region.

463

464 Author contributions

465 DV: Conceptualization, Formal analysis, Data curation, Methodology,
466 Visualization, Writing – original draft. MMP: Formal analysis, Visualization, Validation,
467 Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. ESFM: Conceptualization,
468 Methodology, Writing – review & editing. CS and LM: Funding acquisition, Project
469 administration, Supervision, Writing – review & editing.

470 Funding

This study was funded by Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq; grant number 305475/2018-5). Coordination for the Improvement of Higher Education Personnel (CAPES) granted a PhD scholarship to DV. CNPq supported MMP with a postdoctoral fellowship (grant number 165529/2020-2). LM and CS hold Research Productivity Grants from CNPq.

476 **Conflict of interest**

477

The authors declare no conflict of interest regarding this publication.

478 **Ethics approval**

479 We declare that data collection complied with the current Brazilian environmental
480 laws (SISBIO 36365-2).

482 **References**

- Alvares, C.A., Stape, J.L., Sentelhas, P.C., De Moraes Gonçalves, J.L., Sparovek, G.,
 2013. Köppen's climate classification map for Brazil. Meteorol. Zeitschrift 22, 711–
 728. https://doi.org/10.1127/0941-2948/2013/0507
- Barbosa, J.E. de L., Medeiros, E.S.F., Brasil, J., Cordeiro, R. da S., Crispim, M.C.B.,
 Silva, G.H.G. da, 2012. Aquatic systems in semi-arid Brazil: limnology and
 management. Acta Limnol. Bras. 24, 103–118. https://doi.org/10.1590/s2179975x2012005000030
- Batzer, D., Boix, D., 2016. An Introduction to Freshwater Wetlands and Their
 Invertebrates, in: Invertebrates in Freshwater Wetlands. Springer International
 Publishing, pp. 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-24978-0_1
- Boix, D., Kneitel, J., Robson, B.J., Duchet, C., Zúñiga, L., Day, J., Gascón, S., Sala, J.,
 Quintana, X.D., Blaustein, L., 2016. Invertebrates of Freshwater Temporary Ponds
 in Mediterranean Climates, in: Invertebrates in Freshwater Wetlands. Springer
 International Publishing, pp. 141–189. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-249780_5
- Bozelli, R.L., Tonsi, M., Sandrini, F., Manca, M., 2008. A Big Bang or small bangs?
 Effects of biotic environment on hatching. J. Limnol. 67, 100–106.
 https://doi.org/10.4081/jlimnol.2008.100
- Brazil, T., Caetano, A.C.L., Vargas, A.L., Bozelli, R.L., Santangelo, J.M., 2022.
 Desiccation increases the hatching of resting eggs of a freshwater calanoid copepod.
- 503 J. Plankton Res. 44, 273–277. https://doi.org/10.1093/plankt/fbac008
- Brendonck, L., 1996. Diapause, quiescence, hatching requirements: what we can learn
 from large freshwater branchiopods (Crustacea: Branchiopoda: Anostraca,
 Notostraca, Conchostraca). Hydrobiologia 320, 85–97.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00016809
- Brendonck, L., De Meester, L., 2003. Egg banks in freshwater zooplankton: Evolutionary
 and ecological archives in the sediment. Hydrobiologia 491, 65–84.
 https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1024454905119
- 511 Cáceres, C.E., 1998. Interspecific variation in the abundance, production, and emergence
 512 of Daphnia diapausing eggs. Ecology 79, 1699–1710.
 513 https://doi.org/10.2307/176789
- 514 Cáceres, C.E., Tessier, A.J., 2003. How Long To Rest: the Ecology of Optimal

- 515 Dormancy. Ecology 84, 1189–1198.
- 516 Crispim, M.C., Paz, R.J. Da, Watanabe, T., 2003. Comparison of differnt Moina minuta
 517 populations dynamics ecloded from resting eggs in a semi-arid region in Brazil.
 518 Brazilian J. Ecol. 1, 33–38.
- 519 Crispim, M.C., Watanabe, T., 2001. What can dry reservoir sediments in a semi-arid
 520 region in Brazil tell us about cladocera? Hydrobiologia 442, 101–105.
 521 https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1017550603022
- 522 Crispim, M.C., Watanabe, T., 2000. Ovos de resistência de rotíferos presentes em
 523 sedimentos secos de um açude no semi-árido paraibano. Acta Limnol. Bras. 12, 89–
 524 94.
- de Oliveira, G., Araújo, M.B., Rangel, T.F., Alagador, D., Diniz-Filho, J.A.F., 2012.
 Conserving the Brazilian semiarid (Caatinga) biome under climate change.
 Biodivers. Conserv. 21, 2913–2926. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-012-0346-7
- 528 Elmoor-Loureiro, L.M.A., 1997. Manual de identificação dos Cladóceros Límnicos do
 529 Brasil. Universa, Brasília.
- García-Roger, E.M., Carmona, M.J., Serra, M., 2017. Modes, mechanisms and evidence
 of bet hedging in rotifer diapause traits. Hydrobiologia 796, 223–233.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-016-2869-5
- Gyllström, M., Hansson, L.A., 2004. Dormancy in freshwater zooplankton: Induction,
 termination and the importance of benthic-pelagic coupling. Aquat. Sci. 66, 274–
 295. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00027-004-0712-y
- Hairston, N.G., Hansen, A.M., Schaffner, W.R., 2000. The effect of diapause emergence
 on the seasonal dynamics of a zooplankton assemblage. Freshw. Biol. 45, 133–145.
 https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2427.2000.00386.x
- 539 IBGE (Ed.), 2019. Biomas e sistema costeiro-carinho do Brasil: compatível com a escala
 540 1:250. 000, IBGE, Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística. Editora do IBGE,
 541 Rio de Janeiro.
- Jenkins, K.M., Boulton, A.J., 2007. Detecting impacts and setting restoration targets in
 arid-zone rivers: Aquatic micro-invertebrate responses to reduced floodplain
 inundation. J. Appl. Ecol. 44, 823–832. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.13652664.2007.01298.x
- Jenkins, K.M., Boulton, A.J., 2003. Connectivity in a dryland river: Short-term aquatic
 microinvertebrate recruitment following floodplain inundation. Ecology 84, 2708–

- 548 2723. https://doi.org/10.1890/02-0326
- Jocqué, M., Riddoch, B.J., Brendonck, L., 2007. Successional phases and species
 replacements in freshwater rock pools: towards a biological definition of ephemeral
 systems. Freshw. Biol. 52, 1734–1744. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.13652427.2007.01802.x
- Jones, N.T., Gilbert, B., 2016. Changing climate cues differentially alter zooplankton
 dormancy dynamics across latitudes. J. Anim. Ecol. 85, 559–569.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12474
- 556 Koste, W., 1978. Rotatoria. Borntraeger Brothers, Stuttgart.
- Maltchik, L., Costa, M.A.J., Duarte, M.D.C., 1999a. Inventory of Brazilian semiarid
 shallow lakes. An. Acad. Bras. Cienc. 71, 801–808.
- Maltchik, L., Duarte, M.D.C., Barreto, A.P., 1999b. Resistance and resilience of
 periphyton to disturbance by flash floods in a Brazilian semiarid ephemeral stream
 (Riacho Serra Branca, NE, Brazil). An. Acad. Bras. Cienc. 71, 791–800.
- Paes, T.A.S.V., Rietzler, A.C., Pujoni, D.G.F., Maia-Barbosa, P.M., 2016. High
 temperatures and absence of light affect the hatching of resting eggs of Daphnia in
 the tropics. An. Acad. Bras. Cienc. 88, 179–186. https://doi.org/10.1590/00013765201620140595
- Parra, G., Guerrero, F., Armengol, J., Brendonck, L., Brucet, S., Finlayson, C.M., GomesBarbosa, L., Grillas, P., Jeppesen, E., Ortega, F., Vega, R., Zohary, T., 2021. The
 future of temporary wetlands in drylands under global change. Inl. Waters 11, 445–
 456. https://doi.org/10.1080/20442041.2021.1936865
- 570 Pinceel, T., Buschke, F., Geerts, A., Vanoverbeke, J., Brendonck, L., Vanschoenwinkel,
 571 B., 2021. An empirical confirmation of diversified bet hedging as a survival strategy
 572 in unpredictably varying environments. Ecology e03496.
 573 https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.3496
- 574 Pinceel, T., Buschke, F., Weckx, M., Brendonck, L., Vanschoenwinkel, B., 2018. Climate
 575 change jeopardizes the persistence of freshwater zooplankton by reducing both
 576 habitat suitability and demographic resilience. BMC Ecol. 18, 1–9.
 577 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12898-018-0158-z
- 578 Pinceel, T., Vanschoenwinkel, B., Hawinkel, W., Tuytens, K., Brendonck, L., 2017.
 579 Aridity promotes bet hedging via delayed hatching: a case study with two temporary
 580 pond crustaceans along a latitudinal gradient. Oecologia 184, 161–170.

- 581 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-017-3858-8
- 582 Pinceel, T., Vanschoenwinkel, B., Uten, J., Brendonck, L., 2013. Mechanistic and
 583 evolutionary aspects of light-induced dormancy termination in a temporary pond
 584 crustacean. Freshw. Sci. 32, 517–524. https://doi.org/10.1899/12.157.1
- 585 R Core Team, 2020. R: A language and environment for statistical computing.
- 586 Ricci, C., 2005. Anhydrobiosis in Bdelloid Species, Populations and Individuals. Integr.
 587 Comp. Biol. 45, 759–763. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/45.5.759
- Rocha, L.G., Medeiros, E.S.F., Andrade, H.T.A., 2012. Influence of flow variability on
 macroinvertebrate assemblages in an intermittent stream of semi-arid Brazil. J. Arid
 Environ. 85, 33–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2012.04.001
- 591 Sabnis, N.J., Kulkarni, M.R., Padhye, S.M., Pai, K., 2017. Hatching phenology, life 592 history and population dynamics of the Oriental clam shrimp Eulimnadia 593 indocylindrova Durga Prasad and Simhachalam with notes on phenology patterns in 594 51. the J. Nat. Hist. 1835-1849. Spinicaudata. 595 https://doi.org/10.1080/00222933.2017.1355996
- Schröder, T., Gilbert, J.J., 2004. Transgenerational plasticity for sexual reproduction and
 diapause in the life cycle of monogonont rotifers: intraclonal, intraspecific and
 interspecific variation in the response to crowding. Funct. Ecol. 18, 458–466.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0269-8463.2004.00854.x
- Stenert, C., Wüsth, R., Pires, M.M., Freiry, R.F., Nielsen, D., Maltchik, L., 2017.
 Composition of cladoceran dormant stages in intermittent ponds with different
 hydroperiod lengths. Ecol. Res. 32, 921–930. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11284-0171498-4
- Strachan, S.R., Chester, E.T., Robson, B.J., 2015. Freshwater Invertebrate Life History
 Strategies for Surviving Desiccation. Springer Sci. Rev. 3, 57–75.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s40362-015-0031-9
- Tooth, S., McCarthy, T.S., 2007. Wetlands in drylands: Geomorphological and
 sedimentological characteristics, with emphasis on examples from southern Africa.
- 609 Prog. Phys. Geogr. 31, 3–41. https://doi.org/10.1177/0309133307073879
- 610 UNEP, 2011. Global Drylands: A UN system-wide response. Geneva.

Vanoverbeke, J., De Meester, L., 2009. Within season short-term hatching delays suggest
risk-spreading behaviour in populations of the freshwater cladoceran Daphnia.
Écoscience 16, 441–451. https://doi.org/10.2980/16-4-3254

- Vanschoenwinkel, B., Seaman, M., Brendonck, L., 2010. Hatching phenology, life
 history and egg bank size of fairy shrimp Branchipodopsis spp. (Branchiopoda,
 Crustacea) in relation to the ephemerality of their rock pool habitat. Aquat. Ecol. 44,
 771–780. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10452-010-9315-y
- Vargas, A.L., Santangelo, J.M., Bozelli, R.L., 2019. Recovery from drought: Viability
 and hatching patterns of hydrated and desiccated zooplankton resting eggs. Int. Rev.
 Hydrobiol. 26–33. https://doi.org/10.1002/iroh.201801977
- Vendramin, D., Pires, M.M., Freiry, R.F., Schneider, A.E.B., Martins, L., Medeiros,
 E.S.F., Rocha, O., Stenert, C., Maltchik, L., 2022. Hatching dynamics of invertebrate
 dormant stages in temporary ponds are influenced by multiple hydrations. Freshw.
 Sci. 41, 143–152. https://doi.org/10.1086/719129
- Wang, C.-C., Chou, L.-S., 2015. Terminating dormancy: hatching phenology of
 sympatric large branchiopods in Siangtian Pond, a temporary wetland in Taiwan. J.
 Crustac. Biol. 35, 301–308. https://doi.org/10.1163/1937240X-00002322
- Waterkeyn, A., Van Pottelbergh, N., Vanoverbeke, J., Vanschoenwinkel, B., De Meester,
 L., Brendonck, L., 2013. Constitutive but no triops-induced differences in bethedging strategies for hatching in daphnia. Hydrobiologia 715, 29–35.
- 631 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-012-1299-2
- 632
- 633

634 Appendices

Days after hydration					2	4	6	8	10	12	14	16	18	20	22	24	26	28	Total
NEMATODA					11	11	17	14	26	12	16	13	16	27	18	12	21	30	244
PLATYHELMINTES				Dalyellidae									1	2		4	2	2	11
TARDIGRADA							1			2			2		1			2	8
ARTHROPODA	ARACHNIDA	Acari		Oribatida				1	1										2
	MALACOSTRACA	Branchiopoda	Anostraca	Anostraca nauplii	4	19	21	9	2		6	3	1			2	1	4	72
			Cladocera	Ceriodaphinia sp.							2				3				5
				Ephemeroporus sp.					1		1								2
				Ephemeroporus hybridus (Daday, 1905)										4	1		2		7
				Latonopsis australis (Sars, 1888)					2	2									4
				Macrothrix squamosa (Sars, 1901)					2	2	7			4	6	1	7	26	55
				Moina sp.				1											1
				Parvalona parva (Daday, 1905)									4	1	1	1	3		10
				Ovalona glabra (Sars, 1901)							1					2		1	4
				Neonate				2		3					2				7
			Spinicaudata	<i>Eulimnadia</i> sp.					1										1
		Ostracoda		Chlamydotheca sp.1						2	1	2	2	3		2	2	2	16
				Chlamydotheca sp.2											1				1
				Cypricercus sp.												1	2	1	4
				Pelocypris sp.													1		1
				Ostracoda sp.1							1				1				2
				Ostracoda sp.2						1	1					2			4
				Ostracoda sp.3											1				1
				Stenocypris sp.												1	1	1	3
				Juvenile				1	2	1	10	14	22	22	15	13	22	11	133
ROTIFERA		Bdelloidea			2		1	3	5	10	3	7	6	16	5	3	8	3	72
		Monogononta		<i>Cephalodella</i> sp.									4	3		5	4	6	22
		Ū		Euchlanis sp.				1	4	8	25	17	8	1					64
				Hexarthra sp.								1							1
				Lepadella sp.									3						3
				Notommatidae						1	14	7	10	1	9	7	10	3	62
				Plationus patulus (Müller, 1786)							1								1
				Pytigura sp.							1		1			2	1		5
Total				•	17	30	40	32	46	44	90	64	80	84	64	58	87	92	828

Table A.1. Hatchling composition over the hydration experiment.

638 *Fig. A.1.* Rarefaction-extrapolation curve (and its respective 95% upper and lower 639 confidence intervals) of invertebrate hatchlings richness in the experimental procedures 640 (N = 14 sampling events x 06 sediment samples). (Single-column fitting image).



5 CAPÍTULO 3: CAN THE USE OF ZOOPLANKTON DORMANT STAGES FROM NATURAL WETLANDS CONTRIBUTE TO RESTORATION OF MINED WETLANDS?

Artigo publicado no periódico *Aquatic Ecology* **em 2021 (ISSN 1573-5125)** Aquatic Ecology 55, 681–693 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10452-021-09854-5



Can the use of zooplankton dormant stages from natural wetlands contribute to restoration of mined wetlands?

Daiane Vendramin · Allana Gonçalves Piu · Ana Emília Brochado Schneider · Lidiane Martins · Pedro Henrique de Oliveira Hoffmann · Elvio S. F. Medeiros · Leonardo Felipe Bairos Moreira · Leonardo Maltchik · Cristina Stenert

Received: 11 October 2020/Accepted: 13 March 2021/Published online: 24 March 2021 © The Author(s), under exclusive licence to Springer Nature B.V. 2021

Abstract Wetlands are among the most diverse environments on the planet and are strongly threatened by human activities. Their restoration and/or mitigation of human impacts, therefore, relies on information that can aid to the management of impacted wetlands so that they return to a (semi-) natural state. We investigate in this study the relationship between dormant stages of zooplankton and clay removal in areas subjected to mining. We evaluate whether a gradual increase in topsoil addition from donor natural wetlands to the sediment of mined wetlands influenced the zooplankton community. Eight wetlands were sampled in the Sinos River floodplain, four natural and four mined. In the laboratory, four field sediment

Handling Editor: Vinicius Farjalla.

D. Vendramin · A. G. Piu · A. E. B. Schneider ·
L. Martins · P. H. de Oliveira Hoffmann ·
L. Maltchik · C. Stenert (⊠)
Laboratório de Ecologia e Conservação de Ecossistemas
Aquáticos, Universidade do Vale do Rio dos Sinos
(UNISINOS), Av. Unisinos, 950, São Leopoldo,
Rio Grande do Sul 93.022-750, Brazil
e-mail: cstenert@unisinos.br

E. S. F. Medeiros

Semi-Arid Rivers Ecology Group, State University of Paraíba, Campus V, João Pessoa, PB, Brazil

L. F. B. Moreira

Departament of Botany and Ecology, Federal University of Mato Grosso, Cuiabá, MT, Brazil

samples were incubated for zooplankton hatching in five treatments comprising sediments from: mined wetlands, natural wetlands, and three treatments containing mined sediments added with low (5%), medium (20%) and high (40%) quantities of sediment from natural wetlands. Hatching consisted of 61 individuals distributed across eight zooplankton taxa. Copepod nauplii were the most abundant (31.1%) followed by Epiphanes sp. (29.5%) and Ovalona glabra (16.4%). While natural wetlands provided 42.6% of the hatched zooplankton, mined wetlands had just 6.5%. Zooplankton richness and abundance were higher in natural wetland sediments compared with mined and added sediment wetlands. To some degree, the sediment soil donation from natural to mined wetlands was considered viable. As long as prior studies are performed to test the size and quality of the dormant banks present in the sediment of candidate donor wetlands, sediment from donor wetlands may aid in the establishment of a more diverse community in disturbed systems.

Keywords Wetlands · Zooplankton · Invertebrate egg bank · Hatching · Topsoil · Disturbance

Introduction

Wetlands are among the most diverse habitats on the planet (Batzer and Sharitz 2014; Mitsch and Gosselink 2015), providing valuable ecosystem services to human populations (Bos et al. 2005; Junk et al. 2014; Mitsch and Gosselink 2015; Ramsar Convention on Wetlands 2018). However, these systems are threatened by human activities including urban and industrial expansion and agriculture (Czech and Parsons 2002; Settele et al. 2015; Craft 2016; Hu et al. 2017; Maltchik et al. 2017). Studies estimate a loss of wetland area of around 64% worldwide (Davidson 2014; Ramsar Convention on Wetlands 2018), with considerable spatial variation at loss rates. In Brazil, current rates of wetland loss are unknown (Junk et al. 2014).

Mining is an economically important industrial activity in Brazil (BRL 100 billion per year) (National Mining Agency of Brazil 2018), which is directly and indirectly responsible for significant impacts on biological communities, such as zooplankton, and compromising the integrity of aquatic systems in and around the mined area (Santhosh et al. 2013; Moreira et al. 2016; Goździejewska et al. 2018). Mining in wetlands generates inputs of a range of pollutants, including heavy metals, which reduces water quality (Sodré et al. 2015) and also increases turbidity by the increase in soluble particles through the water column, which limits primary production and zooplankton diversity (Bozelli 1996; Moreira et al. 2016). Mined wetlands are usually disturbed by continuous clay removal, mostly from the topsoil (Dong et al. 2019) that contains the dormant stages of zooplankton (Brendonck and De Meester 2003).

Zooplankton is a key group in the aquatic food web, representing the link between producers and larger consumers (Jenkins and Boulton 2003). Some zooplankton animals have dormancy capability (i.e., longterm resistant stages) that enables them to survive periods of unfavorable conditions (Vargas et al. 2019; Fontaneto 2019). Thus, such dormant stages are crucial for colonization processes and community dynamics in freshwater wetlands, especially temporary ones (Shurin 2000; Badosa et al. 2017; Brendonck et al. 2017). Seemingly isolated temporary wetlands may serve as source of zooplankton propagules via surface water flow, wind, and attached to animals. In floodplains, several ecological processes are associated with the variation between the aquatic and terrestrial phases (Junk et al. 2006; Tockner et al. 2006). As flood pulse often decreases environmental heterogeneity and bring new colonizers (Thomaz et al. 2007; Bozelli et al. 2015), zooplankton communities are structured by the interaction between dormant stages, stochastic events and the dispersal of propagules from other areas (Shurin et al. 2009).

Zooplanktonic species are good indicators of anthropic impacts and useful in understanding processes associated with wetland degradation and restoration (Boix et al. 2008; Ejsmont-Karabin 2012; Brendonck et al. 2017; Marszelewski et al. 2017; Goździejewska et al. 2018). The assessment of the diversity of zooplankton communities through hatching experiments has proven to be a useful and reliable tool for monitoring community changes as dormant banks integrate seasonal and inter-annual variations in environmental conditions (Brendonck and De Meester 2003; García-Roger et al. 2008).

Dormant banks of zooplankton consist mostly of long-term resistant propagules and other similar stress-resistant structures present in wetland sediments (Gaikwad et al. 2008). The hatching of the dormant stages is influenced by one or more environmental and biological factors (Williams 2006), such as, hydroperiod (Brendonck et al. 2017; Stenert et al. 2017), temperature (Gaikwad et al. 2008; Palazzo et al. 2008), photoperiod (Vandekerkhove et al. 2005), dissolved oxygen (Broman et al. 2015), predation (Nielsen et al. 2000; Vendramin et al. 2020) and competition (Shao et al. 2014). In southern Brazil, studies using hatching experiments have been indicating that many zooplanktonic taxa, mainly microcrustaceans, emerge from numerous viable dormant eggs of natural wetland sediments (Freiry et al. 2016, 2020a, b; Stenert et al. 2016; Bandeira et al. 2020), and rice field sediments (Stenert et al. 2010; Ávila et al. 2015).

The management of dormant banks of zooplankton can be used to recuperate wetlands affected by human activities (Gleason et al. 2003, 2004; Jenkins and Boulton 2007; Cui et al. 2018). The employment of topsoil (i.e., the upper sediment layer which comprises the active dormant bank) (Cáceres and Hairston 1998; Brendonck and De Meester 2003) from a donor wetland soil (Burke 1997; Wetland Science Institute 2003) may aid the recovery of biological communities in disturbed wetlands (Brock et al. 2003; Richter and Stromberg 2005; Moreno-Mateos et al. 2015). Topsoil from donor wetlands may also increase the water retention capacity and, therefore, enhance the establishment of other organisms, important to the nutrient cycling (Burke 1997).

In this sense, we conducted an ex situ experiment to investigate the relationship between dormant stages of zooplankton and clay removal in wetlands subject to mining activities. We also assessed whether increasing amount of topsoil addition from natural (non-mined) wetlands in the sediment of mined areas could influence the taxonomic richness, abundance and composition of the zooplankton communities. Based on the evidence that mining activities affect the zooplanktonic communities (Vandysh 2004; Moreira et al. 2016; Goździejewska et al. 2018), and that cladoceran ephippial eggs are well-known compared to other taxa, we hypothesized that: (1) the abundance of cladoceran ephippial eggs would be higher in natural wetland sediment when compared with mined ones; (2) richness and abundance of hatchlings would be higher in natural wetland sediments, followed by treatments with high topsoil addition from natural wetlands, and lowest in mined wetland sediments; and (3) mined and natural wetland sediments would have a different taxa composition, but topsoil addition would reduce the community composition dissimilarity between mined and natural wetlands.

Material and methods

Study area

The study was conducted in the Sinos River basin, inserted between the geographic coordinates $50^{\circ}10'$ and $51^{\circ}20'$ W, and $29^{\circ}15'$ and $30^{\circ}00'$ S (state of Rio Grande do Sul), in southern Brazil, which encompasses a densely populated area of approximately 3600 km^2 . The water quality of the Sinos River basin varies along its longitudinal gradient, decreasing from the upper reaches towards the lower region of the basin, which is affected by the input of polluting agents from domestic and industrial waste (Bieger et al. 2010; FEPAM 2019).

The climate in the study area is subtropical (Cfa, Köppen-Geiger classification), with annual mean temperature and precipitation of 20 °C and 1600 mm, respectively (COMITESINOS 2019). The Sinos River floodplain is scattered with intermittent wetlands, where high precipitation originates occasional flood events that inundate all floodplain habitats throughout various periods of the year (Rio Grande do Sul 2015). Flood pulses can be quite variable within and among the years. While many floods are short in duration (~ 1 week), it is not uncommon the system remain flooded for up to 2 months (Maltchik et al. 2008). During these events, the riparian habitats (between 1000 and 2000 m around the main channel of the river) remains connected through the surface water of the Sinos River. The mean water depth in floodplain wetlands is approximately 60 cm; however, during the flood events, the water depth can reach 200 cm in all floodplain system. The riparian vegetation is represented mainly by native woodland, and wetlands are fed from precipitation and runoff or floodwaters from the Sinos River. Mining activities that occur over the Sinos River basin, include the extraction of clay minerals for the production of ceramics, tiles and construction materials, which is responsible for 21% of the GDP of the state of Rio Grande do Sul (COMITESINOS 2019).

Sampling design

Eight floodplain wetlands located in the lower region of the Sinos River basin were sampled in February 2019, including four natural (donor wetlands) and four mined wetlands, located at least 5 km distant from each other. Sampling was performed in summer when most wetlands decrease in surface water. Some wetlands dry up completely and others may decrease in as much as 60% of their surface area. Sampled natural wetlands showed similar morphological characteristics such as size (~ 1 ha), depth (0.5 m on average) and the composition of aquatic vegetation during flooding, such as herbaceous and emergent plants. Mining consisted of mechanically excavating the wetlands for the use of clay, in which case they would become devoid of aquatic plants.

In order to obtain a representative sediment sample throughout the selected wetlands, 15 subsamples were randomly collected from each of the eight wetlands during a dry period using a core sampler (7.5 cm diameter) inserted to a depth of 5 cm into the substrate (Brendonck and De Meester 2003). The area of each core was 44.15 cm², and the area of the sediment sampled per wetland was about 660 cm². These

subsamples were, then, pooled to represent the entire wetland and stored in black plastic buckets (20 L) for further analysis (Maia-Barbosa et al. 2003; Stenert et al. 2010).

Laboratory procedures

The sediment collected (February 2019) was taken to the laboratory and dehydrated in a dark oven for 96 h at 40 °C. The dry sediment was subsequently stored in dark plastic bags for 60 days and room temperature (23 °C) before the beginning of the experiment (May 2019). Before the experiment, the dehydrated sediment was sieved (1-mm mesh size) for the removal of roots and leaves and homogenized, corresponding to approximately 1.5 kg of dry sediment per wetland. First, the sugar flotation method (Onbé 1978) was used to evaluate the abundance of cladoceran ephippial eggs in natural and mined wetlands. For this, 100 g of dry sediment representing each wetland was added to a 1:1 mix of distilled water and sugar. Then, 15 mL of this solution was centrifuged (at 3000 rpm for 3 min), and the supernatant was washed through a 53-µm mesh using distilled water.

Additionally, 250 g aliquots from dry topsoil were used to create five incubation treatments (T) with four replicates each: T1 (250 g from mined wetlands, i.e., 0% from donor wetland); T2, low addition of topsoil (12.5 g from natural wetland + 237.5 g from mined)sediment, i.e., 5% from donor wetland); T3, medium addition of topsoil (50 g from natural wetland + 200 g from mined sediment, i.e., 20% from donor wetland); T4, high addition of topsoil (100 g from natural wetland + 150 g from mined sediment, i.e., 40% from donor wetland); T5 (250 g of topsoil from natural donor wetlands). The definition of these different proportions of topsoil sediment was based on the fact that low proportions of natural sediments (maximum 40%) would be less costly and more viable in wetland restoration projects developed in situ.

Sediment samples were incubated in trays measuring 30.3 cm in length, 22.1 cm in width and 7.5 cm in depth. The sediment in each one of the twelve trays was kept aerated and submersed under a depth of 2 cm of distilled water. Water level, temperature $(23 \pm 2 \text{ °C})$, photoperiod (12 h light/12 h dark), and dissolved oxygen (> 6.5 mg/L) were kept constant (Stenert et al. 2010; Ávila et al. 2015).

The experiment was maintained in the laboratory for 4 weeks, and hatchlings were collected three times per week to avoid reproduction. Several studies suggest that sampling intervals of 2-3 days ensure that the individuals collected are from the dormant bank and not from reproduction (Brock et al. 2005; Nielsen et al. 2013). The duration of the experiment was based on previous work from our research group (Freiry et al. 2020b; Vendramin et al. 2020) and others (Brock et al. 2003). The samples were collected by stirring up the sediment and then sweeping above the overlying water (three times at each tray) using a 22.1 cm wide net (53 µm mesh). The content of the sample was then transferred to a Bogorov chamber for sorting of hatchlings using a stereomicroscopic (Zeiss Stemi 2000-C). After the sampling of hatchlings, the ephippial eggs found in the sample were returned to their respective trays. The hatchlings collected were transferred to 1.5-mL polypropylene tubes with 80% ethanol. Identification was performed to the species level whenever possible using specialized literature (Koste 1978; Elmoor-Loureiro 1997, 2000; Gazulha 2012) and additional help from taxonomists. Individuals or their parts (antennae, antennule, post-abdomen) were prepared with a drop of glycerine and examined under a microscope. The Copepod nauplii were only counted. Samples of the identified organisms are kept at the Laboratory of Ecology and Conservation of Aquatic Ecosystems of UNISINOS.

Data analyses

To compare richness and abundance of zooplankton across topsoil sediment treatments, we used a generalized linear model (GLM). Response variables were taxa number and number of hatchlings, and the model was adjusted for the Poisson distribution for richness and negative binomial distribution for abundance (due to major overdispersion of residuals). Statistical significances were assessed using the ANOVA function from car package which performs Wald Chi-Square Test (Fox and Weisberg 2019).

A permutational variance analysis (PERMA-NOVA) was used to assess differences in zooplankton composition among the five treatments, based on Bray–Curtis dissimilarity. Because this analysis is sensitive to data dispersion and may therefore confound between within-group variation and amonggroup variation, we performed an analysis of multivariate homogeneity (PERMDISP), as recommended by Anderson and Walsh (2013). We used a Bray–Curtis dissimilarity matrix for PERMDISP and a permutation test (999 runs) to assess significance. Similarity percentages (SIMPER) analysis was used to investigate the sources of variation (taxa) responsible for composition dissimilarity identified in the PER-MANOVA. A compound graph (Dambros 2014) was used to characterize species distribution across topsoil treatments. All analyses were performed using the vegan (Oksanen et al. 2019) and stats packages for R (R Development Core Team 2020).

Results

In the flotation experiment, 23 cladoceran ephippial eggs were found, distributed into two genera and two morphotypes (*Simocephalus*—6, *Ilyocryptus*—1, morphotype 1—9, and morphotype 2—7). All of them were observed in the natural wetland sediments (4, 2, 1 and 16 eggs in the four natural wetlands). The density of the ephippial eggs varied from 0.01 to 0.16 eggs/g of sediment.

A total of 61 hatchlings distributed across eight zooplanktonic taxa were recorded in the five treatments. Copepod nauplii were the most abundant (31.1%), followed by *Epiphanes* sp. (29.5%), *Ovalona glabra* (16.4%) and the bdelloid rotifers (9.8%) (Table 1). In mined wetland sediments (T1), just copepod nauplii and rotifers (*Cephalodella* sp. and Bdelloidea) hatched, while all the eight taxa were 685

found in natural wetland sediments (T5). While natural wetland sediments (T5) contained 42.6% of hatched zooplankton, treatments with added topsoil (T2, T3, and T4) contained 13.0, 16.4 and 21.3% of hatched zooplankton, respectively. Mined wetland sediments (T1) resulted in just 6.5%.

Zooplankton richness and abundance differed between treatments (Richness: $X^2 = 11.55$, *d.f.* = 2, P = 0.021; Abundance: = $X^212.389$, *d.f.* = 2, P = 0.015), but only sediments from natural wetlands had positive relationship with both variables (Table 2; Fig. 1). Richness and abundance were higher in natural wetland sediments than in the other treatments. However, the richness and abundance of hatchlings did not change between mined wetland sediments (T1) and the different topsoil addition treatments from donor wetlands (T2, T3 and T4).

Hatchling assemblages showed differences in taxa composition associated with substrate type that explained 29% of variability observed (PERMA-NOVA, Pseudo $F_{4,15} = 1.563$, P = 0.043). The PER-MANOVA results were not affected by multivariate dispersion ($F_{4,15} = 2.2815$, P = 0.105). SIMPER analysis showed that sediment from mining activities were particularly restricted to one cladoceran species (*O. glabra*) (P = 0.004) and rotifers (*Lecane* sp.) (P = 0.03) when compared to hatchlings from natural wetlands (Fig. 2). Alone *O. glabra* contributed to 21.6% of the overall dissimilarity. Abundance of copepod nauplii (Bray–Curtis dissimilarity = 0.52; P = 0.014) and rotifers from the subclass Bdelloidea (Bray–Curtis dissimilarity = 0.24; P = 0.03) were the

	T1	T2	T3	T4	T5	Abundan
COPEPODA						
Nauplii	2	5	2	1	9	19
CLADOCERA						
Ovalona glabra			1		9	10
Simocephalus serrulatus					1	1
Simocephalus sp.			1			1
ROTIFERA						
Epiphanes sp.		1	4	11	2	18
Lecane sp.					1	1
Cephalodella sp.	1	2		1	1	5
Bdelloidea	1		2		3	6
Richness	3	3	5	3	7	8
Abundance	4	8	10	13	26	61

Table 1 Abundance of
zooplankton hatchlings in
southern Brazil wetlands

T1 refers to sediment from mined wetlands; T5 refers to sediment from natural wetlands; mined sediments added with donor sediment from natural wetlands is T2 (5%), T3 (20%) and T4 (40%)

	Treatment	Coefficients	SE	Р
Richness	T1	-0.287	0.577	0.618
	T2	0.511	0.703	0.484
	Т3	0.693	0.707	0.327
	T4	≈ 0	0.816	0.99
	T5	1.54	0.632	0.002*
Abundance	T1	≈ 0	0.654	0.99
	T2	0.693	0.855	0.417
	Т3	0.916	0.840	0.275
	T4	1.179	0.826	0.153
	Т5	2.327	0.793	0.003*

 Table 2 Results of the GLM performed to test the effect of sediment type on zooplankton hatchlings in southern Brazil wetlands

Significant differences were denoted with*. SE, standard error; T1 refers to sediment from mined wetlands; T5 refers to sediment from natural wetlands; mined sediments added with donor sediment from natural wetlands is T2 (5%), T3 (20%) and T4 (40%)

main taxa that accounted for variability in community composition among mined areas (T1) and low (T2) and medium topsoil addition (T3) treatments, respectively.

Discussion

It has been shown that mining and its associated activities have important environmental impacts not only at the mined area but at its surroundings, due to vegetation suppression and disruption of the surface layers of the soil (Santhosh et al. 2013; Dong et al. 2019). In the present study, the flotation experiment showed an absence of cladoceran ephippial eggs throughout mined wetlands. Also, the density of eggs in natural wetlands was low when compared with wetlands in other areas of southern Brazil (Vendramin et al. 2020), as well as the rest of the country (Santangelo et al. 2011) and the world (Brendonck and De Meester 2003). Several studies show that the density of invertebrate resting stages in the sediment throughout the world can be quite variable. According to Hairston (1996), the top sediment layer in natural wetlands can reach from 10^3 to 10^6 dormant stages of zooplankton species per square meter. In Australia, this is estimated as 1.2×10^7 (per square meter) (Shiel et al. 2001). On the other hand, García-Roger et al. (2008) have reported as low as eight eggs per gram of sediment in brackish ponds and a saline lake from Eastern Spain, and Bailey et al. (2004) only 1.25 eggs per gram of sediment from the Great Lakes in Canada.

The low observed richness and abundance of hatchlings in the experiment can therefore have been the result of a low density of dormant stages found in the sediment of the study wetlands. A range of studies show that the production and hatching of dormant stages of zooplankton are linked to specific biological cues triggered by water conditions (Vandekerkhove et al. 2005; Gaikwad et al. 2008; Broman et al. 2015; Brendonck et al. 2017). Our results differ from a range of studies performed in southern Brazil, where a greater richness and abundance of hatchlings from zooplanktonic dormant bank was found in rehydrated sediments under the same experimental conditions (Stenert et al. 2010, 2016, 2017; Ávila et al. 2020).

With that in mind, the density of dormant stages in the topsoil sediment of the non-mined study sites indicates that some wetlands have naturally low density of dormant stages, thus, not being suitable as donors of sediment in the context of restoring damaged wetlands. The prediction that the addition of topsoil to mined wetlands would reduce the community composition dissimilarity between mined and natural wetlands could not be asserted, given the low overall density of eggs in the present study natural wetlands. It cannot be implied, though, that the addition of topsoil to mined wetlands could not be an approach to their restoration. The same experimental methodology was performed in similar studies in southern Brazil, but none of them had wetland restoration as ultimate goal. These studies found high numbers of viable dormant eggs of zooplankton in natural wetlands (Freiry et al. 2016, 2020a, b; Stenert et al. 2016, 2017; Vendramin et al. 2020) and rice fields (Stenert et al. 2010; Ávila et al. 2015).

Therefore, the low number of dormant stages observed in the present study may be related to the portion of the Sinos River basin sampled. The lower region of the Sinos River corresponds to a highly populated and industrialized area in the south of Brazil which can negatively impact water quality, oxygen levels and the overall quality of natural habitats (Bieger et al. 2010; FEPAM 2019). During the flooding season, the studied natural floodplain Fig. 1 Mean richness (a) and mean abundance (b) of zooplankton hatchlings in southern Brazil wetlands. Bars represent standard error. Richness corresponds to taxa number and abundance to number of hatchlings. T1 refers to sediment from mined wetlands; T5 refers to sediment from natural wetlands; mined sediments added with donor sediment from natural wetlands are T2 (5%), T3 (20%) and T4 (40%)



wetlands can connect to the main river channel, which may have affected the establishment of a healthy and viable zooplanktonic dormant bank. Many eutrophicated wetlands have anoxic sediments where the dormant stages of zooplankton are deposited (Broman et al. 2015). Sediments with oxygen deficiency are rich in toxic compounds, which potentially destroy buried zooplankton resting stages (Bagarinao 1992). Besides, the increase in organic matter in the sediment originated from the main channel and from human activities can lead to eutrophication, which in turn increases microbial activity and other biological factors capable of destroying dormant eggs or deposit



Fig. 2 Distribution of zooplankton hatchlings in different classes of topsoil. Bar size is proportional to total number of individuals. White to dark grey bars represent different

waste and toxic products around the eggs turning them non-viable (Brendonk and De Meester 2003).

Overall, our results are in line with the idea that environmental disturbances mediated by humans can shape community structure by filtering species sharing some traits vulnerable to the new environmental conditions (Mol and Ouboter 2004; Palmer et al. 2010; Hitt and Chambers 2015). Hence, clay removal has a clear negative effect on the dormant propagule banks in wetlands, with only copepod nauplii and rotifers hatching in mined wetlands. Although we found no influence of the relocation of topsoil on richness and abundance of dormant zooplankton, our results showed that even a small addition may affect species composition, favoring the emergency of more generalist taxa.

Our expectations for topsoil addition were not fully supported, although the different outcomes suggest that species introduced together with the topsoil can become prey food for consumers thus aiding recovery of the biota in wetlands affected by human activities. It is important to recognize here that, although some species tolerate mining disturbances, they are less

treatments (mining areas \rightarrow lowly enriched \rightarrow medium enriched \rightarrow highly enriched \rightarrow natural wetland)

abundant than in sediments from natural wetlands, since in mined wetland sediments just copepod nauplii and rotifers hatched. Rotifers are opportunistic organisms (Maia-Barbosa et al. 2014) well adapted to disturbance both natural (Melo and Medeiros 2013) and from anthropic origin (Ricci 2001; Cabral et al. 2019). Goździejewska et al. (2018) showed for reservoirs located in mined areas that the richness of zooplankton was represented mostly by rotifer species. Also, particulate organic matter and minerals in the water have been shown to be an important substrate for bacterial growth allowing for a greater abundance of rotifers (Mayer et al. 1997; Ejsmont-Karabin 2012).

While it might seem reasonable to assume that clay removal per se was responsible for the results presented, we should be careful when extrapolating which factor is driving zooplankton assemblage structure. Studies have shown that acidification, salinization and pollution by mining activities lead to the reduction in aquatic invertebrate (and other taxa) richness and to lower abundance on natural ecosystems (Bielańska-Grajner and Gladysz 2010; Rönicke et al. 2010; Moser and Weisse 2011; Bielańska-Grajner and Cudak 2014; Ferrari et al. 2015; Sienkiewicz and Gasiorowski 2016; Pociecha et al. 2017). So, there are several factors related with clay mining influencing zooplankton assemblages. Exactly what is the most important is hard to identify and is beyond the scope of our experiment.

In conclusion, our results showed that some natural wetlands may not have a bank of zooplankton dormant stages large enough for them to be considered as donors of topsoil sediment to aid in the recovery of wetlands subjected to mining activities. These results show some degree of unpredictability in the strategy of sediment soil donation between natural wetlands and those subject to mining activities, which can be reduced as long as prior studies are performed to test the size and quality of the dormant banks present in the sediment of candidate donor wetlands. That is actually an important result from our study, since we draw attention to the fact that the quality of donor habitats (their topsoil, water and habitat structure), must also be taken into account when using the sediment transfers scheme in order to manage disturbed systems. This should be considered not only to wetlands but to other systems as well. Taking such conditions into account, sediment from donor wetlands can therefore aid in the establishment of a more diverse community in disturbed systems. Further studies on the use of in situ techniques for such remediation and species-traits that favor colonization will help to develop additional procedures for the proper management and restoration of wetlands. Such methodologies would enable not only the restoration of disturbed wetlands but also to help the conciliation between human activities and a lower impact of such activities to the natural environment.

Acknowledgements This study was funded by CNPq— Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico—(305475/2018-5) and UNISINOS. All authors read and approved the final manuscript. Cristina Stenert and Leonardo Maltchik hold CNPq Research Productivity grants. CAPES (Coordination for the Improvement of Higher Education Personnel) granted a Ph.D. scholarship to Daiane Vendramin. Leonardo F.B. Moreira is a Visiting Professor at UFMT and Elvio S. F. Medeiros is an Adjunct Professor at UEPB. Allana G. Piu, Ana Emília B. Schneider, Lidiane Martins and Pedro Henrique O. Hoffmann are undergraduate students at UNISINOS. Authors' contribution LM and CS conceived the idea, sampling design, and led the writing of the manuscript. DV organized the field and laboratory work, carried out the statistical analyses, and drafted the manuscript. AGP, AEBS, LM, and PHOH participated in the laboratory work. ESFM and LFBM revised the statistical analyses and the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Data availability statement Data will be made available on reasonable request.

Declarations

Conflict of interest The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Ethical approval We declare that data collection complied with current Brazilian laws (SISBIO - 53781-4).

References

- Anderson MJ, Walsh DCI (2013) PERMANOVA, ANOSIM, and the Mantel test in the face of heterogeneous dispersions: what null hypothesis are you testing? Ecol Monogr 83:557–574
- Ávila AC, Boelter T, Martins dos Santos R, Stenert C, Würdig NL, Rocha O, Maltchik L (2015) The effects of different rice cultivation systems and ages on resting stages of wetland invertebrates in southern Brazil. Mar Freshw Res 66:276–285. https://doi.org/10.1071/MF14048
- Badosa A, Frisch D, Green AJ, Rico C, Gómez A (2017) Isolation mediates persistent founder effects on zooplankton colonisation in new temporary ponds. Sci Rep 7:1–11
- Bailey SA, Duggan IC, Van Overdijk CD, Johengen TH, Reid DF, MacIsaac HJ (2004) Salinity tolerance of diapausing eggs of freshwater zooplankton. Freshw Biol 49:286–295. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2004.01185.x
- Bagarinao T (1992) Sulfide as an environmental factor and toxicant: tolerance and adaptations in aquatic organisms. Aquat Toxicol 24:21–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-445X(92)90015-F
- Bandeira MGS, Martins KP, Palma-Silva C, Hepp LU, Albertoni EF (2020) Hydration time influences microcrustacean hatching in intermittent wetlands: in situ and ex situ approaches. Hydrobiologia 847:3227–3245
- Batzer DP, Sharitz RR (2014) Ecology of freshwater and estuarine wetlands, 2nd edn. University of California Press, California
- Bieger L, Carvalho ABP, Strieder MN, Maltchik L, Stenert C (2010) Are the streams of the Sinos River basin of good water quality? Aquatic macroinvertebrates may answer the question. Braz J Biol 70:1207–1215. https://doi.org/10. 1590/s1519-69842010000600010
- Bielańska-Grajner I, Gładysz A (2010) Planktonic rotifers in mining lakes in the Silesian Upland: relationship to environmental parameters. Limnologica 40:67–72
- Bielańska-Grajner I, Cudak A (2014) Effects of salinity on species diversity of rotifers in anthropogenic water bodies. Pol J Environ Stud 23:27–34

- Boix D, Gascón S, Sala J, Badosa A, Brucet S, López-Flores R, Martinoy M, Gifre J, Quintana XD (2008) Patterns of composition and species richness of crustaceans and aquatic insects along environmental gradients in Mediterranean water bodies. Hydrobiologia 597:53–69. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-90-481-9088-1_6
- Bos E, Muhweezi A, West K (2005) From conversion to conservation: fifteen years of managing wetlands for people and the environment in Uganda. International Union for Conservation of Nature, Kampala
- Bozelli RL (1996) The influence of bauxite tailings on the cladoceran populations of Lake Batata, Amazonia, Brazil. Int Rev Hydrobiol 81:621–634. https://doi.org/10.1002/ iroh.19960810419
- Bozelli RL, Thomaz SM, Padial AA, Lopes PM, Bini LM (2015) Floods decrease zooplankton beta diversity and environmental heterogeneity in an Amazonian floodplain system. Hydrobiologia 753:233–241
- Brendonck L, De Meester L (2003) Egg banks in freshwater zooplankton: evolutionary and ecological archives in the sediment. Hydrobiologia 49:65–84. https://doi.org/10. 1023/A:1024454905119
- Brendonck L, Pinceel T, Ortells R (2017) Dormancy and dispersal as mediators of zooplankton population and community dynamics along a hydrological disturbance gradient in inland temporary pools. Hydrobiologia 796:201–222. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-016-3006-1
- Brock MA, Nielsen DL, Shiel RJ, Green JD, Langley JD (2003) Drought and aquatic community resilience: the role of eggs and seeds in sediments of temporary wetlands. Freshw Biol 48:1207–1218. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2427.2003. 01083.x
- Brock MA, Nielsen DL, Crosslé K (2005) Changes in biotic communities developing from freshwater wetland sediments under experimental salinity and water regimes. Freshw Biol 50:1376–1390. https://doi.org/10.1111/j. 1365-2427.2005.01408.x
- Broman E, Brüsin M, Dopson M, Hylander S (2015) Oxygenation of anoxic sediments triggers hatching of zooplankton eggs. Proc R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci 282:1817. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2015.2025
- Burke DJ (1997) Donor wetland soil promotes revegetation in wetland trials. Restor Manage Notes 15:168–172. https:// doi.org/10.2307/43439990
- Cabral CR, Guariento RD, Ferreira FC, Amado AM, Nobre RLG, Carneiro LS, Caliman A (2019) Are the patterns of zooplankton community structure different between lakes and reservoirs? A local and regional assessment across tropical ecosystems. Aquat Ecol 53:335–346. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10452-019-09693-5
- Cáceres CE, Hairston NG (1998) Benthic-pelagic coupling in planktonic crustaceans: the role of the benthos. Arch Hydrobiol 52:163–174
- COMITESINOS (2019) Sinos River basin. http://www. comitesinos.com.br/bacia-hidrografica-do-rio-dos-sinos. Accessed 4 Aug 2019
- Craft C (2016) Creating and restoring wetlands: from theory to practice. Elsevier, Amsterdam
- Cui L, Guosheng L, Ninglei O, Fengyun M, Fu Y, Youtian Z, Xiaoyang H (2018) Analyzing coastal wetland degradation and its key restoration technologies in the coastal area of

Jiangsu, China. Wetlands 38:525–537. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s13157-018-0997-6

- Czech HA, Parsons K (2002) Agricultural wetlands and waterbirds: a review. Waterbirds 25, Special Publication 2:56–65
- Dambros C (2014) Poncho R function. https://figshare.com/ articles/poncho_R/753347. Accessed 4 Apr 2019
- Davidson NC (2014) How much wetland has the world lost? Long-term and recent trends in global wetland area. Mar Freshw Res 65:936–941. https://doi.org/10.1071/MF14173
- Dong J, Meng L, Bian Z, Fang A (2019) Investigating the characteristics, evolution and restoration modes of mining area ecosystems. Pol J Environ Stud 28:3539–3549. https:// doi.org/10.15244/pjoes/97390
- Ejsmont-Karabin J (2012) The usefulness of zooplankton as lake ecosystem indicators: Rotifer trophic state index. Pol J Ecol 60:339–350
- Elmoor-Loureiro LMA (1997) Manual de identificação de cladóceros límnicos do Brasil. Universa, Brasília
- Elmoor-Loureiro LMA (2000) Cladóceros do Brasil: famílias Chydoridae e Eurycercidae. https://cladocera.wordpress. com. Accessed 25 May 2020
- Ferrari CR, Azevedo H, Wisniewski MJS, Rodgher S, Roque CV, Nascimento MRL (2015) An overview of an acidic uranium mine pit lake (Caldas, Brazil): composition of the zooplankton community and limnochemical aspects. Mine Water Environ 34:343–351. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10230-015-0333-9
- FEPAM (State Environmental Protection Foundation Henrique Luiz Roessler) (2019) Surface water quality report in the Sinos river. http://www.fepam.rs.gov.br/biblioteca/relat_ aguas_superf.asp. Accessed 05 Sep 2020
- Fontaneto D (2019) Long-distance passive dispersal in microscopic aquatic animals. Mov Ecol 7:1–10
- Fox J, Weisberg S (2019) An R companion to applied regression, 3rd edn. Sage, Thousand Oaks
- Freiry RF, Esquinatti FM, Stenert C, Arenson A, Nielsen DL, Maltchik L (2016) Effects of spatial scale and habitat on the diversity of diapausing wetland invertebrates. Aquat Biol 25:173–181. https://doi.org/10.3354/ab00666
- Freiry RF, Gouvêa A, Becker J, Lansac-Tôha FA, Lansac-Tôha FM, Pires MM, Stenert C, Maltchik L (2020a) Community structure and concordance patterns among zooplankton life stages in subtropical temporary ponds. Aquat Ecol 54:257–270. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10452-019-09740-1
- Freiry RF, Weber V, Bonecker CC, Lansac-Tôha FA, Pires MM, Stenert C, Maltchik L (2020b) Additive partitioning of the diversity of the dormant zooplankton communities in intermittent ponds along a forest–grassland transition. Hydrobiologia 847:1327–1342. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10750-020-04187-0
- Gaikwad SR, Ingle KN, Thorat SR (2008) Study of zooplankton emergence pattern and resting egg diversity of recently dried waterbodies in North Maharashtra Region. J Environ Biol 29:353–356
- García-Roger EM, Armengol-Díaz X, Carmona MJ, Serra M (2008) Assessing rotifer diapausing egg bank diversity and abundance in brackish temporary environments: an ex situ sediment incubation approach. Fund Appl Limnol 173:79–88. https://doi.org/10.1127/1863-9135/2008/0173-0079

- Gazulha V (2012) Zooplâncton Límnico. Technical Books, Rio de Janeiro, Manual Ilustrado
- Gleason RA, Euliss NH, Hubbard D, Duffy WG (2003) Effects of sediment load on emergence of aquatic invertebrates and plants from wetland soil egg and seed banks. Wetlands 23:26–34. https://doi.org/10.1672/0277-5212(2003)023[0026:EOSLOE]2.0.CO;2
- Gleason RA, Euliss NH, Hubbard D, Duffy WG (2004) Invertebrate egg banks of restored, natural, and drained wetlands in the prairie pothole region of the united states. Wetlands 24:562–572. https://doi.org/10.1672/0277-5212(2004)024[0562:IEBORN]2.0.CO;2
- Goździejewska AM, Skrzypczak AR, Paturej E, Koszałka J (2018) Zooplankton diversity of drainage system reservoirs at an opencast mine. Knowl Manag Aquat Ecosyst 419:33. https://doi.org/10.1051/kmae/2018020
- Hairston NG (1996) Zooplankton egg banks as biotic reservoirs in changing environments. Limnol Oceanogr 41:1087–1092. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.1996.41.5.1087
- Hitt NP, Chambers DB (2015) Temporal changes in taxonomic and functional diversity of fish assemblages downstream from mountaintop mining. Freshw Sci 33:915–926. https:// doi.org/10.1086/676997
- Hu S, Niu Z, Chen Y, Li L, Zhang H (2017) Global wetlands: potential distribution, wetland loss, and status. Sci Total Environ 586:319–327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv. 2017.02.001
- Jenkins KM, Boulton AJ (2003) Connectivity in a dryland river: short-term aquatic microinvertebrate recruitment following floodplain inundation. Ecology 84:2708–2723. https:// doi.org/10.1890/02-0326
- Jenkins KM, Boulton AJ (2007) Detecting impacts and setting restoration targets in arid-zone rivers: aquatic micro-invertebrate responses to reduced floodplain inundation. J Appl Ecol 44:823–832. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2007.01298.x
- Junk WJ, Nunes da Cunha C, Wantzen KM, Petermann P, Strüssmann C, Marques MI, Adis J (2006) Biodiversity and its conservation in the Pantanal of Mato Grosso, Brazil. Aquat Sci 68:278–309
- Junk WJ, Piedade MTF, Lourival R, Wittman F, Kandus P, Lacerda LD, Bozelli RL, Esteves FA, Nunes da Cunha C, Maltchik L, Schöngart J, Schaeffer-Novelli Y, Agostinho AA (2014) Brazilian wetlands: their definition, delineation, and classification for research, sustainable management, and protection. Aquat Conserv Mar Freshw Ecosyst 24:5–22. https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.2386
- Koste W (1978) Rotatoria. Die R\u00e4dertiere Mitteleuropas Ein Bestimmungswerk, begr\u00fcndet von Max Voigt \u00fc berordnung Monogononta. Gebr\u00fcder Borntraeger, Stuttgart
- Maia-Barbosa PM, Eskinazi-Sant'Anna EM, Valadares CF, Pessoa GCD (2003) The resting eggs of zooplankton from a tropical, eutrophic reservoir (Pampulha Reservoir, southeast Brazil). Lakes Reserv Res Manag 8:269–275. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1770.2003.00229.x
- Maia-Barbosa PM, Menendez RM, Pujoni DGF, Brito SL, Aoki A, Barbosa FAR (2014) Zooplankton (Copepoda, Rotifera, Cladocera and Protozoa: Amoeba Testacea) from natural lakes of the Middle Rio Doce basin, Minas Gerais, Brazil. Biota Neotrop 14:e20134040. https://doi.org/10.1590/ S1676-06034040

- Maltchik L, Peixoto CD, Stenert C, Moreira LFB, Machado IF (2008) Dynamics of the terrestrial amphibian assemblage in a flooded riparian forest fragment in a Neotropical region in the south of Brazil. Braz J Biol 68:763–769
- Maltchik L, Stenert C, Batzer DP (2017) Can rice field management practices contribute to the conservation of species from natural wetlands? Lessons from Brazil. Basic Appl Ecol 18:50–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2016.10.002
- Marszelewski W, Dembowska E, Napiórkowski P, Solarczyk A (2017) Understanding abiotic and biotic conditions in postmining pit lakes for efficient management: a case study (Poland). Mine Water Environ 36:418–428. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10230-017-0434-8
- Mayer J, Dokulil MT, Salbrechter M, Berger M, Posch T, Pfister G, Kirchner AK, Velimirov B, Steitz A, Ulbricht T (1997) Seasonal successions and trophic relations between phytoplankton, zooplankton, ciliate and bacteria in a hypertrophic shallow lake in Vienna. Austria. Hydrobiologia 342(343):165–174. https://doi.org/10.1023/A: 1017098131238
- Melo TX, Medeiros ESF (2013) Spatial distribution of zooplankton diversity across temporary pools in a semiarid intermittent river. Int J Biodivers 2013(ID946361):1–13. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/946361
- Mitsch WJ, Gosselink JG (2015) Wetlands, 5th edn. Wiley, Hoboken
- Mol JH, Ouboter PE (2004) Downstream effects of erosion from small-scale gold mining on the instream habitat and fish community of a small neotropical rainforest stream. Conserv Biol 18:201–214. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2004.00080.x
- Moreira FWA, Leite MGP, Fujaco MAG, Mendonça FPC, Campos LP, Eskinazi-Sant'Anna EM (2016) Assessing the impacts of mining activities on zooplankton functional diversity. Acta Limnol Bras 28:107. https://doi.org/10. 1590/S2179-975X0816
- Moreno-Mateos D, Meli P, Vara-Rodríguez MI, Aronson J (2015) Ecosystem response to interventions: lessons from restored and created wetland ecosystems. J Appl Ecol 52:1528–1537. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12518
- Moser M, Weisse T (2011) The most acidified Austrian lake in comparison to a neutralized mining lake. Limnologica 41:303–315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.limno.2011.01.002
- National Mining Agency of Brazil (ANM) (2018) Mineral yearbook of Brazil. ANM, Brazil
- Nielsen DL, Smith FJ, Hillman TJ, Shiel RJ (2000) Impact of water regime and fish predation on zooplankton resting egg production and emergence. J Plankton Res 22:433–446. https://doi.org/10.1093/plankt/22.3.433
- Nielsen DL, Podnar K, Watts RJ, Wilson AL (2013) Empirical evidence linking increased hydrologic stability with decreased biotic diversity within wetlands. Hydrobiologia 708:81–96. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-011-0989-5
- Onbé T (1978) Sugar flotation method for sorting and resting eggs of marine cladocerans and copepods from sea-bottom sediment. Bull Jpn Soc Sci Fish 44:1411
- Oksanen J, Blanchet FG, Friendly M, Kindt R, Legendre P, McGlinn D, Minchin PR, O'Hara BR, Simpson GL, Solymos P, Stevens MHH, Szoecs E, Wagner H (2019) Vegan: community ecology package. http://CRAN.Rproject.org/package=vegan

- Palazzo F, Bonecker CC, Nagae MY (2008) Zooplankton dormancy forms in two environments of the upper Parana' River floodplain (Brazil). Acta Limnol Bras 20:55–62
- Palmer MA, Bernhardt ES, Schlesinger WH, Eshleman KN, Foufoula-Georgiou E, Hendryx MS, Lemly AD, Likens GE, Loucks OL, Power ME, White PS, Wilcock PR (2010) Mountaintop mining consequences. Science 80:148–149. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1180543
- Pociecha A, Bielańska-Grajner I, Szarek-Gwiazda E, Wilk-Woźniak E, Kuciel H, Walusiak E (2017) Rotifer diversity in the acidic pyrite mine pit lakes in the Sudety Mountains (Poland). Mine Water Environ 37:518–527. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10230-017-0492-y
- R Development Core Team (2020) R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for statistical computing, Vienna. http://www.R-project.org. Accessed 27 August 2020
- Ramsar Convention on Wetlands (2018) The Ramsar convention on wetlands. http://www.ramsar.org/. Accessed 4 Apr 2019
- Ricci C (2001) Dormancy patterns in rotifers. Hydrobiologia 446:1-11. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1017548418201
- Richter R, Stromberg JC (2005) Soil seed banks of two montane riparian areas: implications for restoration. Biodivers Conserv 14:993–1016. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-004-7844-1
- Rio Grande do Sul (State of Brazil) (2015) Socioeconomic profile of Sinos River basin, Regional Development Council. Planning, Mobility and Regional Development of the Government of the State of Rio Grande do Sul. https:// planejamento.rs.gov.br/upload/arquivos/201812/ 04105221-perfis-regionais-2015-vale-do-rio-dos-sinos. pdf. Accessed 28 Aug 2020
- Rönicke H, Schultze M, Neumann V, Nitsche C, Tittel J (2010) Changes of the plankton community composition during chemical neutralisation of the Bockwitz pit lake. Limnologica 40:191–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.limno.2009. 11.005
- Santangelo JM, Araújo LR, Esteves FDA, Manca M, Bozelli RL (2011) Method for hatching resting eggs from tropical zooplankton: effects of drying or exposing to low temperatures before incubation. Acta Limnol Bras 23:42–47. https://doi.org/10.4322/actalb.2011.017
- Santhosh V, Padmalal D, Baijulal B, Maya KK (2013) Brick and tile clay mining from the paddy lands of Central Kerala (southwest coast of India) and emerging environmental issues. Environ Earth Sci 68:2111–2121. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s12665-012-1896-4
- Settele J, Spangenberg JH, Heong KL, Burkhard B, Busta-Mante JV, Cabbigat J, Van Chien H, Escalada M, Grescho V, Hai LH, Harpke A, Horgan FG, Hotes S, Jahn R, Kühn I, Marquez L, Schädler M, Tekken V, Vetterlein D, Villareal S, Westphal C, Wiemers M (2015) Agricultural landscapes and ecosystem services in South-East Asia: the LEGATO-Project. Basic Appl Ecol 16:661–664
- Shao YQ, Deng DG, Meng MR, Zhang XL, Li F (2014) Effects of colonial Microcystis aeruginosa and interspecific competition on the population dynamics and resting egg formation of two cladocerans. J Freshw Ecol 29:213–223. https://doi.org/10.1080/02705060.2013.873882

- Shiel RJ, Green JD, Tan LW (2001) Microfaunal and restingstage heterogeneity in ephemeral pools, upper River Murray floodplain, Australia. Verh Internat Verein Limnol 27:3738–3741. https://doi.org/10.1080/03680770.1998. 11902530
- Shurin JB (2000) Dispersal limitation, invasion resistance, and the structure of pond zooplankton communities. Ecology 81:3074–3086
- Shurin JB, Cottenie K, Hillebrand H (2009) Spatial autocorrelation and dispersal limitation in freshwater organisms. Oecologia 159:151–159
- Sienkiewicz E, Gąsiorowski M (2016) The evolution of a mining lake-From acidity to natural neutralization. Sci Total Environ 557:343–354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv. 2016.03.088
- Sodré EO, Lopes PM, Figueiredo-Barros MP, Roland F, Esteves FA, Bozelli RL (2015) The effects of mining tailings and flood pulse on zooplankton in an Amazonian floodplain environment (Batata Lake, Pará, Brazil). Bol Mus Para Emílio Goeldi Cienc Nat 10:247–259
- Stenert C, Bacca RC, Ávila AC, Maltchik L, Rocha O (2010) Do hydrologic regimes used in rice fields compromise the viability of resting stages of aquatic invertebrates? Wetlands 30:989–996. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13157-010-0083-1
- Stenert C, Ehlert B, Ávila AC, Sousa FDR, Esquinatti FM, Batzer DP, Maltchik L (2016) Dormant propagule banks of aquatic invertebrates in ponds invaded by exotic pine species in southern Brazil. Mar Freshw Res 68:954–963. https://doi.org/10.1071/MF16067
- Stenert C, Wüsth R, Pires MM, Freiry RF, Nielsen DL, Maltchik L (2017) Composition of cladoceran dormant stages in intermittent ponds with different hydroperiod lengths. Ecol Res 32:921–930. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11284-017-1498-4
- Thomaz SM, Bini LM, Bozelli RL (2007) Floods increase similarity among aquatic habitats in river-floodplain systems. Hydrobiologia 579:1–13
- Tockner K, Klaus I, Baumgartner C, Ward JV (2006) Amphibian diversity and nestedness in a dynamic floodplain river (Tagliamento, NE-Italy). Hydrobiologia 565:121–133
- Vandekerkhove J, Declerck S, Brendonck L, Conde-Porcuna JM, Jeppesen E, De Meester L (2005) Hatching of cladoceran resting eggs: temperature and photoperiod. Freshw Biol 50:96–104. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427. 2004.01312.x
- Vandysh OI (2004) Zooplankton as an indicator of the state of lake ecosystems polluted with mining wastewater in the Kola Peninsula. Russ J Ecol 35:2. https://doi.org/10.1023/ B:RUSE.0000018936.56649.20
- Vargas AL, Santangelo JM, Bozelli RL (2019) Recovery from drought: viability and hatching patterns of hydrated and desiccated zooplankton resting eggs. Int Rev Hydrobiol 104:26–33
- Vendramin D, Klagenberg CS, Provensi MR, Stenert C, Pires MM, Medeiros ESF, Reichard M, Maltchik L (2020) Effects of the presence of annual killifish on the assemblage structure of resting stages of aquatic invertebrates in temporary ponds. Limnetica 39:1–16. https://doi.org/10. 23818/limn.39.01

- Williams DD (2006) The biology of temporary waters. Oxford University Press, North York
- Wetland Science Institute (2003) Wetland Restoration, Enhancement, and Management. United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service and Wetland Science Institute, Washington

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

6 CONSIDERAÇÕES FINAIS

Cabe rememorar, a partir dos resultados discutidos nesta tese, que o uso de hidratações sequenciais em sedimento de áreas úmidas da Planície Costeira do sul do Brasil resultou em variações na composição da comunidade de invertebrados aquáticos emergentes, mesmo com riqueza semelhante entre os eventos de hidratação. A constatação de que algumas espécies não responderam ao primeiro estímulo de hidratação traz nova compreensão sobre a dinâmica ecológica dessa comunidade. O fato de ter observado que algumas espécies adotaram estratégias não sincronizadas de eclosão mostra a relevância desse tipo de abordagem experimental para conhecer a diversidade de espécies a partir do banco de ovos dormentes de áreas úmidas intermitentes. Ainda, ao conhecer a dinâmica adotada pelas espécies em ambientes intermitentes é possível compreender melhor os eventuais cenários e impactos das mudanças climáticas globais.

Ao considerar o padrão de emergência tardia de invertebrados aquáticos a partir do sedimento de áreas úmidas intermitentes do semiárido brasileiro, denota-se que a hidratação pode não ser o principal (ou o único) estímulo de quebra de dormência neste caso. Ainda, a variação temporal (padrão não sincronizado) de emergência acaba por resultar em significativa mudança na composição da comunidade durante o hidroperíodo. Assim, torna-se relevante aumentar o número de estudos que investiguem os fatores que levam a eclosão dos estágios dormentes em regiões áridas e semiáridas (*wetlands in drylands*), diminuindo então as lacunas de conhecimento, sobretudo a nível de população.

Diante da extensão da perda de áreas úmidas ao redor do mundo e de sua relevância ecológica e social, a restauração ecológica por meio da utilização da doação de sedimentos superficiais de áreas naturais pode auxiliar no restabelecimento da comunidade aquática em áreas úmidas impactadas por meio dos estágios dormentes de invertebrados aquáticos. Uma vez constatada que a riqueza taxonômica varia entre áreas úmidas naturais e impactadas, valoriza-se a utilização desse tipo de técnica visando a restauração ecológica das áreas úmidas. Estudos nesse sentido devem ainda considerar a riqueza taxonômica e a diversidade funcional do local de estudo, o tamanho e a qualidade do banco de estágios dormentes (análise *a priori*), o uso integrado de técnicas de restauração ativa, bem como o monitoramento contínuo e prolongado (diversos ciclos) para avaliar a sua recuperação e conciliar a presença humana com a conservação das áreas úmidas. Ainda, o emprego de metodologia *ex situ* para avaliar a emergência de grupos que usam a dormência como

estratégia de sobrevivência à dessecação é fundamental, e tem se destacado por estudos em regiões tropicais e subtropicais, o que complementa as metodologias *in situ*, além de controlar variáveis ambientais e apresentar menor custo de execução.

Para além dos capítulos redigidos e publicados, este trabalho com a comunidade dormente de áreas úmidas intermitentes demandou esforço e comprometimento visando contribuir para o conhecimento sobre a dinâmica dos processos ecológicos em áreas úmidas. Diante da realidade dos impactos antrópicos sobre o meio, o ainda existente ceticismo sobre ciência e a necessidade de disseminação do conhecimento para além do meio acadêmico, é relevante aprofundar as pesquisas e ampliar a colaboração com grupos interdisciplinares afim de dar conta da complexidade do tema.

Para tanto, além da avaliação acerca da eclosão não sincronizada da comunidade dormente de invertebrados aquáticos, considerar particularidades da história de vida de grupos menos estudados pode trazer novas perspectivas ecológicas e complementar as metodologias que hoje ainda necessitam de aprimoramento. Assim, parece que o norteador de cada estudo deva ser, além da pergunta em si, o grupo de invertebrados aquáticos e o contexto ambiental em que estão inseridos. Além disso, mesmo sabendo-se da dificuldade em identificar todos os tipos de estágios dormentes e estimar sua densidade antes da hidratação do sedimento, essa informação é fundamental e agrega robustez à discussão ecológica.

Por fim, o estudo sobre a dinâmica de eclosão de estágios dormentes de invertebrados aquáticos em áreas úmidas subtropicais e do semiárido brasileiro acrescenta importante conhecimento sobre um ecossistema de elevada biodiversidade e que sofre forte pressão antrópica. A aplicação desse conhecimento, sobretudo em iniciativas relacionadas com a ecologia da restauração, pode auxiliar na recuperação de áreas úmidas degradadas. Por último, a autora da tese reconhece que a despeito de todo o esforço teórico e experimental e das muitas questões que foram levantadas e respondidas, fica feliz em saber que novas perguntas surgiram dos resultados obtidos por meio de seu trabalho no contínuo processo de construção do conhecimento científico.

ANEXO

Os registros fotográficos possuem caráter ilustrativo e foram feitos por professores e estudantes do Laboratório de Ecologia e Conservação de Ecossistemas Aquáticos (LECEA) durante as coletas de campo e laboratório. Para tal, as Figuras 1 a 12 fazem parte do acervo do capítulo 1, as figuras 13 a 21 para o capítulo 2, enquanto as figuras 22 a 24 compõem os registros do capítulo 3.

Figura 1: Ponto de amostragem Planície Costeira do Sul do Brasil.	106
Figura 2: Coleta de amostra Planície Costeira do Sul do Brasil	106
Figura 3: Etapa de incubação do sedimento	107
Figura 4: Espécime de Grimaldina freyi (Crustacea: Cladocera). Escala: 1cm = 10	0 μm 107
Figura 5: Espécime de Leydigia striata (Crustacea: Cladocera). Escala: 1cm = 100	μm108
Figura 6: Espécime de <i>Ilyocryptus spinifer</i> (Crustacea: Cladocera). Escala: 1cm =	100 µm 108
Figura 7: Espécime de Streblocerus pygmeus (Crustacea: Cladocera).	109
Figura 8: Espécime de Parvalona parva (Crustacea: Cladocera).	109
Figura 9: Espécime de Oxyurella longicaudis (Crustacea: Cladocera)	110
Figura 10: Espécime de Keratella sp. (Rotifera).	110
Figura 11: Espécime de Brachionus quadridentatus (Rotifera)	111
Figura 12: Espécime de Notommata sp. (Rotifera)	111
Figura 13: Ponto de amostragem no Semiárido Brasileiro	112
Figura 14: Ponto de amostragem no Semiárido Brasileiro	112
Figura 15: Sedimento seco amostrado	113
Figura 16: Etapa de incubação e amostragem dos inverterbados aquáticos emergen	ites113
Figura 17: Espécime de Plationus patulus (Rotifera)	114
Figura 18: Fase naupliar de Anostraca	114
Figura 19: Espécime de Platyhelminthes	115
Figura 20: Espécime de Tartigrada	115
Figura 21: Espécime de Cypricercus sp. (Crustacea: Ostracoda)	116
Figura 22: Ponto de amostragem Planície de inundação Rio dos Sinos	116
Figura 23: Leira de argilominerais.	117
Figura 24: Espécime de Ovalona glabra (Crustacea: Cladocera).	117



Figura 1: Ponto de amostragem Planície Costeira do Sul do Brasil.

Fonte: Laboratório de Ecologia e Conservação de Ecossistemas Aquáticos (LECEA).



Figura 2: Coleta de amostra Planície Costeira do Sul do Brasil.

Fonte: Laboratório de Ecologia e Conservação de Ecossistemas Aquáticos (LECEA).



Figura 3: Etapa de incubação do sedimento.

Fonte: Laboratório de Ecologia e Conservação de Ecossistemas Aquáticos (LECEA).

Figura 4: Espécime de Grimaldina freyi (Crustacea: Cladocera). Escala: 1cm = 100 µm



Fonte: Laboratório de Ecologia e Conservação de Ecossistemas Aquáticos (LECEA).


Figura 5: Espécime de Leydigia striata (Crustacea: Cladocera). Escala: 1cm = 100 µm

Fonte: Laboratório de Ecologia e Conservação de Ecossistemas Aquáticos (LECEA).



Figura 6: Espécime de Ilyocryptus spinifer (Crustacea: Cladocera). Escala: 1cm = 100 µm

Fonte: Laboratório de Ecologia e Conservação de Ecossistemas Aquáticos (LECEA).



Figura 7: Espécime de Streblocerus pygmeus (Crustacea: Cladocera).

Fonte: Laboratório de Ecologia e Conservação de Ecossistemas Aquáticos (LECEA).



Figura 8: Espécime de Parvalona parva (Crustacea: Cladocera).

Fonte: Laboratório de Ecologia e Conservação de Ecossistemas Aquáticos (LECEA).



Figura 9: Espécime de Oxyurella longicaudis (Crustacea: Cladocera).

Fonte: Laboratório de Ecologia e Conservação de Ecossistemas Aquáticos (LECEA).



Figura 10: Espécime de Keratella sp. (Rotifera).

Fonte: Laboratório de Ecologia e Conservação de Ecossistemas Aquáticos (LECEA).



Figura 11: Espécime de Brachionus quadridentatus (Rotifera).

Fonte: Laboratório de Ecologia e Conservação de Ecossistemas Aquáticos (LECEA).



Figura 12: Espécime de Notommata sp. (Rotifera).

Fonte: Laboratório de Ecologia e Conservação de Ecossistemas Aquáticos (LECEA).



Figura 13: Ponto de amostragem no Semiárido Brasileiro.

Fonte: Elvio S. F. Medeiros - Universidade Estadual da Paraíba (UEPB).



Figura 14: Ponto de amostragem no Semiárido Brasileiro.

Fonte: Elvio S. F. Medeiros - Universidade Estadual da Paraíba (UEPB).

Figura 15: Sedimento seco amostrado.



Fonte: Laboratório de Ecologia e Conservação de Ecossistemas Aquáticos (LECEA).

Figura 16: Etapa de incubação e amostragem dos inverterbados aquáticos emergentes.



Fonte: Laboratório de Ecologia e Conservação de Ecossistemas Aquáticos (LECEA).



Figura 17: Espécime de Plationus patulus (Rotifera).

Fonte: Laboratório de Ecologia e Conservação de Ecossistemas Aquáticos (LECEA).



Figura 18: Fase naupliar de Anostraca.

Fonte: Laboratório de Ecologia e Conservação de Ecossistemas Aquáticos (LECEA).

Figura 19: Espécime de Platyhelminthes.



Fonte: Laboratório de Ecologia e Conservação de Ecossistemas Aquáticos (LECEA).



Figura 20: Espécime de Tartigrada.

Fonte: Laboratório de Ecologia e Conservação de Ecossistemas Aquáticos (LECEA).



Figura 21: Espécime de Cypricercus sp. (Crustacea: Ostracoda).

Fonte: Laboratório de Ecologia e Conservação de Ecossistemas Aquáticos (LECEA).



Figura 22: Ponto de amostragem Planície de inundação Rio dos Sinos.

Fonte: Laboratório de Ecologia e Conservação de Ecossistemas Aquáticos (LECEA).



Figura 23: Leira de argilominerais.

Fonte: Laboratório de Ecologia e Conservação de Ecossistemas Aquáticos (LECEA).



Figura 24: Espécime de Ovalona glabra (Crustacea: Cladocera).

Fonte: Laboratório de Ecologia e Conservação de Ecossistemas Aquáticos (LECEA).